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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

HAMPSTEAD HOSPITAL & RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY

Lori A. Weaver

Commissioner 218 EAST ROAD, HAMPSTEAD, NH 03841
603-329-5311 Fax: 603-329-5529 www.dhhs.nh.gov

Justin Looser

Chief Executive Officer

May 9, 2024

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Hampstead Hospital &
Residential Treatment Facility, to enter into a Sole Source amendment to an existing contract,
which was originally competitively bid, with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC# 177160),
Lebanon, NH, to add scope of services for the provision of child and young adult psychiatric
behavioral health services at Hampstead Hospital & Residential Treatment Facility, by increasing
the price limitation by $9,567,373 from $61,544,053 to $71,111,426 with no change to the contract
completion date of June 30, 2026, effective upon Governor and Council approval. 32% General
Funds. 68% Other Funds (Provider Fees).

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on March 23,2022, item #31
and most recently amended with Governor and Council approval on December 21, 2022, item
#19.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Years 2024 and 2025 and
are anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Year 2026, upon the availability and continued
appropriation of funds in the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget line items
within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the Budget Office,
if needed and justified.

See attached fiscal details

EXPLANATION

This request is Sole Source because the Department is amending the scope of services
and adding funding. The Department released a request for proposals in November 2023 for the
provision of behavioral health services at Hampstead Hospital and Residential Treatment Facility
(HHRTF) and received two (2) responses. Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital was selected as the
highest scoring vendor. During resulting contract negotiations, the Department and Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital mutually agreed that amending this existing contract to add
behavioral health services at HHRTF would result in greater efficiencies and overall improved
service outcomes. This approach will allow the Contractor to utilize the successful service model
deployed at both New Hampshire Hospital and Glencliff Home, as well as leverage certain
positions required within the contract across facilities. Additionally, the Department will be able to
more efficiently manage and monitor services within one (1) contract and ensure requirements
are consistent across all three (3) service areas.

18A

The Department of Health and Human Services' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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The purpose of this request is to modify the scope of services and add funding for the
Contractor to provide child and young adult psychiatric behavioral health services at HHRTF. The
Contractor will provide inpatient psychiatric services to children, adolescents, and young adults
admitted on either a voluntary or involuntary basis, as well as Psychiatric Residential Treatment
Facility services for children and adolescents. The Contractor will provide the following positions:
Chief Medical Officer, General Medical Director, Staff Psychiatrists and Psychiatric Advanced
Practice Registered Nurses, Staff Psychiatrist, Advanced Practice Registered Nurses, and
Behavioral Analyst.

The Department will be bringing a separate request forward Governor & Council and to
Joint Fiscal Committee to transfer funds to the appropriate class lines to allow for the
establishment of positions. This action will allow the State to offer employment to the existing staff
providing critical services at HHRTF, which includes, but is not limited to the following positions:

Counselors/Counselor Aides • Registered Nurses/Supervisors

Safety Ambassadors • Social Workers

Pharmacists/Technicians • Administrative Support

Programming • Milieu Supervisors

The Department anticipates serving to approximately 890 individuals annually (870
inpatient and 20 residential admissions) through this amendment.

The Department is the owner and operator and responsible for all functions of HHRTF;
this includes developing the overall strategic mission of HHRTF, ensuring quality services are
provided by the Contractor in compliance with all contractual requirements as well as all federal
and state laws and regulations, and billing for and collecting revenue on services rendered. The
Department's vision is for the HHRTF campus to become a center of excellence for delivering
therapeutic care and supports to young people with highly complex and acute behavioral health
needs. Such a campus sets them on a more stable course in their homes and communities; it
also attracts and trains a robust, capable, and highly skilled workforce.

While HHRTF is a physical facility, it is also an integral part of the multi-faceted continuum
of care for young people in New Hampshire, known as the Children's Behavioral Health System
of Care (SOC). The SOC is both a strategy and a set of services. It is designed to serve many
different emotional, behavioral, and mental health needs of children by expanding the State's
capacity to provide early and effective home and community-based services and reduce reliance
on residential and inpatient treatment unless clinically required. The Department staff will be on-
site at HHRTF to actively work with the Contractor to provide strategic and operational oversight
to ensure high-quality, evidence-based services are delivered and tightly coordinated with family
members and community resources.

The Department will monitor services by reviewing quality assurance and monitoring
plans, and monthly, quarterly and annual reports provided by the Contractor.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request the Department will not have
the clinical staffing required to continue services and operations at HHRTF putting current patients
and other children and young adults who require psychikric inpatient residential behavioral health
services at serious risk.
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Area served: Statewide.

In the event that the Other Funds become no longer available, additional General Funds
will be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

Lori A. Weaver

Commissioner



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

FISCAL DETAILS SHEET

05>95-94-940010-87500000 Health and Social Services, Health and Human Services Department of, HHS: New Hampshire Hospital, New
Hampshire Hospital, Acute Psychiatric Services

State Fiscal

Year
Class/Account Class Title Job Number Current Budget

Increased

fOecreased) Amount
Revised Budget

2022 102-500731 Contracts for Proaram Services 94058000 $5,881,431 SO $5,881,431

2023 102-500731 Contracts for Proaram Services 94058000 $13,075,773 $0 $13,075,773

2024 102-500731 Contracts for Proaram Services 94058000 $13,550,376 so $13,550,376

2025 102-500731 Contracts for Proaram Services 94058000 $13,956,888 so $13,956,888

2026 102-500731 Contracts for Prooram Services 94058000 $14,375,594 so $14,375,594

Sub Total S60.840.062 $0 $60,840,062

05-95-91-910010-67100000 Health and Social Services, Health and Human Services Dept of, HHS: Glencliff, Professional Care

State Fiscal

Year
Class / Account Class Title Job Number Current Budget

Increased

(Decreasedl Amount
Revised Budget

2022 101-500729 Medical Payments to Providers 91000000 $73,193 SO $73,193

2023 101-500729 Medical Pavments to Providers 91000000 $150,778 $0 $150,778

2024 101-500729 Medical Pavments to Providers 91000000 $155,302 $0 $155,302

2025 101-500729 Medical Pavments to Providers 91000000 159.960 SO 159,960

2026 101-500729 Medical Pavments to Providers 91000000 $164,758 SO $164,758

Sub Total $703,991 so $703,991

05-9S-98-980010-26480000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS, HAMPSTEAD HOSPITAL, HAMPSTEAD
HOSPITAL OPERATIONS

State Fiscal

Year
Class / Account Class Title Job Number Current Budget

Increased

fOecreasedl Amount
Revised Budget

2024 102-500731 Contracts for Oor Svc TBD $0 $99,242 $99,242

2025 102-500731 Contracts for Opr Svc TBD $0 S4.795.061 $4,795,061

2026 102-500731 Contracts for Opr Svc TBD $0 $4,673,070 $4,673,070

Sub Total $0 S9.567.373 $9,567,373

lOverall Total I $61.544.053 f $9.567.373 I $71.111.4^
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #2

This Amendment to the Psychiatric and Medical Services contract is by and between the State of New
Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or "Department") and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on March 23, 2022 (Item #31), as amended on December 21. 2022 (Item #19), the Contractor agreed to
perform certain sen/ices based upon the terms and conditions specified in the Contract as amended and
in consideration of certain sums specified; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, the Contract may be amended upon written
agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$71,111,426

2. Modify Exhibit 8, Scope of Services, by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit 8 - Amendment #2,
Scope of Services, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

3. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 3, with no change to Subsections 3.1. through 3.4., to
read: *

3. The Contractor shall provide services under this Agreement based on the Budget below per
applicable Service Area and State Fiscal Year. The Contractor shall be compensated to
provide and deliver the services described in Exhibit 8, Scope of Services, on the basis of this
Budget.

Budget

Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year

Service

Area #1

1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025 .

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$5,396,232 $11,964,356 $12,323,287 $12,692,984 $13,073,773

Sen/ice

Area #2

1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$558,392 $1,262,195 $1,382,391 $1,423,864 $1,466,579

Service

Area #3

G&C Approval
-6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$99,242 $4,795,061 $4,673,070

4. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 5 to read:

5. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed to
NHHFinancialServices@dhhs.nh.gov for Service Area 1 & 2 services, and to
Shaun.E.Qualter@dhhs.nh.aov for Service Area 3.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02

A-S-1.3
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council apprayal.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

5/9/2024

Date

G*-OocuSiB*wd
l/iYi I.
—70«*eoowee»'ci-

Name: Lori a. weaver

Title: "■. .
DHHS Commissioner

5/9/2024

Date

Mary Hitchcock MemoriarHospital
>  OocuSlprwi by:

I  V
rd ]. Merrens, md

Title:
chief Clinical officer

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02

A-S-1.3
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

5/9/2024 OocuSlgnvc by:

74an4suft41M0..

Date Name: Robyn cuarino.

Title:
Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 Page 3 of 3
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment#2

Scope of Services

1. Statement of Work '

1.1. The Contractor.shall provide psychiatric and medical services at New
Hampshire Hospital (NHH), the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital
(NHFH), Glencliff Home, and Hampstead Hospital and Residential Treatment
Facility (HHRTF). The Contractor shall provide services in the following service
areas: ~

1.1.1. Service Area #1 - Psychiatric care for adults admitted to New
Hampshire Hospital (NHH), New Hampshire Forensic Hospital
(NHFH), and Glencliff Home.

1.1.2. Service Area #2 - Non-emergent medical care for adults admitted to
New Hampshire Hospital and New Hampshire Forensic Hospital.

1.1.3. Service Area #3 - Psychiatric and non-emergent medical care for
children, adolescents, and young adults ages five (5) to twenty-five
(25) years old, as well as Psychiatric Residential Treatment Facility
(PRTF) services for children and adolescents up to age 21 admitted to
HHRTF.

1.2. . For the purposes of this agreement, all references to days shall mean calendar
days, unless otherwise specified.

1.3. For the purposes of this agreement, all references to business hours shall
mean Monday through Friday from 8 AM to 4 PM, excluding state and federal
holidays.

1.4. All Services Areas - General Requirements

1.4.1. The Contractor shall deliver psychiatric and medical services to NHH,
the planned NIHFH, Glencliff Home.and/or HHRTF by:

1.4.1.1. Providing highly qualified personnel as described in the
following sections;

1.4.1.2. Working with the New Hampshire Department of Health and
Human Services ("Department") to continue developing and
refining an integrated mental health care system by applying
principles of managed care for clinical treatment;, and

1.4.1.3. Assisting with educational and training programs, at the
direction of the respective Service Areas' Chief Executive
Officers (the "CEO").

1.4.2. The Contractor shall recruit and retain qualified individuals Jor the
staffing needs specified herein .("Contractor Personnel"), and as
otherwise necessary to fulfill the requirements described herein. The
Contractor shall ensure: _ds

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials^

B-1.0 Page 1 of 54 ' Dale
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

1.4.2.1. All Contractor Personnel provided
. consultants of the Contractor.

are employees or

1.4.3.

1.4.4.

1.4.5.

1.4.2.2. No Contractor Personnel are employees of the State of New
Hampshire.

The Contractor agrees that one (1) full-time equivalent (PTE) is equal
to one (1) full-time employee who works forty (40) hours per week.

The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel meet and adhere
to;

1.4.4.1. The codes of ethical conduct applicable to their license

,  category;

1.4.4.2. Behavioral policies of the Department;

1.4.4.3. Department information security and privacy policies and use
agreements which have been provided to Contractor; and,

1.4.4.4. All other human resource-related expectations of the
Department, NHH, NHFH, Glencliff Home and/or HHRTF, as
well as New Hampshire Department of Information
Technology (DolT) security policies.

The Contractor shall provide staff as indicated in Table 1 below as the
Contractor Personnel, which outlines the FTE allocation limits for the

minimum required staffing positions.

Table 1

Position Title
Minimum FTE/Staffing Ratio
Limits

NHH

a. Chief Medical Officer 1 FTE

b. Associate Medical Director 1 FTE

c. Staff Psychiatrists Ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric
APRNs shall be 8:1. Deviations

from this ratio shall require the
approval of the CEO.

Psychiatric APRN - 1 FTE; ratio of
Psychiatric APRNs to Psychiatrists
cannot exceed 4:1

d. Psychiatric Advanced Practice
Registered Nurses (APRN)

RFP-2022.NHH-03-PSYCH-bl-A02

B-1.0

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Page 2 of 54

Contractor Initials

Date
5/9/2024
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

8. Chief Psychologist 1.FTE

f. Psychologist 1 FTE

g. Forensic Psychologist 1 FTE

Ratio of patients to Forensic
Psychologist not to exceed 24:1

h. Administrative Staff 0.5 FTE

NHFH

a.. Forensic Psychiatrists 2 FTE

b. Forensic Psychologist 2 FTE

Ratio of patients- to Forensic
Psychologists not to exceed 12:1

c. Forensic Behavioral Analyst 1 FTE

Glencliff Home

a. Medical Director 0:4 FTE

HHRTF

a. Chief Medical Officer 1 FTE,

b. General Medical Director .4 FTE

c. Administrative Staff 0.5 FTE

d. Staff psychiatrists Ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric
APRNs shall be 8:1. Deviations

from this ratio shall require the
approval of the CEO.

Psychiatric APRN -1.0 FTE; ratio of
Psychiatric APRNs to Staff
Psychiatrists cannot exceed 4:1

e. Psychiatric Advanced Practice
Registered Nurses (APRN)

f. Advanced Practice . Registered
Nurses (APRN)

1 FTE

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02

B-1.0

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Page 3 of 54

.  Contractor Initials

Date
5/9/2024
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

2. Service Area #1 - Psychiatric Care

2.1. New Hampshire Hospital

2.1.1. Chief Medical Officer

2.1.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE psychiatrist to serve
as the Chief Medical Officer.

2.1.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is-

physically present at NHH and NHFH for a minimum of iforty
(40) hours per week and oversees all providers at NHH and
NHFH referenced herein."

2.1.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is

responsible for the same duties and requirements outlined in
this Section 2.2.1. for NHFH upon commencement of patient
services at NHFH, including overseeing clinical staff at NHFH
provided by the Contractor. The Contractor shall ensure the
Chief Medical Officer;

2.1.1.3.1. Is a board certified psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in the State of New Hampshire
and has clinical privileges at NHH and NHFH.

2.1.1.3.2. Is a senior administrative. psychiatrist with a
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a
position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector . program: psychiatric hospital;
governmental authority; or stale or national
medical/psychiatric society or organization
involved in the delivery of public sector psychiatric
services.

2.1.1.3.3. Has completed an Accreditation Council for
Graduate Medical Education (AGGME) approved
residency program with board certification in
psychiatry by the American Board of Psychiatry
and Neurology. (Additional subspecialty
certification in forensic, geriatric or
child/adolescent psychiatry may be substituted for
two (2) years of administrative leadership.
Completion of a graduate curriculum in medical
administration is preferred).

2.1.1.4. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer

participates, as needed, with Staff Psychiatrists in on-call and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week^to ensure on-
call psychiatrist services are available 24 hours per day, 7

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

B-1.0 Page 4 of 54 Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

days pervyeek. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor Personnel
providing call coverage services to NHH and NHFH.

2.T.1.5. In the event the Chief Medical Officer resigns, or is otherwise
i  removed from providing services to the Department, the

Contractor shall:

2.1.1.5.1. Furnish a psychiatrist within ten (10) business
days, not Including holidays, to serve full-time as
interim Chief Medical Officer, until such lime as
the existing Chief Medical Officer either resumes
full-time duty or is replaced by a new Chief
Medical Officer.

2.1.1.5.2. Unless the CEO agrees to waive any requirement
in writing, ensure the interim Chief Medical Officer
meets all requirements for the Chief Medical
Officer, as set forth herein.

2.1.1.5.3. Provide transition services to NHH and NHFH, at
no additional cost to the Department, to avoid any
interruption of services and administrative
responsibilities.

2.1.1.6. Subject to (1) the statutory authority of the Department's
Commissioner or designee, and (2) the authority of the CEO
with respect to administrative/clinical matters, the Contractor
shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer:

2.1.1.6.1. Develops and submits NHH and NHFH provider
staffing needs, including a schedule of psychiatric
and related clinical personnel, for Department
approval prior to the commencement of each
contract year, or as otherwise requested bythe
Department:

2.1.1.6.2. Coordinates with the CEO on all clinical activities

,  in order to accomplish the day-to-day clinical
operations of NHH in a manner consistent with
RSA Chapter 135-C and the rules adopted
pursuant thereto, all Department policies, and all
standards of The Joint Commission (TJC) and
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

(CMS);

2.1.1.6.3. Participates in the formulation, implementation,
and supervision of all clinical programs for the

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH^1-A02

8-1.0

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Page 5 of 54

Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

diagnosis, assessment, treatment, care, and
management of NHH and NHFH patients:

2.1.1.6.4. Supervises all documentation requirements for all
Staff Psychiatrists and other clinical personnel
employed by the Contractor and providing
services at NHH and , NHFH under this
Agreement;

2.1.1 !6.5. Ensures adequate coverage on weekends and
holidays to maintain compliance with
documentation requirements to justify medical
necessity of stay, including, but not limited to, the
need for daily progress notes on patients covered
by Medicaid, Medicare or commercial Insurance.
(Should clinical care responsibilities impede a
provider's ability to complete daily progress notes
on weekerids or holidays, the next progress note
will be written within 72 hours);

2.1.1.6.6. Performs annual performance evaluations and
discipline, as necessary, for all Staff Psychiatrists
and other Contractor Personnel providing
services at NHH and NHFH, including consulting
with and seeking Input from the CEO as to the
Department's satisfaction with the services
provided by the individual under review;

2.1.1.6.7. Performs an annual administrative review of all

Contractor Personnel providing services at NHH
and NHFH to ensure compliance with Department
policy, including but not limited to: training; record
keeping; matters of medical records; CPR and
CMP training and/or retraining; TJC
requirements; customer service responsibilities;
HIPAA'compliance; and attendance at mandated
In-service training.

2.1.1.6.8. Ensures compliance with the requirements in
Part 2.2.1.6.7, and takes whatever disciplinary
action necessary in instances of non-compliance
with ■ Department policy, or Medical Staff
Organization bylaws;

2.1.1.6.9. Complies with all applicable performance
standards in this Agreement pertaining to Staff
Psychiatrists; DS

-gJ/W
RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor initials

B-1.0 Page 6 of 54 Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

2.1.1.6.10. Provides consultation to the Department relative
to the development of the State of New
Hampshire's mental health service system;

2.1.1.6.11. Supports Department's customer service culture
by adhering to and ensuring that Staff
Psychiatrists under their direction, adhere to the
established Customer Service Guidelines for

Physicians;

2.1.1.6.12. Reports any issues known to them to the CEO
regarding all admissions, patient care or any other
situations that may pose a significant risk to
patients or the community or that may result in
adverse publicity or in any way undermine public
confidence in the clinical care provided by NHH
and NHFH;

2.1.1.6.13. Participates as a member of NHH's Executive
Team;

2.1.1.6.14. Participates in the recruitment of other clinical
Department personnel, upon the request of the
CEO;

2.1.1.6.15. Establishes, subject to approval from the CEO, an,
employment schedule for all clinical personnel
employed by the Contractor to provide services at
NHHand,NHFH;

/  2.1.1.6.16; Assists the NHH Executive Team with enhancing
clinical practices and care across the
organization; and

2.1.1.6.17. Provides clinical coverage for other clinical staff,
as necessary, due to absences or vacated
positions.

2.1.1.7. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer

oversees clinical staff in Service Area # 1 and Service Area #

2.

2.1.2. Associate Medical Director

2.1.2.1. The Contractor'shall provide 1.0 PTE Associate Medical
Director, which may consist of multiple individuals who fulfill
the 1.0 FTE requirement, as approved by the CEO.

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02

B-1.0

Mary Hitchcock MetDodal Hospital

Page 7 of 54

Contractor initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

2.1.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure an Associate Medical Director is

physically present at NHH and NHFH for no less than forty
(40) hours per week.

2.1.2.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

performs the duties and requirements outlined in this Section
2.2.2.3 for NHFH upon commencement of patient services at
NHFH. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical

Director:

2.1.2.3.1. Is a Board Certified Psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in New Hampshire.

2.1.2.3.2. At all times, maintains both a license to practice
medicine in the State of New Hampshire and
"clinical privileges at NHH and NHFH.

2.1.2.3.3. Is a senior administrative psychiatrist having a
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a
position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector program, psychiatric • hospital,
governmental authority, or state or national
medical/psychiatric society or organization
involved in the delivery of public sector psychiatric
services. (Additional subspecialty certification in
forensic, addiction, geriatric or child/adolescent
psychiatry may be substituted for two (2) years of
administrative leadership. Completion of a
graduate curriculum in medical administration is
preferred.

2.1.2.3.4. Completes an ACGME-approved residency
program with board certification in Psychiatry by
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology.

2.1.2.4. The Contractor shalf ensure the Associate Medical Director

possesses or develops the skills necessary to serve in the
capacity of .the Chief .Medical Officer, on a temporary or
permanent basis, in the event that the Chief Medical Officer
position is vacated.

2.1.2.5. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

participates as needed with Staff Psychiatrists in on-call and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure
Psychiatrist-On-Call services are provided 24 hours per day,
.7 days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor
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Personnel providing call coverage services to NHH and
NHFH.

2.1.2.6. In-the event the Associate Medical Director resigns, or is
otherwise removed from providing services to the
Department, the Contractor shall:

2.1.2.8.1. Furnish, a psychiatrist or other qualified provider,
as determined by the CEO,;, within ten (10)
. business days, not including holidays, to serve full-
lime as interim Associate Medical Director, until
the existing Associate Medical Director either
resumes-duty full-time or is replaced by. a new
Associate Medical Director.

2.1.2.6.2. Ensure the interim Associate Medical Director
meets all of the requirements for the Associate
Medical Director as set forth herein.

2.1.2.6.3. Provide transition services to Department, at no
additional cost, to avoid ■ any interruption of
services and administrative responsibilities.-

2.1.2.7. Subject to (1) the statutory authority of the Department's
Commissioner or designee, and (2) the authority of the CEO.
with respect to administrative and/or clinical matters, the
Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director:

2.1.2.7.1. Coordinates all clinical activities with the Chief

Medical Officer and the CEO in order to

accomplish the day-to-day clinical operation of
NHH in a manner consistent with NH Revised

Statutes Annotated (RSA) 135-C and the rules
'  adopted, pursuant thereto, all NHH policies, and

all standards of The Joint Commission (TJC) and
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

•  (CMS):

2.1.2.7.2. Establishes staffing needs, including but not
limited, to psychiatric and related clinical

^  personnel, on a periodic basis, with the Chief
Medical Officer and CEO;

2.1.2.7.3. Serves in the capacity of the Chief Medical Officer
in the event of the Chief Medical Officer's

absence;

2.1.2:7.4. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer in the
formulation, implementation, and supervision of

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 - Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor initials
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all clinical programs for the diagnosis,
assessment, treatment, care, and management of
patients:

2.1.2.7.5. Supervises all documentation requirements of all
Staff Psychiatrists and other Contractor
Personnel providing services at NHH and NHFH;

2.1.2.7.6. Participates I with the Chief Medical Officer to
conduct annual performance evaluations and
disciplinary actions, as necessary, for all Staff
Psychiatrists and other Contractor Personnel
providing services at NHH and NHFH, including
assisting the Chief Medical Officer;

2.1.2.7.7. Works with the Chief Medical.Officer to perform
an annual adrtiinistrative review of all Contractor

Personnel to ensure compliance with Department
policies, including but not limited to: training;
record keeping; matters of medical records; CPR
and CMP. training and/or retraining; TJC
requirements; customer service responsibilities;
information security, privacy, and HIPAA
compliance; and attendance at mandated in-
service training;

, j '

2.1.2.7.8. Complies with all applicable performance
standards pertaining to Staff Psychiatrists;

2.1.2.7.9. Provides consultation to the Department relative
to the development of the State of New
Hampshire's mental health service system;

2.1.2.7.10. Promotes a customer service culture by adhering
to and ensuring that Staff Psychiatrists adhere to
the established customer service guidelines for
physicians;

2.1.2.7.11. Reports any known issues to the Chief Medical
Officer and CEO regarding admissions, patient
care or any other situation that may pose a
significant risk to patients or the community or that
may result in adverse publicity or in any way
undermine public confidence in the clinical care
provided by the Departriient;

2.1.2.7.12. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer and the
CEO in the development of clinical budgets;

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
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2.1.2.7.13. Participates in the recruitment of other clinical
personnel, upon the request of the CEO;

2.1.2.7.14. Assists in establishing, subject to approval by the
Chief Medical Officer and CEO, an employment
schedule for all Contractor Personnel provided
under this Agreement;

2.1.2.7.15. Assists the Chief Medical Officer and the CEO

'  with the clinical supervision and education of all
other clinical staff; and

2.1.2.7.16. Provides clinical coverage for other clinical staff
as necessary due to absences or vacated
positions.

2.1.3. Staff Psychiatrists and Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered
Nurses (APRN)

2.1.3.1. The Contractor shall ensure-the ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric APRNs is not less than 8:1,
unless otherwise approved by the CEO for a specific period
of time.

2.1.3.2. The Contractor shall ensure the ratio of Psychiatric APRNs to
Staff Psychiatrists does not exceed 4:1.

2.1.4. Staff Psychiatrists

2.1.4.1. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists are physically
present at NHH and NHFH a minimum of forty (40) hours per
week. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists:

2.1.4.1.1. Have appropriate experience in the specialty in
which they are board certified or eligible for
certification.

2.1.4.1.2. Have completed an ACGME-approved residency
program in psychiatry.

2.1.4.1.3. Formulate and implement treatment plans and
clinical services. In cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care and nrianagement of patients;

2.1.4.1.4. Maintain and direct clinically appropriate
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert with
the multidisciplinary staff consistent with the
Department norms;
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2.1.4.1.5. Determine the appropriateness of admissions,
transfers and discharges consistent with RSA.
.135-C:

2.1.4.1.6. Provide, in coordination with the Chief Medical
Officer, the Associate Medical Director, and other
staff physicians, on-call after-hours coverage and
serve as on-site, after-hours coverage, on a 24-
hour a day, 7-day a week, year round basis when
necessary as determined by the CEO, Chief
Medical Officer, and/or Associate Medical
Director. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-call pool of
Contractor Personnel providing call coverage
services to NHH and NHFH;

2.1.4.1.7. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees, assigned
committees and task forces;

2.1.4.1.8. Complete medical and/or psychiatric consultation
on patients from facilities other than NHH,
consistent with current Department policy;

2.1.4.1.9. Complete, in a timely manner, all necessary
documentation, as required by TJC and CMS
standards;

2.1.4.1.10. Complete Occurrence Reports in compliance with
Department policy; .

2.1.4.1.11. Complete all medical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documentation of
clinical care regarding medical necessity,
including daily progress notes to document and
support medical necessity, within timeframes as
specified by the NHH's Record" Documentation
policy and procedure and other relevant policies
and procedures.

2.1.4.1.12. Adhere to all Department policies, including, but.
not limited to policies on Medical Records
Documentation and Progress Notes;

2.1.4.1.13. Ensure that documentation is consistent with
normative data collected by the Compliance
Officer and Utilization Review Manager;
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2.1.4.1.14. Provide other services as required, which are
consistent with the mission of the Department;

2.1.4.1.15. Appear and testify in all court and administrative
hearings, as required by the Department;

2.1.4.1.16. Develop and maintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital to the functioning the Department's system of
care, including for the purpose of transition
planning by adhering to Department standards;
and

2.1.4.1.17. Participate in the utilization review processes,
including appeals and other processes, as
required by ttie Chief Medical Officer, Associate
Medical Director, and/or the CEO.

2.1.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of one (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is dedicated to provide services to the NHH
inpatient stabilization unit (ISU).

2.1.4.3. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist certified in forensics is dedicated to provide
services to the NHH forensic unit, which does not exceed a
24:1 patient-to-provider ratio.

.  . 2.1.4.4. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is certified in addiction; be a physician who is
certified in general psychiatry; and has significant clinical
experience in addiction medicine. (A fellowship training and/or
board certification in addiction medicine or addiction

psychiatry is highly preferred.)

2.1.4.5. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of (1) PTE Staff
, Psychiatrist is a Geropsychiatrist who has:

2.1.4.5.1. Completed an ACGME-approved residency
program in psychiatry, and is board certified by
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology
in Psychiatry; and

2.1.4.5.2. Completed a one-year geropsychiatry fellowship
and is specialty certified by the American Board
of Psychiatry and Neurology in geriatric
psychiatry. (Two (2) years of additional clinical
experience in geriatric psychiatry may be
substituted the one-year fellowship.)
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2.1.4.6. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists provide
services on a full-time basis as defined in Paragraph 1.4.3
above and limit their practice to treating NHH patients only,
except for night and weekend staff, who may be working part-

•  time or per diem.

2.1.4.7. Notwithstanding the above, the Department and Contractor
agree that (i) Staff Psychiatrists may perform occasional
outside practice duties, with the advance written approval of
the CEO and Chief Medical Officer, but only If said duties do
not, in the sole judgment of the CEO, interfere with.the
psychiatrists' duties at the Department; and (ii) Contractor
Personnel may be permitted, subject to prior notice and the
approval of both the Chief Medical Officer and CEO, to
perform educational or research activities so long as those
activities further the mission and goals of the Department.
Staff Psychiatrists and Contractor Personnel approved for
such activities shall provide monthly documentation and
summary progress reports to the Chief Medical Officer and
the CEO that specifies time spent devoted to educational or
research activities.

2.1.4.8. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists participate in
on-call, after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to
ensure on-call psychiatrist services are provided 24 hours per
day, 7 days perweek. Forthis reason, the Contractor provides
reports summarizing full-time equivalent staffing for each
invoicing period. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor Personnel
providing call coverage services to NHH and NHFH.

2.1.4.9. The Contractor agrees Staff Psychiatrists may also be
required to participate in on-call, after-hours coverage as
needed for NHFH upon commencement of patient services at
.NHFH.

2.1.5. Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurses (APRN)

2.1.5.1. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs possess an
APRN degree and have board certification as Psychiatric-
Mental Health Nurse Practitioner-Board.

2.1.5.2. The Contractor shall .ensure Psychiatric APRNs provide
clinical services in extended care and admissions areas with

patients with severe mental illness and medical co-morbidities
in accordance with the scope of practice described in RSA
326-8:11. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs:

&
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:> 2.1.5.2.1. Perform advanced assessments.

2.1.5.2.2. Diagnose, prescribe, administer and develop
treatment regimens.

2.1.5.2.3. Provide consultation as appropriate.

2.1.5.2.4. Independently prescribe, dispense, and distribute
psychopharmacologic drugs within the formulary
and act as treatment team leaders in accordance

with State New Hampshire law and medical staff
by-laws.

2.1.5.2.5. Provide documentation in accordance with

Department policy and the allowable scope of
practice for APRNs.

2.1.6. Chief Psychoiogist

2.1.6.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE Chief Psychologist
at NHH who is a clinical psychologist (PhD or Psy.D.). The
Contractor shall ensure the Chief Psychologist:

2.1.6.1.1. Administers and analyzes psychological test
batteries and clinical assessment interviews with

acute psychiatric in-patients in a timely fashion,
including: cognitive assessment; personality and
psychiatric diagnoses; and treatment and;
discharge planning.

2.1.6.1.2. Provides expert clinical -consultation to
psychiatrists, neurologists, treatment team,
guardians, and aftercare agencies, as well as at
judicial hearings.

2.1.6.1.3." Works closely with psychiatric providers and other
team members, as needed, to promote high
quality patient care.

.2.1.6.1.4. Determines and provides psychological treatment
including but not limited to: crisis intervention;
individual, behavioral and group therapy;
cognitive training to acute psychiatric in-patients
with severe impairment; and family counseling
when indicated.

2.1.6.1.5. Consults with nursing and other staff about
management of difficult patients.
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2.1.6.1.6. Participates in and suggests Psychology quality
assurance audits and clinical prpgram evaluation
efforts.

2.1.6.1.7. Collaborates with slate-employed Psychologists,
and their respective leadership, to develop
consistent, evidence-based clinical practices
throughout the organization.

2.1.7. Psychologist -

2.1.7.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE Psychologist at
NHH. The Contractor shall ensure the Psychologist who is a
clinical psychologist (PhD or Psy.D.). The Contractor shall
ensure the Psychologist:

2.1.7.1.1. Administers and analyzes psychological test
batteries and clinical assessment interviews,
Including, but not limited to: cognitive
assessments, personality and psychiatric
diagnoses, and treatment and discharge
planning. .

2.1.7.1.2. Determines and provides psychological
treatment.

2.1.7.1.3. Completes progress notes and other
documentation.

2.1.8. Forensic Psychologist

2.1.8.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one (1) PTE
Forensic Psychologist at NHH to assist with serving patients
deemed not guilty by reasons of insanity, incompetent to
stand trial, or other civilly committed patients whom require
inpatienl psychiatric treatment. The Contractor shall ensure
the Forensic Psychologist;

2.1.8.1.1. Is a clinical psychologist (PhD, Psy.D., or EdD
with forensic experience);

2.1.8.1.2. Has significant clinical experience in forensic
psychology; and

2.1.8.1.3. Has a certification in forensic psychology
(preferred).

2.1.8.2. The Contractor shall ensure the patient-to-provider ratio for
the Forensic Psychologist does not exceed 24:1 at NHH.

2.1.9. Administrative Staff
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2.1.9.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum'of one half (.50) PTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support at NHH
to clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure^ the
Administrative Staff:

2.T9.1.1. Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondence, inquiries, and projects.

2.1.9.1.2. Organize systems of distribution and review of
these items to ensure efficient communication.

2.1.9.1.3. . Answer administrative questions on behalf of the
Department in a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiatry
Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

2.1.9.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

2.1.9.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

2.1.9.1.6. Develop and maintain a filing system for all files
related to the contract between the Department
and the Contractor.

2.1.9.17. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature.

2.1.9.1.8. Serve as resource person who is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of the

.  Contractor within NHH and NHFH.

2.1.9.1.9. Monitor budget accounts, attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract with
NHH.

2.1.9.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage at NHH and NHFH in coordination with
the Associate Medical Directors

2.1.9.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure proper
contract billing.

2.1.9.1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.
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2.1.9.1.13. Support medical provider teams with
i  communication, data extraction and other
!  administrative tasks.

2.1.9.1.14. Support QI/QA/Key Performance Indicator
'  monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the
'  Associate Medical Director.

.  1

2.1.9.1.15. Support all contracted providers with
administrative tasks required by the Contractor,
including but not limited to expense tracking, time
attestations, and compliance monitoring."

2.1.9.1.16. Perform other duties as required or assigned.

2.2. New Hampshire Forensic Hospital

2.2.1. Forensic Psychiatrists

2.2.1.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of two, (2) PTE
Forensic psychiatrists to provide services at NHFH upon
completion of the NHFH. The Contractor, shall ensure-all
Forensic Psychiatrists:

2.2.1.1.1. 1 Have appropriate experience in the specialty in
which they are boarded or board eligible; and

2.2.1.1.2. Have completed an ACGME-approved residency
program in psychiatry.

2.2.1.1.3. 1 Formulate and implement treatment plans and
clinical services, in cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care and management of patients;

2.2.1.1.4. Maintain and direct a clinically appropriate
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert with
the multidisciplinary staff consistent with
Department norms;

2.2.1.1.5. ' Determine the appropriateness of admissions,
transfers and discharges, consistent with RSA
135-^C;

2.2.1.1.6. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees at NHH and/or

NHFH, assigned committees and task forces;

2.2.1.1.7. Complete medical and/or psychiatric consultation
on patients from facilities other than NHFH,
•consistent with Department policy;
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2.2.1.1.8.; Complete all necessary documentation, as
- 1 required, by tjC and CMS standards:

2.2.1.1.9. Complete Occurrence Reports in compliance with
Department policy;

2.2.1.1.10. Complete all medical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documentation of
clinical care regarding medical necessity,
including daily progress notes to document and
support medical necessity, within timeframes as
specified by the Department's Medical Record
Documentation policy and procedure and other
relevant policies and procedures.

2.2.1.1.11. Ensure documentation is consistent with

normative data collected by the Compliance
Officer and Utilization Review Manager;

2.2.1.1.12.- Provide other services as required, which are
!  consistent with the mission of NHH and NHFH,
j  and the intent of this Agreement;

2.2.1.1.131 Appear and testify in all court and administrative
I  hearings as required by the Department;
1  •

2.2.1.1.14|. Develop and maintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital to the functioning of the Department's system
of care, including for the purpose of transition
planning. In accomplishing this requirement, the
Contractor shall ensure psychiatrists adhere to
Department standards;

2.2.1.1.15 Participate in utilization review processes,
including appeals and other processes, as
required by the Chief Medical Officer, Associate
Medical Director, and/or CEO; and

2.2.1.1.16]. Participate in on-call afterhours coverage and
j  serve as on-site, after-hours coverage, on a 24-
■  hour a day, 7-day a week, year round basis when
'  necessary as determined by the CEO, Chief
j Medical Officer, and/or Associate Medical
j Director. For the avoidance of doubt, .the parties
I  agree that there will be one on-call pool of
Contractor Personnel providing call coverage
services to NHH and NHFH.
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2.2.T.2. The Contractor agrees Forensic Psychiatrists may also be
required to participate in on-call, after-hours coverage for
NHH, as needed.

2.2.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure all Forensic Psychiatrists provide
services on a full-time basis as defined in Paragraph 1.4.3,
above and limit their practice to treating Department patients
only. j

2.2.1.4. Notwithstanding the above, the Contractor agrees Forensic
Psychiatrists may perform occasional outside practice duties,
with the advance written approval of the CEO and Chief
Medical Officer, but only if said duties do hot, in the sole
judgment of the CEO, interfere with the psychiatrists' duties at
the Depaijtment.

2.2.1.5. The Contr;actor shall ensure Forensic Psychiatrists participate
in on-call,| after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to
ensure oh-call psychiatrist services are provided 24 hours per
day, 7 days per week. For this reason, the Contractor shall
prpvide reports summarizing full-time equivalent staffing'for
each invoicing period.

2.2.2, Forensic Psychologists

2.2.2.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of two (2) FTE
Forensic Psychologists at NHH to assist with serving patients
deemed riot guilty by reasons of insanity, incompetent to
stand trial, or other ciyilly cornmitted patients who require
inpatient psychiatric treatment. The Contractor shall ensure

. Forensic Psychologists:

2.2.2.1.1. Are clinical psychologists (PhD or Psy.D.);

2.2.2.1.2. 1 Have significant clinical experience in forensic
psychology: and

2.2.2.1.3. Have certification in forensic psychology
I  (preferred). .

2.2.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure one (1) Forensic Psychologist
provides services beginning in State Fiscal Year 2022 that
include, bdt are not limited to: y

i  ̂
2.2.2.2.1. 1 Assisting with the design and operational

planning for NHFH;

2.2.2.2.2. Developing workflows and policies for NHFH;

2.2.2.2.3. Assisting in ensuring regulatory readiness for
NHFH;
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2.2.2.2.4.! Supporting TJC accreditation process for NHFH;
1  ; and
2.2.2.2.5.! Serving patients deemed not guilty by reasons of

I  insanity, incompetent to stand trial, or other civilly
I  committed patients ̂  whorri require inpatient
j  psychiatric treatment, upon comrnencement of
j  services at NHFH.

2.2.2.3. The Contractor shall ensure the (2) Forensic Psychologists
provide full-time clinical services to patients of NHFH upon the
opening of the facility.

2.2.2.4. The ContVactor shall ensure the palient-to-provider ratio for
the Forensic Psychologists does not exceed 12:1 at NHFH.

2 2.3. Behavioral Analyst

2,2.3.1. The Contr;actor shall provide a minimum of one (1) FTE Board
Certified Behavioral Analyst who provides services to the
DepartmeW upon completion of NHFH. The Contractor shall
ensure the Behavioral Analyst:

i
2.2.3.1.1. Coordinates and provides services in applied

behavioral analysis, function analyses and
assessment, behavior acquisition and reduction
procedures, and adaptive life skills;

2.2.3.1.2. j Provides ongoing support to clinical staff as it
.  relates to the implementation and documentation

associated with behavior plans;

Assists in the development and implementation of
assessment tools, conducts functional

assessments and analyses when appropriate,
and develops appropriate behavior strategies to
teach appropriate behavior and reduce
maladaptive behaviors;

Provides ongoing support and training to direct
care professionals, clinical staff and other
individuals, including, but not limited to, patients'
guardians, as needed;

2.3. Glencliff Home

2.3.1. Medical Director

2.3.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) part-tirhe
Geropsychialrist to serve as the Medical Director for two (2)

2.2.3.1.3.

2.2.3.1.4.
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days per week (sixteen (16) hours per week) at Glencliff
Home. The Contractor shall ensure the Medical Director:

2.3.1.1.1. Coordinates all medical care and direct

psychiatric services, treatment and associated
follow-up to all residents of Glencliff Home;

2.3.1.1.2. Completes and appropriately documents care for
all individuals requiring care, as identified by
Glencliff Home clinical and nursing staff;

2.3.1.1.3. Provides administrative functions, including but
not limited to policy review and establishment that
reflect current standards of practice; oversight of
physicians; attendance at mandatory committee
meetings, including but not limited to quality
assurance and performance improvement
(QAPI), infection control, and admissions;
regularly review the use of psychotropic
medications for compliance with the Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) regulations;
and the provision of other assistance in meeting
standards for annual State inspections and
Federal regulations;

2.3.1.1.4. Prepares for, travels as necessary, and delivers
expert testimony in probate court, as needed, on
matters that may include, but are not limited- to,
guardianship cases, electroconvulsive therapy,
and do not resuscitate orders;

2.3.1.1.5. Provides written patient evaluations on each
patient as frequently as required by the
Department but in no case less than once per
calendar year; and

2.3.1.1.6. Serves as liaison with other organizations,
including, but not limited to NHH, when a Glencliff
Home resident is receiving services at another
healthcare institution.

2.3.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure routine or emergency telephone
consultation is provided by the Medical Director or an equally
qualified physician at no additional cost, twenty-four (24)
hours per day, seven (7) days per week, fifty-two (52) weeks
per year, to Glencliff Home.

2.4. Additional Requirements for NHH and NHFH only - Service Area #1 •
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2.4.1. The Contractor shall ensure inter-disciplinary case reviews are
completed on 100% of patients who are clinically stable for greater
than fifteen (15) days and still admitted to NHH and NHFH.

2.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure that staffing is maintained at a level that
ensures no impact on the number of NHH and NHFH beds available
and that NHH and NHFH units do not stop admissions due to the lack
of coverage for staff provided by the Contractor.

2.4.3. The Contractor shall ensure that on-call after-hours coverage is
provided by no less than one (1) full-time Psychiatrist.. Additional
personnel who provide coverage may be either a Psychiatrist or a
Psychiatric APRN.

2.4.4. The Contractor shall ensure on-call after-hours coverage is assigned
in one-week increments In rotation among the full-time NHH and
NHFH psychiatric staff.

2.4.5. The Contractor shall ensure the on-site after-hours coverage on
weekdays, weekends and holidays is provided by a Psychiatrist or
Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN). The
Contractor shall ensure staff are certified or eligible for certification by
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology, or, is in training in
an accredited psychiatry residency program with at least three years
of training experience, or is credentialed as a Psychiatric APRN
through the American Nurse Credentialing Center or equivalent
credentialing body.

2.4.6. The Contractor shall maintain a pool of Psychiatrists or Psychiatric
APRNs, or a combination thereof, who are credentialed with NHH and
NHFH for the after-hours work, and the after-hours staff are assigned
to in-house after-hours coverage by the Chief Medical Officer or
Associate Medical Officer with a six (6) month rolling calendar. The
Contractor shall ensure the pool is of sufficierit size and appropriate
qualifications to ensure the ability to meet the staffing level
requirements and performance standards specified herein.

2.4.7. At the request of the CEO, staff provided by the Contractor shall
provide tele-psychiatry or offsite consultation. The Contractor shall
ensure staff who conduct tele-psychiatry have professional
malpractice insurance in effect, in an amount satisfactory to the
Department, and meet all credentialing and provider enrollment
guidelines pertinent to providing tele-health services.

2.5. Performance Standards and Outcomes for NHH and NHFH only - Service
Area #1

2.5.1. The Contractor's performance standards and outcomes shall be
monitored to ensure:
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2.5.1.1. Within forty-five (45) days of the assignment of the Chief
Medical Officer, and annually thereafter, the Contractor and
CEO, in consultation with the Chief Medical Officer, shall
develop a list of performance metrics, which shall be updated
on an annual basis at a minimum, based^ upon the
deliverables, functions and responsibilities of the Chief
Medical Officer, subject to approval by the CEO, which shall
be reviewed for approval on a quarterly basis.

2.5.1.2. Services provided by the Chief Medical Officer are
satisfactory to the Department: The Contractor shall, no less
than annually and more frequently if required by the
Department, provide an evaluation tool to solicit input from the
CEO regarding the Chief Medical Officer's provision of
services.

2.5.1.3. A corrective action plan is developed to address any material
concerns, as defined by the CEO, in the evaluation tool, and
provide a copy of the plan to the CEO for review and approval.

2.5.1.4. The Contractor shall maintain staffing levels at all times to
mitigate any impact on the number of beds available and
interrupted admissions due to the lack of staffing coverage.

2.6. Key Performance Indicators for NHH and NHFH only-Service Area #1

2.6.1. The Contractor shall ensure providers at NHH and NHFH comply with
the following Key Performance Indicators:

2.6.1.1. Psychiatric Progress Notes

2.6.1.1.1. Completed daily on patients who are certified as
acute inpatient level of care.

2.6.1.1.2. Completed within 24 hours of seeing a patient.

2.6.1.1.3: Completed not less than five. (5) times per week
or unless otherwise specified tiy the CEO, their
designee or the Department, on patients who are
no longer acute level of care.

2.6.1.1.4. Content as it pertains to:

2.6.1.1.4.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and NHFH; and

2.6.1.1.4.2. NHH and NHFH facility's policies'
and procedures.

2.6.1.2. Patient Length of Stay
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2.6.1.2.1. ' Evaluation through data collection and case
review of active treatment during patient stay.

2.6.1.3. CMS Certification Guidelines.

2.6.1.3.1. Certifications and/or re-certification conducted in
accordance to required CMS and NHH and NHFH
timeframes.

2.6.1.3.2. Assigned'certification status is clearly supported
in psychiatric progress notes.

2.6.1.4. Standardized Process

2.6.1.4.1. Compliance with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.,

2.6.1.4.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
target outcomes of the standardized work.

2.6.1.5. Treatment Plans

2.6.1.5.1. Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

2.6.1.5.2., Performance measured by periodic audits which
are provided to the Chief Medical Officer and
CEO;

i

2.6.1.5.3. Content as it pertains to:

2.6.1.5.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'
policies; and

2.6.1.5.3.2. NHH and NHFH policies and
procedures.

2.6.1.6. Annual Reviews

2.6.1.6.1. The Chief Medical Officer or designee must
conduct and document annual reviews on all

.  Contractor Personnel providing services under
this Agreement. The Contractor shall ensure
performance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS
and TJC guidelines.

2.7. Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan for NHH and NHFH only - Service
Area #1

-OS
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2.7.1. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a minimum:

2.7.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to operate NHH and NHFH beds
at full utilization;

2.7.1.2. Ensuring Contractor's staff receive necessary supervision and
training to perform the assigned tasks;

2.7.1.3. Ensuring patients" receive care consistent with evidence-
based care; and

2.7.1.4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practices to
protect the safety of patients, staff, and visitors.

2.7.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer monitors

progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and Contractor on a
quarterly basis.

2.7.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer meets with the

CEO and Contractor at minimum on a quarterly basis to review
progress toward Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals, as well
as Key Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 2.7. above.

2.7.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the Chief Medical
Officer toward these Quality Assurance and Mohitoring goals.

,  2.7.5. The Contractor shall review and revise the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan, in' consultation with the CEO on an annual basis, or
as othen/vise requested by the Department.

3. Service Area #2 Non-Emergent Medical Services

3.1. New Hampshire Hospital and New Hampshire Hospital Forensic Hospital

3.1.1. General Medical Director

3.1.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE physician to serve
as the General Medical Director at NHH and at NHFH upon
commencement of patient services at NHFH.

3.1.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director is

physically present at NHH and/or NHFH a minimum of forty
(40) hours per week and oversees all clinical staff in Service
Area #2 referenced herein. The Contractor shall ensure the

General Medical Director:

3.1.1.2.1. Is a primary care or internal medicine physician
who has completed residency with at least three
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(3) years of experience in supervising primary
care clinlciansr(A board certification in a primary
care field is preferred.)

3.1.1.2.2. Provides consultation for infection prevention and
infection control practices and protocols;

3.1.1.2.3. Assumes a leadership role in maintaining and
improving medical standards of care for patients;

3.1.1.2.4. Partners with state-employed medical providers
to provide evidence-based medical care to
patients of NHH and NHFH; and

3.1.1.2.5. Educates ,staff in the appropriate application' of
evidence based practices and protocols for
medical care..

3.1.2. General Internist/Hospitalist

3.1.2.1. The ' Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE General
Internist/Hospitalist. The Contractor shall ensure the General
Internist/Hospitalist;

3.1.2.1.1. Is a primary care or internal medicine physician
who has completed residency with at least three
(3) years of experience. (A board certification in a
primary care field is preferred.)

3.1.2.1.2. Provides general medical care to patients at NHH
and NHFH.

3.1.2.1.3. Consults with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbidities for patients at NHH and
NHFH.

3.1.2.1.4. Coordinates care with local community hospitals
to ensure patients receive, hospital-level medical
care, if needed, outside of NHH and NHFH.

3.1.2.1.5. Assists and participates in various hospital-wide
initiatives, including, but not limited to, vaccination
clinics, medical testing events, and other
functions that may result from a pandemic, or
other public health related event.

3.1.3. Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN)

.  3.1.3.1. The Contractor shall provide two (2) FTE APRNs to complete
primary, acute, and specialty healthcare services. The
Contractor shall ensure the APRNs: t—
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3.1.3.1.1. Complete a board certificatipn competency-based
examination, with credentials that remain valid for
five (5) years, and completes specific continuing
education requirements to renew specialty
certifications as needed.

3.1.3.1.2. Treat patients with diagnosed disorders along
with medical comorbidities that require attention
during their admission.

3.1.3.1.3. Consult with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbidities for patients at NHH and
NHFH.

3.1.3.1.4. Coordinate care with local community hospitals,
to ensure patients receive hospital-level medical
care, if needed, outside of NHH and NHFH.

3.1.3.1.5. Assist and participate in various hospital-wide
initiatives, such as vaccination clinics, medical

testing events, and other functions that may result
from a pandemic, or other public health related
event.

3.1.4. Administrative Staff

3.1.4.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one half (.50) FTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support at NHH
to clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure the

Administrative Staff:

3.1.4.1.1. Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondence, inquiries, and projects.

3.1.4.1.2. Organize systems of distribution and review of
these items to ensure efficient communication.

3.1.4.1.3. Answer administrative questions on behalf of the
Department in a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiatry
Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

3.1.4.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

3.1.4.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

3.1.4.1.6. Develop and maintain a filing system for all files
related to the contract between the State and the

Contractor.
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3.1.4.1.7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature.

3.1.4.1.8. Serve as resource person who is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of
Contractor within NHH and NHFH.

3.1.4.1.9. Monitor budget accounts, attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract with

,  the Department.

3.1.4.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage at NHH and/or NHFH in coordination
with the Associate Medical Directors

3.1.4.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure proper
contract billing.

.  3.1.4.1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

3.1.4.1.13. Support medical provider teams with
communication, data extraction and other

administrative tasks.

3.1.4.1.14. Support QI/QA/Key Performance Indicator
monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the
Associate Medical Director.

3.1.4.1.15. Support all contracted providers with
administrative tasks required by the Contractor,
including but not limited to expense tracking, time
attestations, and compliance monitoring.

3.1.4.1.16. Perform other duties as required or assigned.

3.2. Additional Requirements-Service Area #2

3.2.1. For all non-urgent medical consult requests, Contractor Personnel
shall review and issue either an approval or an alternative treatment
recommendation within the next business day (non-holiday or
weekend) of a non-urgent consult request being made.

3.2.2. The Contractor shall act upon all urgent and/or emergent medical
consult requests within one (1) hour of a consult request being made.

3.2.3. The Contractor shall complete a history and physical (H&P) for all
patients within 24 hours of admission, and every 30 days thereafter.
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for patients with a length of stay (LOS) greater than 30 days at NHH
.  and'NMFH.

3.2.4. The Contractor shall ensure provider staff provide on-call, after-hours
coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure on-call physician services
are available 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. For the avoidance of
doubt, the parties agree that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor
Personnel providing call coverage services to NHH and NHFH.

3.3. Performance Standards and Outcomes - Service Area #2

3.3.1. The Contractor shall maintain staffing levels at all times to mitigate any
impact on the number of beds available and interrupted admissions
due to the lack of staffing coverage.

3.4. Key Performance Indicators ■ Service Area #2

3.4.1. The Contractor shall ensure providers comply with the following Key
Performance Indicators:

3.4.1.1. Progress Notes ^

3.4.1.1.1. Completed within 24 hours of seeing a patient.

3.4.1.1.2. Content as it pertains to:

3.4.1.1.2.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'

"  policies: and

3.4.1.1.2.2. NHH. and NHFH policies and
procedures.

3.4.1.2. Standardized Process

3.4.1.2.1. Compliance with' all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

3.4.1.2.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
target outcomes of the standardized work.

3.4.1.3'. Treatment Plans

3.4.1.3.1. Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

3.4.1.3.2. Performance measured by random monthly
audits which are provided to the Utilization
Management Committee.

3.4.1.3.3. Content as it pertains to:

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A02 Mary Hilchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials -

B-1.0 Page30of54 Date

•OS

€JA1.



DocuSign Envelope ID: C0909883-B99C-497C-9FB8-F6DEB102F59E

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B - Amendment #2

3.4.1.3.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and their associates'

policies: and

3.4.1.3.3.2. Department policies and
procedures.

3.4.1.4. Annual Reviews

3.4.1.4.1. Annual reviews are documented on all Contractor

Personnel performing services under this
Agreement. The Contractor shall ensure
performance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS
and TJC guidelines.

3.4.2. Upon request by the Department, the Contractor shall identify
additional performance metrics, develop performance goals, establish
monitoring processes and engage in collaborative performance
evaluation processes for Service Area #2.

Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan • Service Area #2

3.5.1. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring. Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a minimum:

3.5.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to operate NHH and NHFH beds
at full utilization;

3.5.1.2. Ensuring the Contractor's staff receive necessary supervision
and training to perform the assigned tasks;

3.5.1.3. Ensuring that patients receive care consistent with evidence-
based care; and

3.5.

3.5.1.4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practices to
protect the safety of patients, staff, and visitors.

3.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director monitors

■progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and a representative
of the Contractor on a quarterly basis.

3.5.3. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director meets with
the CEO and Contractor on a quarterly basis to review progress toward
Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals, as well as Key
Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 3.4. above.
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3.5.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the General Medical
Director toward these Quality Assurance and Monitoring goals.

3.5.5. In consultant with the CEO, the Contractor shall review and revise the
Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan on an annual basis, or as
othenwise requested by the Department.

4. Service Area #3 - Hampstead Hospital and Residential Treatment Facility

4.1. Readiness period - Governor and Council Approval of Amendment #2 -
June 30, 2024

4.1.1. The Contractor shall, in collaboration with the current Contractor,
develop a plan to transition for the below Section 4.2 Required
Positions in a manner that ensures continuity of operations and .
patient care and minimizes disruptions to staff and patients within an
agreed upon period with the Department.

4.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure staff are hired and able to provide the
required services under this Agreement at HHRTF by July 1, 2024.

4.2. Required positions:

4.2.1. Chief Medical Officer

4.2.1.1. The Contractor shall provide at minimum one (1) PTE
psychiatrist to serve as the Chief Medical Officer.

4.2.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is

physically present at HHRTF for a minimum of forty (40) hours
per week and oversees all providers at HHRTF referenced
herein.

4.2.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is

responsible for the same duties and requirenhenls outlined in
this Section for HHRTF upon the Contractor's
commencement of patient services at HHRTF, including
overseeing clinical staff at HHRTF provided by the Contractor.
The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer:

4.2.1.3.1. Is a board-certified psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in the State of New Hampshire
and has clinical privileges at HHRTF.

4.2.1.3.2. Is a senior administrative psychiatrist with a
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a
position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector program: psychiatric hospital;
governmental authority; or state or national
medical/psychiatric society or organization
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Involved in the delivery of public sector psychiatric
services.

4.2.1.3.3. Has completed an Accreditation Council for
Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) approved
residency program with board certification in
psychiatry by the American Board of Psychiatry
and . Neurology. (Additional subspecialty
certification in forensic, geriatric or
child/adolescent psychiatry may be substituted for
two (2) years of administrative leadership..
Completion of a graduate curriculum in medical
administration is preferred).

4.2.1.4. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer

participates, as needed, with Staff Psychiatrists in on-call and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure on-
call psychiatrist services are available 24 hours per day, 7
days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor Personnel
providing call coverage services to HHRTF.

4.2.1.5. In the event the Chief Medical Officer resigns, or is otherwise
removed frorri providing services to the Department, the
Contractor shall:

4.2.1.5.1. Unless the CEO agrees to waive any requirement
in writing, ensure the interim Chief Medical Officer
meets all requirements for the Chief Medical
Officer, as set forth herein.

4.2.1.6. Subject to the direction of the CEO, the Contractor shall
ensure the Chief Medical Officer:

4.2.1.6.1. Develops and submits HHRTF provider staffing
needs, including a schedule of psychiatric and
related clinical personnel, for Department
approval prior to the commencement of each
contract year, or as otherwise requested by the
Department.

4.2.1.6.2. Advises with the CEO on all clinical activities in

order to accomplish the day-to-day clinical
operations of HHRTF in a manner consistent with
RSA .Chapter 135-C and the rules adopted
pursuant thereto, all Department policies, and all
standards of The Joint Commission . (TJC) and
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Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

(CMS).

4.2.1.6.3. Participates in the formulation, implementation,
and supervision of all clinical programs for the
diagnosis, assessment, treatment, care, and
management of HHRTF patients.

4.2.1.6.4. Supervises all documentation requirements for
and the performance of services of all Staff
Psychiatrists and other clinical personnel
employed by the Contractor and providing
services at HHRTF under this Agreement.

4.2.1.6;5. Ensures adequate coverage on weekends and
holidays to maintain compliance with
documentation requirements set forth in this
contract and in accordance with all accreditation

and legal requirements to justify medical
necessity of stay, including, but not limited to, the
need for daily progress notes on patients covered
by Medicaid, Medicare or commercial insurance.

4.2.1.6.6. Performs annual performance evaluations and
discipline, as necessary, for all Staff Psychiatrists
and other Contractor Personnel providing
services at HHRTF, including consulting with and
seeking input from the CEO as to the
Department's satisfaction with the services
provided bythe individual under review.

4.2.1.6.7. Performs an annual administrative review of all
Contractor Personnel providing services at
HHRTF - to ensure compliance with this
Agreement, iricluding but not limited to: training:
record keeping;'matters of medical records; CPR
and' CMP training and/or retraining; TJC
requirements; customer service responsibilities;
HIPAA compliance; and attendance at mandated
in-service training.

4.2.1.6.8. Ensures compliance with the requirements in
Part 4.1.1.6.7, and takes whatever disciplinary
action necessary in instances of non-compliance
with Department policy or Medical Staff
Organization bylaws.

\
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4.2.1.6.9. Complies with all applicable performance
standards in this Agreement pertaining to Staff
Psychiatrists.

4.2.1.6.10. Provides consultation to the Department relative
to the development of the State of New
Hampshire's mental health service system.

4.2.1.6.11. Ensuring the Staff Psychiatrists under their
direction support the Department's customer
service culture.

4.2.1.6.12. Reports any issues to the CEO regarding
admissions, patient care or any other situations
that may pose a significant risk to patients or the
community, or that may result in adverse
publicity or in any way undermine public
confidence in the clinical care provided by
HHRTF.

4.2.1.6.13. Participates as a member of HHRTF's
Executive Team.

4;2.1.6.14. Participates in the recruitment of other clinical
Department personnel, upon the request of the
CEO.

4.2.1.6.15. Establishes, subject to approval from the CEO,
an employment schedule, a clinical
rotation/schedule for providers, for all clinical
personnel employed by the Contractor to
provide services at HHRTF.

4.2.1.6.16. Assists the HHRTF Executive Team ,with
enhancing clinical practices and care across the
organization: and

4.2.1.6.17. Coordinate with clinical staff to ensure full
coverage of psychiatric services as necessary
due to absences or vacated positions.

4.2.2. General Medical Director:

4.2.2.1. The Contractor shall provide a physician to serve as the
General Medical Director at HHRTF upon the Contractor's
commencement of patient services at HHRTF.

4.2.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director
provides coverage and oversees the general medical staff.
The general medical staff is defined as the providers who
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provide care for individuals needing non-Psychiatric care. The
Contractor shall ensure the General Medical Director:

4.2.2.2.1. Is a primary care, family medicine physician or
pediatrician who has completed residency with at
least three (3) years of experience in supervising
primary care clinicians. (A board certification in a
primary care field is preferred.)

4.2.2.2.2. Provides consultation for infection prevention and
infection control practices and protocols.

4.2.2.2.3. Responsible for maintaining and improving
medical standards of care for patients; and'

4.2.2.2.4. Educates staff or ensures an appropriate training
program is implemented for staff to apply
appropriate evidence-based practices and
protocols for medical care. ^

4.2.3. Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN)

4.2.3.1. The.Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE APRNs to complete
primary, acute, and specialty healthcare services. The
Contractor shall ensure the APRNs:

'  4.2.3.1.1. Complete a board certification competency-based
examination, with credentials that remain valid for

five (5) years and completes specific continuing
education requirements to renew specialty
certifications as needed.

4.2.3.1.2. Treat patients with diagnosed disorders along
with medical comorbidities that require attention
during their admission.

4.2.3.1.3. Consult with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbidities for patients at HHRTF.

4.2.3.1.4. Coordinate care,with local-community hospitals,
to ensure patients receive hospital-level medical
care, if needed, outside of HHRTF.

4.2.3.1.5. Assist and participate in various hospital-wide
initiatives, such as vaccination clinics, medical
testing events, and other functions that may result
frorn a pandemic, or other public health related
event.

4.2.4. Staff Psychiatrists and Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered
Nurses (APRN)
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4.2.4.1. The Contractor shall ensure the ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric APRNs is not less than 8:1,
unless otherwise approved by the CEO for a specific period
of time. .

4.2.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure the ratio of Psychiatric APRNs to
Staff Psychiatrists does not exceed 4:1.

4.2.5. Staff Psychiatrists

4.2.5.1. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists are available
onsite at HHRTF:

4.2.5.1.1. Have appropriate, experience in the specialty in
which they are board certified or eligible for
certification.

4.2.5.1.2. Have completed an ACGME-approved residency
program in psychiatry.

4.2.5.1.3. Formulate and implement treatment plans and
clinical services, in cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care and management of patients.

4.2.5.1.4. Maintain and direct a clinically appropriate
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert with
the multidisciplinary staff consistent with the
Department norms.

4.2.5.1.5. Determine the appropriateness of admissions,
transfers, and discharges consistent with RSA
135-C.

4.2.5.1.6. Provide, in coordination with the Chief. Medical
Officer, and other staff physicians, on-call after-
hours coverage and serve as on-site, after-hours
coverage, on a 24-hour .a day, 7-day a week,
year-round'basis when necessary, as determined
by the CEO, Chief Medical Officer, and/or
Associate Medical Director. For the avoidance of

doubt, the parties agree that there will be one on-
call pool of Contractor Personnel providing call
coverage services to HHRTF.

4.2.5.1.7. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees, assigned
committees and task forces.

G
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4.2.5.1.8. Complete medical and/or psychiatric consultation
on patients from facilities other than HHRTF,
consistent with current Department policy, as
requested by the Department.

4.2.5.1.9. Complete all necessary documentation," as
required by and in accordance with this
agreement and TJC and CMS standards.

4.2.5.1.10. Complete Incident Reports in compliance with
Department policy.

4.2.5.1.11. Complete all medical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documentation of
clinical care regarding medical necessity,
including daily progress notes to document and
support medical necessity, within timeframes as
specified by HHRTF policy and procedure and
other relevant policies and procedures.

4.2.5.1.12. Adhere to all Department policies, including, but
not limited to policies on Medical Records
Documentation and Progress Notes.

4.2.5.1.13. Ensure that documentation is consistent with

normative data collected by the Compliance
Officer and Utilization Review Manager.

4.2.5.1.14. Provide other services as required, which are
consistent with the mission of the Department.

4.2.5.1.15. Appear and testify in all HHRTF involved court
and administrative hearings as necessary and as
required by the Department.

4.2.5.1.16. Develop and maintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital to the functioning the Department's system of
care, including for the purpose of transition
planning by adhering to Department standards;

(  and

4.2.5.1.17. Participate in the utilization review processes,
including appeals and other processes, as
required by the Chief Medical Officer, and/or the
CEO.

4.2.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of one (1) FTE Staff
Psychiatrist is dedicated to providing services to HHRTF.
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4.2.5.3. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists provide
services on a full-time basis as defined in Paragraph 1.4.3
above and limit their practice to treating HHRTF patients only,
except for night and weekend staff, who may be working part-
time or per diem.

4.2.5.4. Notwithstanding the above, the Department and Contractor
agree that (i) Staff Psychiatrists may perform occasional
outside practice duties, with the advance written approval of
the CEO and Chief Medical Officer, but only if said duties do
not, in the sole judgment of the CEO, interfere with the
psychiatrists' duties at the Department; and (ii) Contractor
Personnel may be permitted, subject to prior notice and the
approval of both the Chief Medical Officer and CEO, to
perform educational or research activities so long as those
activities further the mission and goals of the Department.
Staff Psychiatrists and Contractor Personnel approved for
such activities shall provide monthly documentation and
summary progress reports to the Chief Medical Officer and
the CEO that specifies time spent devoted to educational or
research activities.

4.2.5.5. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists participate in
on-call, after-hours coverage to ensure, on-call psychiatrist
services are provided 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. For
this reason, the Contractor provides reports summarizing full-
time equivalent staffing for each invoicing period. For the
avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that there will be one
on-call pool of Contractor Personnel providing call coverage
services to HHRTF.

4.2.6: Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurses (APRN)

4.2.6.1. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs possess an
APRN degree and have board certification as Psychiatric-
Mental Health Nurse Practitioner-Board.

4.2.6.2. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs provide
clinical services in'extended care and admissions areas with
patients with-^severe mental illness and medical co-morbidities
in accordance with the scope of practice described in RSA
326-8:11. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs:

4.2.6.2.1. Perform advanced assessments.

4.2.6.2.2. Diagnose, prescribe, administer and develop
treatment regimens.

4.2.6.2.3. Provide consultation as appropriate.
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4.2.6.2.4. Independently prescribe, dispense, and distribute
psychopharmacologic drugs within the formulary
and act as treatment team leaders in accordance

with State New Hampshire law and medical staff
by-laws.

4.2.6.2.5. Document patient care and treatment in each
patient record in accordance with HHRTF policy,
TJC Accreditation, and CMS regulatory
standards.

4.2.7. Administrative Staff

4.2.7.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one half (.50) FTE
Administrative Staff to. provide administrative support at
HHRTF to clinical staff. The Contractor shall ensure the

Administrative Staff:

4.2.7.1.1. Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondence, inquiries, and projects;

4.2.7.1.2. Organize systems of distribution and review of
these iterris to ensure efficient communication.

4.2.7.1.3. Answer administrative questions on behalf of the
Department In a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiatry
Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

4.2.7.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

4.2.7.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

.  4.2.7.1.6. Develop and maintain a filing system for all files
related to the contract between the Department
and the Contractor.

4.2.7.1.7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature.

4.2.7.1.8. Serve as resource person who is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of the
Contractor within HHRTF.

4.2.7.1.9. Monitor budget accounts, attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract with
HHRTF. ■ ,
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4.2.7.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage at HHRTF in coordination with the Chief
Medical Officer.

4.2.7.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure proper
contract billing.

4.2.7.1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

4.2.7.1.13. Support medical provider teams with
comniunication, data extraction and other

administrative tasks.

4.2.7.1.14. Support QI/QA/Key Performance Indicator
monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the
Chief Medical Officer.

4.2.7.1.15. Support all contracted providers with
administrative tasks required by the Contractor,
including but not limited to expense tracking, time
attestations, and compliance monitoring.

4.2.7.1.16. Perform other duties as required or assigned.

4.3. Additional Requirements - Service Area #3

4.3.1. The Department and Contractor agree to continually evaluate other
service models to improve access, quality, and affordability. Upon
mutual-agreement of a new model, the parties shall seek to enter into
an amended or new contract on mutually agreeable terms subject to
the approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

4.3.2. The Contractor shall ensure inter-disciplinary case reviews are
completed on 100% of patients who are clinically stable for greater
than fifteen (15) days, and ongoing every 15 days, and still admitted to
HHRTF. '

4.3.3. The Contractor shall ensure that staffing is provided in accordance
with the agreed upon staffing plan and at a level that ensures no impact
to safely, the number of HHRTF beds available and that HHRTF units
do not stop admissions due to the lack of coverage for staff provided
by the Contractor.

4.3.4.. The Contractor shall ensure for after hours on-call psychiatric
coverage, at least 40 hours of the after hours on call time each week
must be covered by a psychiatrist, and the remainder of the after hours

'  on call time can be a combination of psychiatrist and psychiatric
APRN.
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4.3.5. The Contractor shall ensure all HHRTF psychiatric staff provide on-call
after-hours coverage in one-week increments in rotation.

4.3.6. The .Contractor shall,ensure the on-site after-hours coverage at
HHRTF on weekdays, weekends and holidays is provided by a
Psychiatrist or Psychiatric APRN. The Contractor shall ensure staff are
certified or eligible for certification by the American Board of Psychiatry
and Neurology, or is in training in an accredited psychiatry residency
program with at least three years of training experience, or is
credentialed as a Psychiatric APRN through the American Nurse
Credentialing Center or equivalent credentialing body..

4.3.7. The Contractor shall maintain a pool of Psychiatrists or Psychiatric
APRlsis, or-a combinatiori thereof, who are credentialed with HHRTF
for the after-hours work, and the after-hours staff are assigned to in-
house after-hours coverage by the Chief Medical Officer or General
Medical Officer. The Contractor shall ensure the pool is of sufficient
size and appropriate qualifications to ensure the ability to meet the
staffing level requirements and performance standards specified
herein.

4.3.8.^' The Contractor shall complete a history and physical (H&P) for all
patients within 24 hours of admission, and every 30 days thereafter,
for patients with a length of stay (LOS) greater than 30 days at HHRTF.

4.3.9. The Contractor shall ensure provider staff provide on-call, after-hours
coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure on-call physician services
are available 24 hours per day, 7 days per week..

4.3.10. The Contractor shall utilize.practices and deliver services in alignment
with the requirements in NH RSA 135-F by:

4.3.10.1. Utilizing the Child and Adolescent Needs and Strengths
(CANS) assessment tool.

4.3.10.2. Supporting the Core Values of the NH Children's System of
Care, as outlined Table 1:

Core Values of the NH Children's System of Care

Family Driven and
Youth Driven

Youth and Family driven, with the strengths and needs of the
child and family determining the types and mix of services and
supports provided. Family arid Youth is the core of the work.
Youth and Families take a leadership role at the individual
service delivery level as well as policy, planning and system
levels.
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Community
Based

Services are provided at the community level with the youth
and family in their home and community. Services provided
also include, system management, resting within a supportive,
adaptive, infrastructure of structures, processes, and
relationships at the community level.

Culturally and
LInguisticaliy
Competent

Culturally and linguistically competent, with agencies,
programs, and services that reflect the cultural, racial, ethnic,
and linguistic differences of the populations they serve to
facilitate access to and utilization of appropriate services and
supports.

Trauma Informed

Treatment and support services are delivered in a manner that
is trauma-Informed using the 6 core principles of a trauma-
informed approach: 1) Safety; 2) Trustworthiness and
Transparency; 3) Peer Support; 4) Collaboration and
Mutuality; 5) Empowerment, Voice and Choice; and 6)
Cultural, Historical, and Gender Issues.

4.4. Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan - Service Area #3:

4.4.1.. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a minimum:

4.4.1.1. Ensuring adequate'staffing to operate HHRTF beds at full
utilization:

4.4.1.2. Ensuring Contractor's staff receive necessary supervision
and training to perform the assigned tasks;

4.4.1.3. Ensuring patients receive care consistent with evidence-
based care; and

4.4.1.4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practices
to protect the safety of patients, staff, and visitors.

4.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer monitors

progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and Contractor on a
quarterly basis. • '

4.4.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer meets with the

HHRTF leadership and Contractor at minimum on a quarterly basis to
review progress toward-Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals,
as well as Performance Measures specified in Section 4.5 below.
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4.4.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the Chief Medical
Officer by ensuring Performance Measures specified in Section 4.5
are met.

4.4.5. The Contractor shall review and revise the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan, in consultation with the CEO on an annual basis, or
as otherwise requested by the Department.

4.5. Performance Measures - Service Area #3:

'4.5.1. The" Contractor and the Department must collaborate on all
performance measures including but not limited to: census of both the
inpatient units and PRTF, quality of services, patient experience, and
Agreement cost.

4.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure providers at HHRTF comply with the
following Key Performance Indicators:

4.5.2.1. Psychiatric Progress Notes

4.5.2.1.1. Completed daily on patients who are certified as
acute .inpatient level of care.

4.5.2.1.2. Completed within 24 hours of seeing a patient.

4.5.2.1.3. Completed riot less than five (5) times per week
or unless otherwise specified by the CEO, their
designee or the Department, on patients who are
no longer acute level of care.

4.5.2.1.4. Content as it pertains to:

4.5.2.1.4.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for HHRTF; and

4.5.2.1.4.2. HHRTF facility's policies and
procedures.

4.5.2.2. Patient Length of Stay

4.5.2.2.1. Evaluation through data collection and case
review of active treatment during patient stay.

4.5.2.3. CMS Certification Guidelines

4.5.2.3.1. Certifications and/or re-certification conducted in
.  accordance to required CMS and HHRTF

timeframes.

4.5.2.3.2. Assigned certification status is clearly supported
in psychiatric progress notes.

4.5.2.4. Standardized Process
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4.5.2.4.1. Compliance with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

4.5.2.4.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
target outcomes of the standardized work.

4.5.2.5. Treatment Plans

4.5.2.5.1. Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

1

4.5.2.5.2. Performance measured by periodic audits which
are provided to the Chief. Medical Officer and
CEO.

4.5.2.5.3. Content as it pertains to:

4.5.2.5.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations .
for HHRTF and their associates'

policies: and

4.5.2.5.3.2. HHRTF policies and procedures.

4.5.2.6. Annual Reviews

4.5.2.6.1. The Chief Medical Officer or designee must
conduct and docujjient annual reviews on all
Contractor Personnel providing services under
this Agreement. The Contractor shall ensure
performance evaluations are in compliance with .
professional standards for evaluations per CMS
and TJC guidelines.

4.5.3. The Contractor shall ensure, providers comply with the following Key
Performance Indicators:.

4.5.3.1. Progress Notes

4.5.3.1.1. Completed within 24 hours of seeing a patient.

4.5.3.1.2. Content as it pertains to:

4.5.3.1.2.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for HHRTF and their associates'

policies; and

4.5.3.1.2.2. HHRTF policies and procedures.

4.5.3.2. Standardized Process

4.5.3.2.1. Compliance with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of ^—ds
reducing variation in care.
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4.5.3.2.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
target outcomes of the standardized work.

4.5.3.3. Treatment Plans

4.5.3.3.1. . Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

4.5.3.3.2. ■ Performance measured by random monthly
audits which are provided to the Utilization
Management Committee. .

K

4.5.3.3.3. Content as it pertains to:

4.5.3.3.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for .HHRTF and their associates'

policies: and

4.5.3.3.3.2. Department policies and
procedures.

4.5.3.4. Annual Reviews

r  4.5.3.4.1. Annual reviews are documented on all Contractor

Personnel performing services under this
Agreement. The Contractor 'shall ensure
performance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS

5. Additional Requirements - All Service Areas

5.1. Subject to Section 5.3, the Contractor shall ensure all assignments for all
staffing positions are covered on a.daily basis, and, if providing staff to NHH,
NHFH, and HHRTF are responsible for reporting out on staffing assignments
during daily safety huddles at NHH, NHFH, and HHRTF.

5.2. The Contractor shall ensure all staffing positions provided are continuously
filled, or in active recruitment. The Contractor shall provide the appropriate
Department designee with monthly updates oh the recruitment process for all
unfilled positions.

5.3. The Contractor shall be,solely responsible for providing, at no additional cost
to the Department, qualified, sufficient staff coverage to fill any gap in coverage
during any anticipated leave time, including sick leave, vacation, or continuing

'  medical education leave lasting more than five (5) consecutive days unless
otherwise agreed upon on a case-by-case basis by the CEO, and for providing
appropriate transition between staff covering for those on leave. Qualified
sufficient staff coverage means personnel who meet ^or exceed the
qualifications of the vacating staff member.
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5.4. The Contractor shall track and report staffing levels by PTE units on a monthly
basis to the Department. The Contractor shall not be required to provide hourly
limecards for clinical staff. The Contractor shall provide hourly timecards for
non-clinical staff that summarize hours worked for each invoicing period.

5.5. The Contractor shall ensure the care needs of patients are fully addressed by
modifying the number of hours per week worked by PTE and/or Part-Time PTE
staff, as requested by the Department. The Contractor shall ensure Part-Time
PTE staff work the appropriate number of hours in accordance with PTE
allocation.

5.6. In the event of a healthcare system emergency, as determined by the
Department, including but not limited to a local epidemic, pandemic,' facility
closures, or mass-quarantine in which additional staffing or resources are
required due to a surge of individuals requiring services, the Contractor may
also be required to adjust the total number of staff, both full-time and part-time,
to fully address the care needs of patients.

5.7. All personnel provided by the Contractor shall be subject to approval by the
Department prior to notifying candidates of assignment or hire. The Department
will inform the Contractor of any applicable Department designee for this
purpose per Service Area or position.

5.8. The Department, at its sole discretion, may rescind, either permanently or
temporarily, its approval of any Contractor .Personnel providing any services for
any of the following reasons;

5.8.1. Suspension, revocation or other loss of a required license, certification
or other contractual requirement to perform such services under the
contract;

5.8.2. Provision of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
misfeasance, insubordination or failure to satisfactorily provide
required services;

5.8.3. Arrest or conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or alcohol
related offense;

5.8.4. Abolition of the role due to a change in organizational structure; lack
of sufficient funds or like reasons; or

5.8.5. Any, other reason that includes, but is not limited to: misconduct;
violation of Department policy; violation of state or federal laws and
regulations pertaining to the applicable Department service area; or a
determination made by the Department that the individual presents a,
risk to the health and safety of any staff member or any individual
served by the Department.

5.9. In the event of such rescission, the Department shall, to the extent possible,
provide the Contractor with reasonable advanced notice and the applicable
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reason. The Contractor shall ensure the applicable staff member(s) are
prohibited from providing services for the period of time that the Department
exercises this right. No additional payments will be paid by the State of New
Hampshire for any staff removed from duty by the Department for any reason.
The Contractor:

5.9.1. Shall, unless the Contractor Personnel was removed from providing
services under Section 5.8.4, provide replacement personnel who
meet all of the applicable requirements under the contract, including
but not limited to being subject to Department approval specified in
5.7;

5.9.2. Shall be responsible for providing transition services to the applicable
Service Area to avoid the interruption of services, and administrative
responsibilities at no additional cost to the Department;

5.9.3. Shall furnish replacement staff, within ten (10) business days, who
meet all of the requirements for the applicable position under the
resulting contract(s) if the duration of a temporarily rescinded approval
is greater than seven (7) calendar days. The Contractor shall be
informed by the Department the anticipated, duration for which
approval will remain rescinded. The Contractor shall be responsible
for providing, at no additional cost to the Department, transition
services to the Department to avoid service interruption;

5.9.4. ■ May initiate, at the sole discretion of the Contractor, any internal .
personnel actions against its own employees. Nothing herein prohibits
the Contractor from seeking information from the Department
regarding the Department's decisiori, unless information is othenvise
restricted from disclosure by the Department based on internal
Department policies or rules, State of New Hampshire personnel
policies, rules, collective bargaining agreements, or other stale or
federal laws.

5.9.5. The Contractor shall ensure that, prior to providing the applicable
services for the applicable Department service area or facility, all
required licenses, certifications, privileges, or other specified minimum
qualifications are met for all staff, and where applicable, are
maintained throughout the provision of services for the full term of the
Contract. The Contractor shall provide the applicable Department
designee with a copy of all documents. The Contractor shall not hold
the Department financially liable for any fees or costs for any licenses,
certifications or renewal of same, nor for any fees or costs incurred for
providing copies of said licenses or certifications.

5.9.6. In addition to any approvals required by the Contractor for employees,
the Contractor shall ensure staff provide timely, prior notification to the
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applicable Department designee for any anticipated leave time, unless
otherwise stated herein for a specific position or service area. The
Contractor shall ensure that all staff provided have a standard amount
of vacation and sick time, subject to the normal and customary
employee benefits and, policies of the Contractor. However, the
Contractor shall ensure staff abide by the State holiday schedule.

5.10. The Contractor shall ensure annual performance reviews are completed for all
Contractor Personnel. The Contractor shall incorporate feedback from the
applicable Department designee for such reviews. The Contractor shall ensure
that goal development is responsive to the evolving needs of the Department.
over the course of the contract period.

5.11. The Contractor shall be responsible for managing all employee relations and
performance management issues for the staff provided, in accordance with the
Contractor's policies and procedures, Medical Service Organization (MSG) by
laws, and applicable NHH, NHFH, Glencliff Home, HHRTF and/or State of New
Hampshire policies.

5.12. Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall ensure all personnel provided
undergo the following criminal background, registry, screening and medical
examinations:

5.12.1. Criminal Background (including New Hampshire criminal background):

5.12.2. Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services State Registry;

5.12.3. Division for Children, Youth and Families Central Registry; and ■

5.12.4. Physical capacity examination.

5.13. The Contractor , shall ensure Contractor Personnel assigned to perform
services under the Agreement comply with all Department requirements,
policies, and procedures relative to infection prevention, mitigation, and control
to mitigate the risks of disease transmission prior to the commencement of
services.

5.14. The Contractor shall ensure that the criminal background, registry, screening
and medical examinations above are kept current as required and in
accordance with the Department's confidentiality policy; the Department
receives copies of all required documentation prior to the commencement of
services and is not ■ responsible for any costs incurred in obtaining the
documentation.

5.15. The Contractor shall not utilize any personnel, including subcontractors, to fulfill
the obligations of the contract, who have been convicted of any crime of
dishonesty, including but not limited to crirriinal fraud, or otherwise convicted of
any felony or misdemeanor offense for which incarceration for up to one (1)
year is an authorized penalty. The Contractor shall initiate a criminal ^os
background check re-investigation of all personnel provided every five (5)
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f  •

years. The Contractor shall ensure the five (5) year period is based on the date
of the last criminal background check conducted by the Contractor or their
agents.

6. State-Owned Devices, Systems and Network Usage

6.1. Contractor personnel must use a state-issued device, including, not limited to
computers, tablets, or mobile telephones, in the fulfilling the requirements of
the contract. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel:

'  i '
6.1.1. Use the information that they have permission to access solely for the

provision of services hereunder or conducting official state business.
All other use of access is strictly forbidden including, but not limited, to
personal or other private and non-State use, and that at no time shall,
except as necessary to provide services hereunder, Contractor
workforce or agents access or attempt to access information without
having the express authority of the Department to do so;

6.1.2. Not access or attempt to access information in a manner inconsistent
with the approved policies, procedures, and/or agreement relating to
system entry/access;

6.1.3. Not copy, share, distribute, sub-license, modify, reverse engineer,
rent, or sell software licensed,,developed, or being evaluated by the
state. At all times the Contractor shall use utmost care to protect and
keep such software strictly confidential in accordance with the license
or any other agreement executed by the State. Only equipment or
software owned, licensed, or being evaluated by the State of New
Hampshire can be used by the Contractor. Non-standard software
shall not be installed on any equipment unless authorized by the
Department's Information Security Office; :

6.1.4. Agree that email and other electronic, communication messages
created, sent, and received on a state-issued email system are the
property of the State of New Hampshire and to be used for business

^  purposes only. Email is defined as "internal email systems" or "state-
funded email systems." The Contractor understands and agrees that
use of email shall follow Department and State of New Hampshire
standard policies; and

6.1.5. Use the internet and/or Intranet for access to and distribution of
information in direct support of the business of the State of New
Hampshire according to policy of the Department. At no time should
the internet be used for personal use.

7. Exhibits Incorporated

7.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Information in
compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
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7.2.

7.3.

Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and in
accordance with the attached Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreement, which
has been executed by the parties.

The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this Agreement in
accordance with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security
Requirements.

The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached
hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

8. Reporting Requirements

8.1. Service Area #1

8.1.1. On a quarterly basis, or as otherwise more frequently required by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services regulations
and/or the Department, the Contractor shall submit a written report, in
a form specified by the Department, to the Department documenting
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, Medicaid, and other
third-party providers.

8.1.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor; the Contractor shall submit a written report on an annual
basis to the Department that describes the services rendered by the
clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's performance pursuant to the
requirements of the contract during the preceding contract year.

8.2. Service Area #2

8.2.1. On a quarterly basis, or as otherwise more frequently required by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services regulations
and/or the Department, the Contractor shall submit a written report, in
a form specified by the Department, to the Department docurhenting
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, Medicaid,' and other
third-party providers.

8.2.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a written report on an annual
basis to the Department that describes the services provided by the
General Medical Director and clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's-
performance pursuant to this Agreement during the preceding contract
year.

8.3. Service Area #3
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8.3.1. On a quarterly basis, or as othenwise more frequently required by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services regulations
and/or the Department, the Contractor shall submit a written report, in
a form specified by the Department, to the Department documenting
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, Medicaid, and other
third-party providers.

8.3.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a written report on an annual
basis to the Department that describes the services rendered by the
clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's performance pursuant tp the
requirements of the contract during the preceding contract year.

8.4. All Service Areas

8.4.1. The Contractor shall, provide monthly staff reports to the Departrtient
to sufficiently document actual staffing levels and services rendered.
Monthly staff reports shall include the following:' '

8.4.1.1. Monthly staffing schedule;

8.4.1.2. PTE by position in accordance with the resulting contract(s);

8.4.1.3. Actual PTE worked within the monthly reporting period by
clinical position; and

8.4.1.4. Actual PTE allocated to sick time, leave time, or any other
non-clinical time within the monthly reporting period by clinical
position.

9. Additional Terms

9.1. Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes

9.1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal
legislation or court orders may have an impact on the Services
described herein, the State of N'ew Hampshire has the right to modify .
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement
so as to achieve compliance therewith. In the event that any future
state or federal legislation or court order impacts the Services
described herein, the Department shall provide the Contractor with
reasonable advanced notice of any necessary modification to Service
priorities and expenditure requirements. The parties agree to
cooperate in the implementation and planning of any such
modification and the Department shall consider Contractor's
reasonable requests with respect to such modifications.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Department shall retain the. final
right to modify Service priorities and expenditure requirements under
this Agreement so as to achieve compliance with any future state or
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federal legislation or court orders that have an impact on the Services
described herein.

9.2. Credits and Copyright Ownership

9.2.1. All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other
materials related to and resulting from the performance of the
services of the Agreement shall include the following statement, "The
preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under an
Contract with the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and

Human Services, with funds provided in part by the State of New
Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United Slates Department of Health and Human
Services."

9.2.2. All materials produced or purchased under the Agreement shall have
prior approval from the Department before printing, production,
distribution or use.

9.2.3." The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all
original materials produced, including, but not limited to:

9.2.3.1. Brochures.

9.2.3.2. Resource directories.

9.2.3.3. Protocols or guidelines.

9.2.3.4. Posters.

9.2.3.5. Reports.

9.2.4. The Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the
Agreement without prior written approval from the Department.

9.3. Eligibility Determinations

9.3.1. If the Contractor is permitted and required by the Department to
determine the eligibility of individuals such eligibility determination
shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and state laws,
regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

9.3.2. Eligibility determinations shall be made on forms provided by the
Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such
times as are prescribed by the Department.

9.3.3. In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the'
Contractor shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services
hereunder, which file shall include all information necessary to

.  support an eligibility determination and such other information as the
Department requests in writing. The Contractor shall furnish the
Department with all forms and documentation regarding eligibility

—OS
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- determinations that the Department may request or require.

9.3.4. The Contractor understands that all applicants for services
hereunder, as well as individuals declared ineligible have a right to a
fair hearing regarding that determination. The Contractor hereby
covenants and agrees that all applicants for services shall be
permitted to fill out an application form and that each applicant or re-
applicant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair hearing in
accordance with Department regulations.

10. Records

10.1. The Contractorishall keep records that include, but are not limited to:

10.1.1. Books, records, documents and other electronic or physical data
evidencing and reflecting all costs and other expenses incurred by the
Contractor in the performance of the Agreement, and all income
received or collected by the Contractor.

10.1.2. All records must be maintained in accordance with accounting
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all such
costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original
evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers,
requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of in-kind contributions,
labor tinhe cards', payrolls, and other records requested or required by

.  the Department.

11.Liquidated Damages

11.1. Liquidated damages are specified in, and may be assessed in accordance with,
Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 14.
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state of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

1, David M. Scanlan, Secretar>' of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL

HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire.on August 07, 1889. 1

further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretar>' of State's office have been received and is in good standing as

far as this office is concerned.

Business ID; 68517

Certificate Number; 0006622917

u.

A

11

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 20th day of March A.D. 2024.

David M. Scanlan

Sccretar)' of State



; Dartmouth Dartmouth-Hitchcock Boards of Trustees
- Health

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Roberta L. Mines. MD. do hereby certify that;

1. I ani the duly elected Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, "Dartmouth-Hitchcock").

2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the Amended, Restated and Integrated Bylaws of the

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Corporations:

a. "ARTICLE II - Section A. Fiduciairy Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets. As
responsible stewards of tax-exempt, charitable Corporations, members of the Corporations'
Boards have the fiduciary duty to oversee, with due care and loyalty, the stewardship of the

. Corporations' assets and operations in order to create'a sustainable health system that is population
focused and value-based, and to advance their respective corporate purposes. In exercising this
duty, the Boards may, consistent with the respective Corporation's Articles of Agreement and
these Bylaws, delegate authority to Board Committees and other bodies, or to various officers, to
provide input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter
into contracts and agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporations
as may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of their charitable purposes."

3. Pursuant to policy approved and adopted by the Boards of Trustees consistent with the above Bylaws

provision, the Chief Clinical Officer, Edward Merrens, MD, has subdelegated signature authority to enter

into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial

Hospital.

4. The foregoing authority shall remain in full force and effect as of the date of the agreement executed or

action taken in reliance upon this Certificate. This authority shall remain valid for thirty (30) days from

the date of this Certificate and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to rely upon same, until written

notice of modification, rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has been received by the State

of New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this l^'^ day of May, 2024.

Roberta L. Hines, MD, Board Chair



CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DATE: June 29,2023

COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
RO^-Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NH 03756

(603)653-6850

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE .
POLICY NUMBER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL

LIABILITY

0002023-A 7/1/2023 7/1/2024 EACH

OCCURRENCE
$1,000,000

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

$1,000,000

X CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL

EXPENSES
N/A

PERSONAL &

ADV INJURY
$1,000,000

OCCURRENCE GENERAL

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OTHER PRODUCTS-

COMP/OP AGG
$1,000,000

PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

0002023-A 7/1/2023 7/1/2024 EACH CLAIM $1,000,000

X
CLAIMS MADE

ANNUAL

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OCCURENCE

OTHER

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/ SPECIAL ITEMS {LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECI TO RETENTIONS)

Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance. ^

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
(hereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS written notice to the
certificate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligation or liability of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES



DARTHIT-01

y\COKD- CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
LSTILES

DATE (MM/DOrrYYY)

7/10/2023

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THISrOERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT; If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(les) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.

If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER License ft 1780862
HUB International New England
100 Central Street
Suite 201
Holl]ston,MA 01746

Lauren Stiles

PHONE FAX
(A/C. No. Ext): (A/C. No);

l.auren.Stiles@hublnternational.com

INSURERISt AFFORDING COVERAGE NAICS

INSURER A: Safety National Casualty Corooration 15105

INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER B :

INSURER C : '

INSURER 0 ;

INSURER E ;

INSURER F:

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS.
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE

ADOL
iNSn

SUBR
wvn POUCY HUMSEA

POLICY EFF
(MM/DD/YYYY1

POLICY exp
fMMrtlD/YYYYI LIMITS '

COMMERCIAL GENERAL UABtUTY

E 1 1 OCCUR
EACH OCCURRENCE S

CLAIMS-MAC
DAMAGE TO RENTED

S

MED EXP lAnv one oerton) S

PERSONAL S ADV INJURY s

GENL AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER; GENERAL AGGREGATE - s

policy ] • ISggf 1 |loc
OTHER:

PROOUCTS - COMP/OP AGG s

s

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

s

ANY AUTO

HEDULED
rros

ffom?

BODILY INJURY fPer oerson) s

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

aI^IS^ ONLY

SC
At BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per scbdervT s

s

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE

AGGREGATE s

DED ' RETENTIONS s

A WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ^ ̂
ANY PROPRIETORffARTNER^XECLmVE 1 j

1—1
If yes, describe under.
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

HI A

AGC4066562 7/1/2023 7/1/2024

Y PER OTH-
^ STATUTE FR

E.L EACH ACCIDENT
J  1,000,000

E.L DISEASE EA EMPLOYEE
,  1,000,000

E.L DISEASE POLICY LIMIT
,  1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS 1 VEHICLES (ACORD 101. Additional Raniarka Schadula, may ba attschod If mora apaca Is raqulred)
Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for

Cheshire Medical Center

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
New London Hospital Association
SEE ATTACHED ACORD 101'

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

NH DHHS

129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

1

. SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATTVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03) ©1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo.are registered marks of ACORD



AGENCY CUSTOMER ID: DARTHIT-01 LSTILES

LOC#: 1

ACORD'
ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page 1 of 1

AGENCY License #1780862

HUB International New England

NAMED INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
1 Medical Center Dr.
Lebanon, NH 03756

POLICY NUMBER

SEE PAGE 1

CARRIER

SEE PAGE 1

NAIC CODE

SEE Pi EFFECTTVE date: SEE PAGE 1

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

THIS ADDmONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,

FORM NUMBER: ACORD 25 FORM TITLE: Certiflcaf of LlabHIty ln»uranc»

Description of Gperations/LocationsA/ehicles:
Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health Center
Visiting Nurse Associates and Hospice of Vermont and NOw Hampshire

ACORD 101 (2008/01) ©2008 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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About Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics—members of Dartmouth Health

(https://vwvw.dartmouth-heaith.org)—include Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, the state's

only academic medical center, and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics, which provide primary

and specialty care throughout New Hampshire and Vermont.

Our physicians and researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and

faculty as.well as.pther leading health care organizations to develop new treatments at the

cutting edge of medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient.

Who are Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics?

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

V

r:
i\

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is the state's only academic medical center, and the

only Level I Adult and Level II Pediatric Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Advanced Response Team (DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides

ground and air medical transportation to communities throughout northern New England.

In 2021, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center was named the #1 hospital in New

Hampshire by U.S. News b World Report (https://health.usnews.com/best-hospitais/area/nh), and

recognized for high performance in 11 clinical specialties, procedures, and conditions.

Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics provide primary and specialty care throughout Ne\A/

Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group practices in Lebanon, Concord,

Manchester, Nashua, and Keene, New. Hampshire, and Bennington, Vermont.

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is New Hampshire's only

children's hospital and a member of the Children's Hospital Association, providing

advanced pediatric inpatient, outpatient and surgical services at Dartmouth Hitchcock

Medical Center.

I

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon (https://cancer.dartmouth.edu/), one of only 51 NCI-

designated Comprehensive Cancer Centers in the nation, is one of the premier facilities for

cancer treatment, research, prevention, and education.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and comrhunity

partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every

time.
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Our Vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in our

region and setting the standard for our nation.

/-•

Our values

• Respect

•  Integrity

• Commitment

• Transparency

• Trust

• Teamwork

• Stewardship

• Community

About Dai'lmouth Health (https://vvww.dartmouth-healt.l-i.or8/)

Copyright © 2022 Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics. Ail rights reserved.
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of
cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
"consolidated financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Health System as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

' We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Health System and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are
issued.

Auditors' Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee tbat an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk'of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, oi" the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210

T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, ww^v.pwc.cpm/us •
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In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's abilit>' to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplemental Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole. The accompanying consolidating balance sheets and consolidating statements of
operations and changes in net assets without donor restrictions as of and for the years ended June 30,
2023 and 2022 (the "supplemental information") is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the consolidated financial staterhents. The consolidating information is not
intended to present, and we do not express an opinion on, the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the indmdual companies. The supplemental information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated
financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplemental information is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

1

Boston, Massachusetts
November 17, 2023



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets-

/

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Assets

Current assets

. Cash and cash equivalents $  115,996 $  191,929
Patient accounts receivable, net (Note 4) 289,787 251,250
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 184,104 169,133

Total current assets 589,887 612,312

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7) 1,071,462 1,181,094
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 182,224 175,116
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) 811,622 764,840

Right-of-use assets, net (Note 16) 55,528 58,925
Other assets 193,333 172,163

Total assets S  2,904,056 $  2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $  15,236 $  6,596
Current portion of right-of-use obligations (Note 16) i  11,334 11,319
Line of credit 40,000 _

Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11) 3,386 3,500
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 146,747 156,572
Accrued compensation and related benefits 137.467 , 190,560
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 3 and 4) 64,360 ■  134,898

Total current liabilities 418,530 503,445

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 1,098,962 1,117,288
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion (Note 16) 45,671 48,824
Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12) 91,349 78,391
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11) 206,305 228,606
Other liabilities 173,918 154,096

Total liabilities 2,034,735 2,130,650

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3,4,6,7,10,13, and 16)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9) . 658,988 634,297
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9) 210,333 199,503

Total net assets 869,321 833,800

Total liabilities and net assets $  2,904,056 $  2,964,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Operating revenue and other support

Net patient sen/ice revenue (Note 4) $  2,397,157 $ 2,243,237

Contracted revenue 84,346 77,666

Other operating revenue (Note 4) 608,875 534,031

Net assets released from restrictions 14,843 15,894

Total operating revenue and other support 3.105,221 2,870,828

Operating expenses
Salaries 1,423,091 1,315,407

Employee benefits 332.386 ■322,570
Medications and medical supplies 725,480 649,272
Purchased services and other 458,901 403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4) 85,715 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 90,457 86,958

Interest (Note 10) 34,515 32,113

Total operating expenses 3,150,545 2,892,907

Operating loss (45,324) (22,079)

Non-operating gains (losses) ^58,119Investment income (loss), net (Note 5) (78,744)
CXher components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14) (17.691) 13,910

Other losses, net (8,530) (6,658)

Total non-operating gains (losses), net 31,898 (71.492)

Deficiency of revenue over expenses $  (13,426) $ (93,571)

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - continues on next page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Deficiency of revenue over expenses
Net assets reieased from restrictions for capital

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement

benefits (Note 11)
Other changes in net assets

Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities
Investment income (loss), net
Net assets released from restrictions

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions

Change in net assets

Net assets

Beginning of year

End of year

2023

(13,426)
3,229

34,901

2022

(93,571)

■  1,573

(32,309)

24,691 (124,330)

'  23,637 39,710

5,846 (7,010)
(18,653) (17,467).

10,830 15,233

35,521 (109,097).

833,800 942,897

$  869,321 $ 833,800

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets $  35,521 .$ (109,097)

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 90,806 87,006

Amortization of bond premium, discount, and issuance cost, net . (2.779) (2,764)

Amortization of righl-of-use asset 9,242 9,270

Payments on right-of-use lease obligations • operating (9.162) (9,190)

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits (34,901) ■ 32,309

Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets (863) (523)

Net realized.gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments ' (79,799) 86,652

Restricted contributions and investment earnings . (8,208) (20,151)

Proceeds, from sales of donated securities 3.818 10,665

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable, net (38,537) (19,089)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,984 (9.915)
Other assets, net (21,688)' 2,517

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (31,082) 17,104

Accrued compensation and related benefits (53,093) 8,490

Estimated third-party settlements (71,907) (120,117)'
Insurance deposits and related liabilities 12,958 (1,583)
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits 12,486 (28,422)

Other liabilities 21,191 (56,687)

Net cash used in operating activities (164,033) (123,525)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment . (129,321) (160,855)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 1,214 613

Purchases of investments '  (71,410) (65,286)

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments 249,684 137,781

•  Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 50,167 (87,747)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of aedit - 979,500 30,000

Payments on line of credit (939,500) (30,000)

Repayment of long-term debt (81,907) (9.116)

Proceeds from issuance of debt 75,000 -

Repayment of finance leases (3,599) (3.253)

Restricted contributions and investment earnings 8,208 20,151

Net cash provided by financing activities 37,702 7,782

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (76,164) (203,490)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 193,485 396,975

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year S  117,321 $ 193,485

Supplemental cash flow inforrriation
Interest paid $  44,362 $ 42,867

Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 5,105 9,407

Donated securities 3,818 10,665

The following table reconciles cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets to cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash on the consolidated statements of cash Hows.

2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents S  115,996 S 191,929

Cash and cash equivalents included in assets limited as to use - 1,350

Restricted cash and cash equivalents included in other investments for restricted activities 1,325 206

Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown
in the consolidated statements of cash flows S  117,321 $• 193,485

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH), its Members, and their Subsidiaries (the Health System) is a
system of hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare service providers across New Hampshire and
Vermont. The Health System's mission is to advance health through research, education, clinical
practice, and community partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at
the right time, every time. The Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible,
leading the transformation of health care in the region and setting the standard for the nation. The
Health System's expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region
with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH)
and Subsidiaries, (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospital
Association, Inc. (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries, The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (APD) and Subsidiary, and Visiting Nurse Association and
Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community, and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health and hospice
service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions and is the
principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth
College.

-D-HH, DHC, MHMH, NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3)
of the IRC.

On December 6, 2022, D-HH entered into an Integration Agreement with Valley Regional
Healthcare, Inc. ("VRHC") and its subsidiary Valley Regional Hospital and its affiliates ("VRH"), a
critical access hospital located in Claremont. New Hampshire. The parties have submitted the
transaction for regulatory review by the New Hampshire Attorney General with a target closing date
in early 2024.

Community Benefits
Consistent with its mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive,
and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities, it serves regardless of a
patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based healthcare and
promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services
organizations. In addition, the Health System seeks to work collaboratively with other area
healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an integrated
academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic and
research programs. .



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30. 2023 and 2022

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH, which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state Community Benefit Report. The categories used in the
Cornmunity Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community Health Improvement Services include activities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based dinical
services (such as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services
(enrollment assistance in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telephone information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to
care, etc.).

•  ' Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

•  Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Health System, resulting In financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research includes costs, in excess of awards, for numerous health research and service
initiatives within the Health System.

•  Cash and In-Kind Contributions occur outside of the System through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants to local organizations.

•  Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Charity Care includes losses, at-cost, incurred by providing health care services to persons
qualifying for hospital financial assistance programs.

•  The Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2022 was approximately $235,081,000. The 2023 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2024.



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health '
System's most recently filed Community. Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30. 2022:

(in thousands of dollars)

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid , $ 235,081
Health professional education 43,186
Subsidized health services 21,202

Charity care 16,011
Community health improvement services 15,695
Research ' 7,254
Cash and In-Kind Contributions 4,001

Community building activities 2,834

Total community benefit value $ 345,264

In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $439,000 and $452,000, respectively.

For fiscal year 2022, Medicare costs exceeding reimbursement totaled $157,615,000.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis. of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entitles, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, gains, and losses of healthcare entities
are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, riet
assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and are
available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose use has been limited
by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be
maintained In perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been elirhinated upon
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in' conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Deficiency of Revenue over Expenses
The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the deficiency of
revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the care of
patients, including contributions and investment income (loss) on investments of net assets v/ithout
donor restrictions, v^ich are utilized to provide charity and other operational support. Peripheral
activities, including realized gains/losses on sales of investment securities and changes in
unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the deficiency of revenue
over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purpose of acquiring such. assets), and change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans. , .

Charity Care
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the

Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts qualifying as charity care, they are not
reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions^ trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which

the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others, for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts, have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue, which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue, which consists primarily
of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract pharmacy, is recorded in the
amounts to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the prescriptions. Other revenue also
includes Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act (CARES Act Provider Relief Funds)

10



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

from the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), CARES Act Employee Retention
Credit Funds, operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria sales, and other support service
revenue (Note 3 and 4).

Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions, short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, and other-highly liquid
investments (primarily cash management funds), which would be considered level A investments
under the fair value hierarchy. All short-term, highly liquid, investments included within the Health
System's endowment and similar investment pools, otherwise qualifying as cash equivalents, are
classified as investments at fair value and, therefore, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Investments and Investment Income (Loss)
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the deficiency of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds, and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the deficiency of revenue over expenses.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the deficiency of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and losses, unless
the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation, techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the" lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of ifair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

11



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Level 2 Prices other than quoted'prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts

payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, plant, and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to

capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the deficiency of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the
donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the
assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital assets
are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those capital
assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions .are reported when the donated or
acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.
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Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as.trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$8,367,000 and $8,885,000 as intangible assets as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net-of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net

assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, January 2021, and April 2022, the FASB issued standard updates on Reference
Rate Reform in response to the planned discontinuation of the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LIBGR), a key interbank reference rate. The standard provides accounting relief to contract
modifications and optional expedients for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts and other transactions
that reference LIBGR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of rate
reform. The Health System is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of these
standards on the financial statements.

3. The COVID-19 Pandemic

'  Gn March 11, 2020, the World Health Grganization designated CGVID-19 as a global pandemic
resulting in an extraordinary disruption to our nation's healthcare system. In response to CGVID-
19, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted which provided
different types of economic support to a wide variety of organizations and individuals. The Health
System employed several CARES Act provisions, with the most significant impacts summarized
below.

Health and Human Services Provider Relief Funds

The Health System received $1,822,000 and $100,346,000 in CARES Act Provider Relief Funds
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. ' ■

In July 2020, HHS issued reporting requirements for CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, requiring
recipients to identify healthcare-related expenses that remain unreimbursed by another source,
attributable to the CGVID-19 pandemic. If those expenses do not exceed the funding received,
recipients will need to demonstrate that the remaining funds were used to compensate for a.
negative variance in patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief Funds
awarded in excess of expenses attributable to the CGVID-19 pandemic that were not reimbursed
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by another source plus losses incurred due to the decline in patient care revenue. There have been
no recoupments through June 30,. 2023.

Medicare and Medicald Services (CMS) Accelerated and Advance Payment Program

The Health System received CMS prepayment advances, related to the CARES Act, totaling
$245,200,000. In addition, the Health System accumulated payroll tax deferrals of $33,100,000.
Repayment of funds commenced in April 2021. The balances of CMS prepayment advances and
accumulated payroll tax deferrals at June 30, 2022 were 354,890,000 and $16,550,000,
respectively, and are included in estimated third party settlements and accrued compensation and
related benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amounts for CMS prepayment advances
and payroll tax deferrals were repaid, in full, during the year ended June 30, 2023.

The Health System continues to address the challenges and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic,
including protecting the health and safety of employees and patients, as well as assessing the
availability of personal protective equipment and other needed supplies to be better positioned for
potential surges. Additionally, the Health System continues to evaluate the impact of new or
changes to laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels and the potential effect on
Health System staffing and operations. At this time, the Health System remains unable to
accurately predict the full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic vyill affect the Health System's
future finances and operations.

4. Net Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they Include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a. point in time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the

. aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
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or partially unsatisfied at the end, of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.

/

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
.Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for-service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system (PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical, and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs' (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each^outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hoispital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on
PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost basis, or fee
schedules, for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.
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Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health System's cost-based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year, based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,

regulations, and rule interpretations governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over.time by material
amounts.

•  . Revenues under Managed Care Plans (MGRs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for-service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
The MGRs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual-
patient's bill is subject to adjustments, in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
MGRs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer, that
would materially affect its revenues, for which it has not adequately, provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and,.as such, are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of Vermont
annual net patient revenue. In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, home health provider taxes paid were
$579,000 and $627,000, respectively.

Implicit Price Concessions
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-Insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, and for those who are uninsured, based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The.uninsured and patient responsible accounts,
net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based on
historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the estimation
process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
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collection history with similar patients.. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy Is to.
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles due
from Insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must'be filed, within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is, probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations.

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, additional increases in revenue of $24,098,000 and
$19,743,000, respectively, were recognized, due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net operating revenues consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients
covered by Medicare, Medicaid, managed care arid other health plans, as well as patients covered
under the Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of total operating revenue and other support
presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

2023

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital •)

Medicare $' 587,377 $  106,370 $  • 693,747

Medicaid 168,410 18,824 ■ 187,234

Commercial 862,502 88,492 950,994

, Self-pay 11,307 802 12,109

Subtotal 1,629,596 214,488 "1,844,084

Professional 504,370 35,578 539,948

Subtotal 2,133,966 250,066 2,384.032

Home based care 13,125

Subtotal 2,397,157.

Other revenue 706,242

Provider Relief Funds 1,822

Total operating revenue and other support $  3,105,221

2022

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 542,292 $  99,976 $  642,268

Medicaid 158,121 15,739 173.860

Commercial 809,736 81,395 891,131

Self-pay 7,027 902 7,929

Subtotal 1,517,176 198,012 1,715,188

Professional 470,559 40,186 510,745

Subtotal 1,987,735 238,198 2,225,933

Home based care 17,304

Subtotal 2,243,237

Other revenue 528,762

■ Provider Relief Funds 98,829

Total operating revenue and other support $  2,870,828
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Medlcald Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital
On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisioris for alternative payments in the
event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the ag'reement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 6% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SPY) 2021 through SPY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $85,853,000 and $77,488,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
and, therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recognized as
revenue DSH receipts of approximately $83,582,000 and approximately $75,988,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30. 2023 and 2022, the Health System recorded $85,715,000 and
$82,725,000, respectively, of State of NH MET and State of VT provider taxes. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6.0% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets.

Accounts Receivable

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023 2022

Medicare 36% 38%

Medicaid 12% 12%

Commercial 41% 38%

Self Pay - ■ 11% 1^

Total' 100% 100%
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5. Investments

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board
Cash and short-term Investments

U.S. government securities

Domestic corporate debt securities

Global debt securities ,

Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging markets equities
Global equities

Real Estate Investment Trust

Private equity funds
Hedge funds

Subtotal

Investments held by captive Insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities

Subtotal

Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-term investments

^ Total assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities ^
International equities ^
Emerging markets equities

Global equities

Real Estate Investment Trust

Private equity funds
Hedge funds
Other

Total other investments for restricted activities

Total investments

t forth in the following table:

2023 2022

$  6,988 $  31,130

80,595 126,222
271,321 234,490

37,092 68,610

205,200 198,742

75,199 63,634

37,080 34,636

77,479 73,035

2 2

141,808 138,605

44,558 55,069

977,322 1,024,175

30,366 27,242
13,918 7,902

13,180 7,595
13,994 10,091

5,372 4,692

76,830 57,522

17,310 99,397

1,071,462 1,181,094

21,243 8,463

27,323 27,600
45,864 37,343
5,282 10,059

30,754 34,142

11,054 10,698
5,187 5,587

10,281 11,153

18 ■ 19

18,816 21,166

6,368 8,852
34 34

182,224 175,116

$ 1,253,686 $ 1,356,210
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case-by<ase basis. The fair value method is used for all "debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/corhmingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

The following tables summarize investments by the accounting method utilized as of June 30, 2023
and 2022. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those securities
accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7. . . .

2023

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eauitv Total

Cash and short-term investments $  45,541 $ .  - 5i  45,541
U.S. government securities 138,284 - 138,284

Domestic corporate debt securities 122,320 .208,783 331,103
Globaldebt securities 55,554 - 55,554

Domestic equities 204,541 45,407 249,948
International equities 57,221 34,404 91,625
Emerging markets equities 267 42,000 ;  42,267
Global equities - 87,760 87,760

Real Estate Investment Trust 20 20

Private equity funds - 160,624 160,624

Hedge funds 456 50,470 50,926
Other 34 34

Total investments $ ■ ^ 624,238 $ 629,448 J;  1,253,686

2022

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Eauitv Total

Cash and short-term investments $  138,990 $ -  •$ 138,990
U.S. government securities 181,064 - 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 118,642 161,093 279,735
Global debt securities 57,558 28,706 86,264

Domestic equities 191,767 51,208 242,975
International equities 47,631 31,393 79,024
Emerging markets equities 298 39,926 40,224

Global equities - 84,187 84,187
Real Estate Investment Trust 21 - 21

Private equity funds - 159,771 159,771

Hedge funds 443 63,478 63,921
Other 34 - 34

Total investments $  736,448 $ 619,762 $ 1,356,210
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For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, investment income (loss) is reflected in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets as other
operating revenue of approximately $905,000 and $857,000, respectively, and as non-operating
gains (losses) of approximately $58,119,000 and ($78,744,000). respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the fund has fully
distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership agreements expire.
Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to contribute a specified
level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System
has outstanding commitments of $79,753,000 and $75,070,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Land $  40,749 $  40.749

Construction in progress 43,117 163,145

Land improvements 52,054 44,834

Buildings and improvements 1,166,776 984,743

Equipment -  1,101,410 1,042,582

Subtotal property, plant, and equipment 2,404,106 2,276,053

Less accumulated depreciation 1,592,484 1,511,213

Total property, plant, and equipment, net $  811,622 $  764,840

As of June 30, 2023, construction in progress primarily consists of four projects; the Family and
Community Care Clinic located in Keene, NH, the renovation of inpatient wings as part of the
Pavilion backfill project located in Lebanon, NH, and two lab software upgrades to the Lebanon
campus. The estimated cost to complete the construction in progress is approximately $10,700,000.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2022, included the in-patient tower, the emergency
department (ED) expansion and the central pharmacy/supply chain facility renovation. All were
placed in service during the year ended June 30, 2023.

Capitalized interest of $59,000 and $6,853,000 is included in construction in progress as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

Depreciation expense included in operating activities was $87,029,000 and $83,661,000 for 2023 and
2022, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis;

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
Institution and cash which will be used for future investment opportunities.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded {Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, If necessary, matrix pricing frorh a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).
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Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Investrnents

Cash and short term investments $  45.541 a!  - $ -  $ 45,541

U.S. government securities 138,284 ■ - • 138,284

Domestic corporate debt securities 41,351 , 80,969 - 122,320

Global debt securities 24,429 31,125 - 55,554

Domestic equities 200,252 4,289 - 204,541

International equities 57,221 • - 57,221
Emerging market equities 267 - - 267

Real estate investment trust 20 - - 20

Hedge funds 456 - - 456

Other - 34 - 34

Total fair value investments 507,821 116,417 _ 624,238

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 11,893 - - 11,893

U.S. government securities 40 - - 40

Domestic corporate debt securities 10;453 - ' .10,453

Global debt securities 16 - - 16

Domestic equities 41,841 - - 41,841

International equities 5,874 - - 5,874

Emerging market equities 21 - - 21

Real estate 14 - - 14

Multi strategy fund 62,689 - - 62,689

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 132,841 - -  , 132,841

Beneficial interest in trusts - - 14,875 14,875

Total assets , $  640,662 3i  116,417 $ 14,875 $ 771,954
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2022

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term investments $  138,990 $ -  ai  - 3;  138,990
U.S. government securities 181,064 •  - - 181,064

Domestic corporate debt securities 1,768 . 116,874 - 118,642

Global debt securities 24,745 32,813 - 57,558

Domestic equities 187,063 4,704 - 191,767

International equities 47,631 - - 47,631

Emerging market equities 298 - - 298

Real estate investrhent trust 21 - - 21

Hedge funds 443 - - 443

Other - 34 - 34

Total fair value investments 58l023 ■ 154,425 . 736.448

Deferred compensation plan assets

Cash and short-term investments 8,053 - - 8,053
U.S. government securities 36 - - 36

Domestic corporate debt securities 10,874 - - 10,874 .

Global debt securities 964 - - 964

Domestic equities 33,742 - - 33,742

International equities 4,911 -
■ 4,911

Emerging market equities '  19- - -• 19

Real estate 12 - - 12

Multi strategy fund 57,964 - . 57,964

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 116,575 - 116,575

Beneficial interest in trusts - . 16,051 16,051

Total assets $  698,598 $ 154,425 3;  16,051 $ 869,074

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2, or 3 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

There were no liquidations of Level 3 measurements during the years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022.
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8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2023 and
2022:

(in tiiousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Investments held in perpetuity $  88,926 $  84,117

Healthcare sen/ices 38,596 36,123

Research 28,176 27,477

Health education 27,374 27,164

Charity care 12,486 12,155

Other 10,825 ■ 8,639

Purchase of equipment 3,950 3,828

Total net assets with donor restrictions $  210,333 3;  199,503

9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.

The Health System has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions, which
are to be held in perpetuity, consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent

.  endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in' perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the .accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met. the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions. .

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
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conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on.an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines Is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and
2022:

2023

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  111,843 $  111,843

Board-designated endowment funds 28,688 - 28,688

Total endowed net assets $  28,688 $  111,843 $  140,531

2022

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $  ■ $  107,590 $  107,590

Board-designated endowment funds 41,344 - 41,344

Total endowed net assets $  41.344 $  107,590 $  148,934
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Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2023

Without ' With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 S 148,934

Net investment return 212 1,305 .1,517

Contributions - 3,201 3,201

Transfers (12,743) 2,561 (10,182)

Release of appropriated funds (125) (2,814) (2,939)

End of year balances $  28,688 $  111,843 $ 140,531

End of year balances 111,843

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 13,954

Net assets with donor restrictions $  125,797

2022

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,728 $  108,213 $ 149,941

Net investment return (1,065) (3,998) .(5,063)

Contributions " 12,950 12,950

Transfers 795 (7,105) (6,310)

Release of appropriated funds (114) (2,470) (2,584)

End of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 $ 148,934

End of year balances
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts

Net assets with donor restrictions

107,590

14,903

$  122,493
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of obligated group debt at June 30. 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Variable rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds

Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $ 83,355 $ 83,355

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority Revenue Bonds /

Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102 303,102
Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) 125,000 125,000

Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2040 (3) 122,435 122,435
Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3) 109,800 109,800
Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2043 (4) 99,165 99,165

Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2030 (5) 22,860 23,950

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual '
amounts, through July 2039 (6) 21,715 22,605
Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7) 14,530 14,530

Series 20168, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (8) 10,970 10,970
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7) - ,4,810

Note payable
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2035 (9) 125,000 125,000

Total obligated group debt $ 1,037,932 $ 1,044,722
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Other

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%
through November 2046 $ 2,343 $ 2,417
Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2034; collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free 232 247
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through December 2024;

collateralized by associated equipment ^ 55

Total nonobligated group debt ( 2,607 2,719 ■

Total obligated group debt 1,037,932 1,044,722

Total long-term debt 1,040,539 1,047,441

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net 80,112 83,249

Less: Current portion - 15,236 6,596
Debt issuance costs, net 6,453 6,806

Total long-term debt, net $ 1,098,962 $ 1,117,288

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as
follows;

(in thousands of dollars) 2023

2024 $ 15,236

2025 19,363

2026 20,209

2027 20,915

2028 21,574

Thereafter 943,242

Total $ 1,040,539

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt

MHMH established the DHOG for the purpose of issuing bonds financed through NHHEFA or the
"Authority". The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2023 consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
NLH, MAHHC, and APD. The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2022 consisted of D-HH,
MHMH, DHC, Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group
agent.
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Effective June 26, 2023, after approval from the D-HH Board of Trustees, Cheshire withdrew/ from
the DHOG. The Cheshire Series 2012 bonds and the related obligated group note securing the
Cheshire bonds, will remain outstanding and therefore constitute a continuing joint and several
obligation of the DHOG.

Revenue bonds, issued by members of the DHOG, are administered through notes registered in
the name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The
Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the merribers of the DHOG {and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.1 Ox).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 20188, in February
2018. The Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were
used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds. The
Series 2018B revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2048, and were, used
primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line of
credit, Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations. The.
interest on the Series 20i8A revenue bonds is variable, with a current interest rate of 5.00%.
The interest on the Series 2018B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.18%, and
matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds. .Series 2020A, in February 2020. The Series
2020A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2059 and the proceeds are being
used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon,
NH, as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2020A revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 5.00%.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG Issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 20178, in December
2017. The Series 2017A revenue bonds mature In variable amounts through 2040 and were
used primarily to refund Series 2009 and Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 20178
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 20128 revenue bonds. The Interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds Is
fixed, with an Interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 20178 revenue bonds is fixed,
with an Interest rate of 2.54%. .

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A, in October 2019. The Series
2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used primarily to
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fund the construction of a 91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH, to
include an Ambulatory Surgical Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the
Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(5) Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 20180. in August 2018. The Series 20180
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030 and were used primarily to refinance
the. Series 2010 revenue bonds. The interest on the Series is fixed, with an interest rate of
3.22%.

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, in November 2012. The Series

2012 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenue bonds, finance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and
finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed
interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net interest cost of 3.96%).

(7) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B, in August 2014.
The Series 2014A revenue bonds mature in 2022. The Series 2014B revenue bonds mature at

various dates through 2033. The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B revenue bonds
were used partially to refund the Series 2009 revenue bonds and to cover cost of issuance.
Interest on the 2014A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.63%. Interest on the

Series 2014B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B, in July 2016, through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B revenue bonds mature at various
dates through 2045 and were used to finance certain 2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed,
with an interest rate of 1.78%.

(9) Note payable to financial institution

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the OOVID-
19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital, as needs require.
The note matures at various dates through 2035 and is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.56%.

I

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2023 and 2022 Is
$1,037,932,000 and $1,044,722,000, respectively.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of $17,310,000 and $99,397,000 at June

30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use In the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets {Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of approximately $46,000
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and $6,674,000 at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are classified as other current assets in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt service reserves are mainly comprised
of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2023 and 2022.

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 interest expense on the Health System's long-term
debt is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net
Assets as operating expense of approximately $34,515,000 and $32,113,000, respectively, and
other non-operating losses of $3,782,000 and $3,782,000, respectively, net of amounts capitalized.

11. Employee Benefits

Eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or defined
contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans to certain active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

The Health System's defined benefit plans have been frozen and, therefore, there are no remaining
participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits expense, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets, is comprised of the following components
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022;

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation $ 45,924 $ 36,722
Expected return on plan assets' (46,071) (65,917)
Net loss amortization 15,820 13,139

Total net periodic pension expense $ 15,673 $ (16,056)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,
2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

Discount rates 4.40%-5.10% 3.30%

Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A
Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 4.40% - 7.25% 7.50%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized In the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2023 and 2022;

(iri thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $  938,886 5;  1,140,221

Interest cost 45,924 36,722

Benefits paid (58,580) (54,864)

Actuarial loss (59,480) (183,193)

Benefit obligation, end of year 866,750 938,886

Change In plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 747.095 958,864

Actual retum on plan assets 1,229 (169,405)
Benefits paid (58,580) (54,864)
Employer contributions - 12,500

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 689,744 747,095

Funded status of the plans (177,006) (191,791)

Less; Current portion of liability for pension - -

Long-term portion of liability for pension (177,006) (191,791),

Liability for pension .  $ (177,006) 5;  (191,791)

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include $489,486,000 and $519,946,000 of net actuarial loss as of

June 30, 2023 and 2022.. respectively.

The amounts amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic pension
expense in fiscal year 2023 for net actuarial losses was $15,820,000.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the accumulated benefit
obligation at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

Discount rates

Rate of increase in compensation

2023

4.85 - 5.90%

N/A

2022

4.40-5.10%

N/A

The primary investment objective for the defined benefit plans' assets is to support the pension
liabilities of the pension plans for employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital
appreciation and by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI") strategy to partially hedge the
impact fluctuating interest rates have on the value of the pension plan's liabilities. As of June 30,
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2023, it is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 70% of the interest rate risk
associated with pension liabilities. As of June 30, 2022, the expected LDI hedge was
approximately 70%. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the pension plans utilize
a'diversified structure of asset classes. The asset classes are.designed to achieve stated
performance objectives, measured on a total return basis which includes income plus realized and
unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows:

Range of

Target Target
Allocations Allocations

Cash and short-term investments . 0-5% 3%

U.S. government securities 0-10 5
Domestic debt securities 20-58 42

Global debt securities 6-26 4

Domestic equities 5-35 17
International equities 5-15 7
Emerging market equities 3-13 4

Global Equities 0-10 . 6
Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 1

Private equity funds 0-5 0
Hedge funds 5-18 11

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as plan sponsorsroversee the design, structure, and
prudent professional management of the Health System's pension plans' assets, in accordance,
with Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities, and authorities and more
specifically the following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board.approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
pension plans own interests in both private equity and hedge funds rather than in securities
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underlying each fund and; therefore, the Health System generally considers such investments as
Level 3, even though the underlying securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily
marketable.

The following table sets forth the Health System's pension plans' investments that were accounted
for at fair value as of June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023

Redemption ' Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 -  Total or Liouldation Notice

investments

Cash and short>term investments . $ $  10.667 $ $  10,667 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 22,919 - - ' 22,919 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 96,004 250,964 - 346,968 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - - - - Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 89,391 26,849 • 116,240 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 18,912 22.361 - 41.273 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities •• 26.743 - 26,743 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Global equities - 52.461 - 52.461 Daily-Monthly 1-17 •

Private equity funds . - 13 13 See Note 5 See Note 5

Hedge funds - - - 72,460 72,460 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $  227.226 $390,045 S 72,473 $689,744

2022

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of. dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liouldation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $ $  16,030 $ S  16,030 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 124,686 - - 124,686 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 17,530 226,107 - 243,637 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities - 24,136 - 24,136 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 104,070 31,324 - 135,394 Daily-Monthly 1-10 -

International equities 15,558 20,406 • - 35,964 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities - 25,487 - 25,487 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Global equities .  - 54,787 - 54,787 Daily-Monthly 1-17 -

Private equity funds - -  • 14 14 See Note 5 See Note 5

Hedge funds • 86,960 86,960 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $ 261,844 $ 398.277 $ 86,974 S 747.095
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The following tables present additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedae Funds Eaultv Funds Total

Beginning of year balances $  . 86,960 $  , 14 $ 86,974,

Sales , (13,013) - (13,013)

Net unrealized losses (1.487) (1) (1,488)

End of year balances $  72,460 $  13 $ 72,473

2022

. Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedae Funds Eauitv Funds. Total

Beginning of year balances $  15,512 $  , 15 $ 15,527

Purchases 81,400 - 81,400

Sales (2,152) - (2,152)

Net unrealized losses (7,800) (1) (7,801)

End of year balances $  ,86,960 $  14 $ 86,974

The total aggregate net unrealized (losses) gains included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 were approximately ($12,443,000) and ($543,000),
respectively. Hedge funds totaling $13,013,000 and $2,152,000 were liquidated in 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2. or 3 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.
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The weighted average asset allocation; by asset category, for the Health System's pension plans is
as follows at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

Cash and short-term investments 3% 2 %

U.S. government securities 5 17

Domestic debt securities 42 33

Global debt securities A 3

Domestic equities 17 18

International equities 7 5

Emerging market equities 4 3

Global equities 6 7

Hedge funds 12 12

Total 100% 100 %

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and 'the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.25% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $15,888,000 to the Plans in 2024
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 $ 122,722

2025 58,784

2026 59,960

2027 61,029

2028 61,971

2029 - 2033 313,803

The Cheshire Medical Center plan vyas terminated effective June 30, 2022, pending regulatory
approvals. Following regulatory approval, the plan sponsor intends to distribute assets and settle
plan obligations through a lump sum offering to active and terminated vested participants and a
group annuity contract will be purchased for any participant that doesn't elect the lump sum, along
with all participants currently in pay status. The benefit obligation for the plan reflects anticipated
disbursement costs and a terminal cash contribution to fully fund benefits will be made at that time.
The obligations reflect the cost of providing the lump sums and group annuity, described above, as
well as administrative costs and a terminal contribution which will be necessary to fund all of the
costs of terminating the plan. It is expected that the obligations will be settled by June 30, 2024 and
the plan termination liability will reflect economic conditions, lump sum election rates and annuity
pricing at that time. As a result, the final plan termination liability may be different from the amounts
shown in this report.
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Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has employer-sponsored plans for certain of its members, under which the
employer makes contributions based on specified percentages of compensation and employee
deferral amounts. Total employer contributions to the plan , of approximately $71,152,000 and
$64,946,000 in 2023 and 2022, respectively, are included in employee benefits expenses in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Postretirement Medical and Life insurance Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life insurance benefit plans covering certain of
its active and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance
benefits to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Service cost $ V 357 $  456

Interest cost 1,956 . 1,394

Net loss amortization 62 752

Total ,$. 2,375 $  2,602

The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life insurance benefit
obligation amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June
30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2^2

Change in benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligkion, beginning of year $ 40,315 $ 46,863 ,
Service cost 357 456
' Interest cost ''.956 1,394

Benefits paid (3,588) (3,401)
Actuarial loss (6,355) (4,964)
Employer contributions ■ ^33)

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year 32,685 40,315

Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits $ (3,386) $ (3,500)
Long-term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits (29,299) (36,815)

Funded status of the plans and liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits $ (32,685) $ (40,315)
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As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for postretirement medical and life insurance benefits is
included in the liability for jjension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic income for the postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans, included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Net actuarial (income) loss ' (1,970) 4,445

Total $  (1,970) $ 4,445

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the years ending June 30, 2023 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 $  3,486

2025 3,424

2026 3,396

2027 3,387

2028 3,227

2029-2033 14,893

In determining the accumulated fc)enefit obligation for the postretirement medical and life insurance
plans, the Health System used a discount rates of 6.00 - 6.10% in 2023, and an assumed
healthcare cost trend rate of 6.50 - 7.00%, trending down to 5.00% in 2029 and thereafter.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

D-H, along with Dartmouth College, Cheshire. NLH, APD, MAHHC, and VNH are provided
professional and general liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance
Risk Retention Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT captive .insurance company. RRG cedes the majority of
this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC). a captive insurance company domiciled in
Bermuda, and HAC cedes a portion of this risk to a variety of commercial reinsurers. D-H has

. majority ownership interest in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to
the covered institutions, named insureds and their employees on a modified claims-made basis,
which means coverage is triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance
deposits are actuarially determined, based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future
development. The reserves for outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.
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Selected financial data of HAC arid RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at
June 30, 2023 and 2022, are summarized as follows:

2023

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets .$ 93,777 $  2,372 $ 96,149
Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 13,670

2022

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 79,831 $  2,245 $ 82,076

Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 13,670

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System is involved in vanous malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
.brought to trial. It is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have
a material effect on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Line of Credit

.  The Health System has entered into a loan agreement, with a financial institution, establishing
access to a revolving loan of up to $100,000,000. Interest is variable and determined using the
Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The loan
agreement is due to expire October 3, 2024. The outstanding line of credit balance was
$40,000,000 and $0 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest expense was
approximately $1,200,000 and $91,000, respectively, and is included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2023:

2023

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraislna Total

Operating expenses

Salaries $ 1,238,158 $  183,063 $  . 1,870 $ 1,423,091

Employee benefits 293,359 38,778 249 332,386

Medical supplies and medications 722,957 2,517 6 725,480

Purchased services and other. 305,192 148,439 5,270 458,901

Medicaid enhancement tax 85,715 - .  - 85,715

Depreciation and amortization 45,702 44,707 48 90,457

Interest 8,470 26,037 8 34,515

Total operating expenses $ 2,699,553 , $ 443,541 $  7,451 $ 3,150,545

Program Management

Services and General Fundraislna Total

Non-operating expense

Employee benefits $  15,606 $  2,077 $  8 $  17,691

Total non-operating expense $  15,606 $  . 2,077 S  8 $. 17,691
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2022;

2022

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraisina Total

Operating expenses

Salaries $ 1,129,572 $  184,533 $ 1,302 $ 1,315,407

Employee benefits 281,455 40,887 228 322,570

Medical supplies and medications 645,437 3,835 - 649,272

Purchased sen/ices and other 255,639 142,241 5,982 403,862

Medicaid enhancement tax 82,725 - - 82,725

Depreciation and amortization 42,227 •  44,675 56 86,958

Interest 9,116 22,987 10 32,113

Total operating expenses $ 2,446,171 $  439,158 $ 7,578 .$ 2,892,907

Program Management

Services and General Fundraisina Total

Non-operating Income

Employee benefits $  12,144 $  .1,755 $- 11 $  13,910

Total non-operating income $  12,144 $  1,755 $ , 11 $  13,910

43



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2023 and 2022 to meet cash needs for

general expenditures within one year of June 30, 2023 and 2022, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable

Assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities

Total financial assets .

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
svithin one year:
Investments held by. captive insurance companies

Investments for restricted activities

Bond proceeds held for capital projects
Other investments with liquidity horizons

greater than one year

2023

115,996

289,787

1,071,462

182,224

2022

191,929

251,250

1,181,094

175,116

$  1J59,469 $ 1,799,389

■76,830
182,224

17,310

141,810

57,522
175,116
99,397

159,792

Total financial assets available within one year $ 1,241,295 $ 1,307,562

The Health System used cash flow from operations of approximately $(164,033,000) and
$(123,525,000) for the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively. In addition, the
Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash In intermediate or
long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $100,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date, based on the present value of lease.

. payments over the lease term. The Health System uses the implicit rate noted within the contract. If
not readily available, the Health System uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is
derived using a collateralized borrowing rate, for the same currency and term, as the associated
lease. A right-of-use asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12
months or less, rather the Health System recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-
line basis, over the lease term, within lease and rental expense.
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Operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care^ facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Real
estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 3 to 8 years. These real estate leases may
include one or more options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to 5
years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Health System's sole discretion. When
determining the lease term, management includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it
is reasonably certain that the Health System will exercise that option.

Certain lease agreements for real estate include payments based on actual common area
maintenance expenses and/or rental payments adjusted periodically for inflation. These variable
lease payments are recognized in other occupancy costs in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets, but are not included in the right-of-use asset or liability
balances in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease agreements do not contain any material
residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants.

The components of lease expense for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Operating lease cost $  9,590 $ 9,573

Variable and short term lease cost (a) 10,608 10,894

Total lease and rental expense $  20,198 $ 20,467

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease $  3,778 $ 3,345

Interest on debt of property under finance lease 546 448

Total finance lease cost $  4,324 $ 3,793

(a) Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended June 30,, 2023 and 2022
are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement
of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $  10,067 $  9,952

Operating cash flows from finance leases 546 448

. Financing cash flows from finance leases 3,599 3,255

Total $  14,212 $  13,655
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 are a:
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Operating Leases
Right-of-use assets - operating leases $  59,258 $  61,165

Accumulated amortization (26,731) (21,222)

. Right-of-use assets - operating leases, net 32,527 39,943

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 7,799 8,314

Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 25,386 32,207

Total operating lease liabilities. 33,185 40,521

Finance Leases

Right-of-use assets - finance leases 32,837 27,963

Accumulated depreciation (9,836) (8,981)

Right-of-use assets - finance leases, net 23,001 18,982

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 3,535 3,005

^  Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 20,285 16,617

Total finance lease liabilities $  23,820 $  19,622

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases 7.54 7.73

Finance leases 15.73 19.77

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases

Finance leases

2.36%

3.46%

2.24%

2.17%

The System obtained $3.6 million and $9.2 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2023.

The System obtained $8.9 million and $0.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2022.
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Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2023 are as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) ODeratlna Leases Finance Leases

Year ending June 30:
2024 $  8.474 $ 4,265

2025 5,841 3,336

2026 4,311 2,869

2027 3,475 1,900

2028 2,784 1,701

Thereafter 11,340 15,043

Total lease payments 36,225 29,114

Less: Imputed interest 3,040 5,294

Total lease obligations $  33,185 $ 23,820

17. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2023,

the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there

were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or

disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

On July 3, 2023, D-HH affiliated with Southern Vermont Health Care Corporation and its

subsidiaries ("SVHC"), including Southwestern Vermont Medical Center, Inc. ("SVMC"), a 99-bed

community hospital located in Bennington, Vermont. Integrating SVHC into the D-HH System gives

D-HH an inpatient presence in southwestern Vermont with reach into eastern New York state and

northwestern Massachusetts markets.

In October 2023, the.Health System issued a note payable in the amount of $100,000,000 to ID
Bank. The note matures at various dates through 2033, and is fixed, with an interest rate of
6.17%.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2023

Dartmouth- Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
On thousands of do/lars) Health Hitchcock Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Afnilates Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets ^

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2.375 $ 202 $ 40,750 $ 32,082 $  11,462 S - S 88,671 S  29,125 $ - $ 115,996

Patient accounts recelvatile. net - 241.747 ■  10.868 11,022 7.607 - 271.244 18.543 - 289,787

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 19.552 210.275 2.374 2.449 2.009 (36.789) 199.670 2.619 (16.385) 184.104

Total current assets 21,927 452,224 53.992 45.553 21,078 (36.789) 557.985 50.287 (18.385) 589.887

Assets limited as to use 136.937 832.895 13.089 17.990 25,786 (16.760) 1.009.937 61.525 . 1.071.462

Notes receivable, related party 843.946 14,308 588 - - (844.777) 14.065 (588) •  (13,477)

Other investments for restricted activities 5 126,671 , 2,632 3.206 7.208 139.722 42.502 - 182,224

Property, plant, and equipment net - 624,394 27,724 44,547 16.260 - 712,925 98.697 - 811,822

Right-of-use assets, net 344 32,819 14,967 286 4.897 - 53.313 2.215 . 55,528

Other assets 1.943 168.736 13.798 6.822 4.668 - 195.787 (2.454) - 193.333

Total assets . S 1,005,102 S 2.252,047 S 126.790 S 118.204 $  79,917 $ (898.326) s 2.683.734 S  252.164 i (31,862) $ 2.904.056

Liabilities and Net Assets '

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt $ 13,365 $ - $ 825 s 21 S  11 $ - $ 14,222 %  1.014 % - s 15.236

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 204 9,136 759 49 422 - 10,570 764 - 11.334

Line of credit 40,000 40,000 40,000

Current portion of liability for pension and -

other postretiremenl plan benefits • 3,386 • - - - 3.386 - - 3,386

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 23.590 151,473 5,300 3.975 8.173 (53,549) 138.962 26.170 (18.385) 146,747

Accrued compensation and related benefits • 119.718 3,549 3,192 4.491 - 130.950 6.517 - 137,467

Estimated third-party settlements . 28,560 12.586 18.245 - - 59.393 4.967 . 64.360

Total current liabilities 37.159 352.273 23,021 25,482 13.097, (53,540) 307.483 .  39.432 (18.385) 418,530

Notes payable, related party . 800,163 . 27,044 17.570 (844,777) . 13.477 (13.477) .

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1.028.666 25.113 21.956 11 (105) - 1,075.841 23.321 - 1.098.962

Right-of-use obligadons. excluding current portion 140 24.333 14.786 243 4,635 - 44.137 1.534 - 45.671

Insurance deposits and related tiabSities - 89.947 322 253 263 - 90.805 544 - 91,349

Liablity for pension and other postretiremenl -

plan beneftts, excluding current portion • 197.049 • - 368 - 197,417 8,888 - 206.305

Other liabilities - 148.553 366 2.065 . . 150,984 22,934 . 173.918

Totai liabilities 1.065.965 1.637.431 60.451 55.098 35.648 (898.326) 1,956,467 110,130 (31.862) 2,034,735

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets
-♦

Net assets without donor restrictions (60.873) 476.653 63,708 58.347 35.455 - 573.290 85.658 40 658.988
Net assets with donor restrictions 10 137.963 2.631 4.759 8.614 - 153,977 66.396 (40) 210,333

Total net assets (60,863) 614.616 68.339 63.106 44,069 - 727.267 142.054 889.321

Total liabilities and net assets $ 1,005,102 $ 2.252.047 S 126.790 $ 118.204 $  79,917 $ (896.326) $ 2.683.734 S  252.184 i (31.662) i 2.904.056
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(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other cunent assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use

Notes receivable, related party
Other investments for restricted activities

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets, net
Other assets

Total assets .

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt

Current portion of right-of-use obligations
Line of credit

Current portion of liability for pension and
other ppstrelirement plan benefits
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued compensation and related benefits

Estimated third-party settlements

Total current liabilities

Notes payable, related party
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Right-of-use obligations, excluding cunent portion
Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding cunent portion
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets vrith donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

D-HH Health

and Other D*H and Cheshire and MAHKCand APDand VNH and System
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries SiitMidlaries NLH Subsidiaries Sut»idiarv Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

% 2.375 $ 1.470 $  15,911 $ 32.082 $ 11.691 $ 50.139 $ 2.328 $ . $ 115.996

- 241.747 17,253 11.022 .  7.799 10.868 1.098 - 289.787

19.552 210,708 1,504 • 2.449 1.992 2.284 789 (55.174) 184.104

21.927 453,925 34i668 45,553 , 21.482 63.291 4.215 (55,174) 589.667

136.937 860.436 13,376 17.990 27.090 13.089 19.304 (16,760) 1.071.462

843.946 14,308 - - - - - (658,254) -

5 134,091 34,711 3.206 7.209 •  2.911 91 - 182.224

. 627,070 72,289 44.547 17.593 44.435 5,688 - 811.622

344 32.819 2.145 286 4,898 14.967 69 - 55,528

1.943 168,902 7,130 6.622 2.231 6.505 - - 193.333

S 1.005.102 i 2.291,551 S  164,319 S 118,204 $ 80.503 $ 145.198 S 29.367 S (930.188) . S 2.904.056

s 13.365 $ $  915 s 21 S 36 $ 825 $ 74 $ $ 15.236

204 9.136 735 49 423 759 28 - 11.334

40,000 40.000

_ 3.386 . - .
. . 3.386

23.590 152.515 22,818 3.975 8.312 5.990 1.481 (71.934) 146.747

- 119.718 5.406 3.192 4.564 3.907 680 - 137.467

. 28.560 4.928 18.245 - 12.588 39 - 64.360

37.159 353.315 34.802 25.482 13.335 24.069 2.302 (71.934) 418.530

. 800.163 10.477 27.044 17,570 . 3,000 (858,254) .

1,028,666 25.113 20.907 11 69 21.907 2.269 - 1,098.962

140 24.333 1.493 243 4.635 \ 14.786 41 - 45.671

-
89.947 500 253 283 322 44 . - 91.349

. 197.049 ' 8.888 . 368 . . 206.305

- 148.553 1.500 2.065 . 21.800 . - 173.918

1,065.955 1,638,473 78.567 55.098 36.280 82.884 7.656 (930.188) 2.034.735

(60,873) 507,534 37.307 58.347 35.609 59.404 21.620 40 656.988

10 145,544 48.445 4.759 8.614 2.910 91 (40) 210.333

(60.863) 653,078 85.752 63.106 44.223 62.314 21.711 869,321

s 1.005.102 s 2,291.551 S  164.319 s 118.204 s 80.503 S 145,198 s 29,367 s (930.188) $ 2,904.056
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Dartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck . New London Ml Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- HAedlcal Day '  Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System

(in thousands ofdollars) Health Hitchcock Center Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations SubtoUl Affiliates Eliminatiotrs Consolidated

Assets -

Current assets

Cash artd cash equivalents $  2,056 S  66,827 $  20,165 S  36,416 $  28,467 S  11,327 t  167,258 (  24,671 S $  191,929

Patient accounts receivable, net - 206,400 18,106 9,817 9,175 5,360 • 246,858 2,392 - 251,250

Prepaid eiqrenses and other current ass^ 23,561 161,262 19,580 3,522 4,452 1,472 (31,119) 182,730 (11.372) •  (2,225) 169,133

Total current assets 25,617 434,489 57,851 51,755 42,094 18,159 (31,119) 598,846 15,691 (2,225) 612,312

Assets limited as to use 301,000 858,919 12,665 14,680 16,005 25,753 (98,848) •  1,130,174 50,920 . 1,181,094

Notes receivable, related party 842,052 11,557 - 803 • • (853,609) 803 (803) • •

Other investments for restricted activities 490 118,082 16,422 727 3,925 6,646 • 146,492 28,624. • 175,116

Property, planL and eqinpment, net . 585.064 63,067 24,757 45,973 15,526. - 734,387 30,453 • 764,840

Righl-of-use assets 1,362 35,321 1,830 14,892 166 5,249 - 58,820 105 - 58,925

Other assets '  681 146,516 1,187 14,391 6,573 4,983 -
174,331 (2,168) • 172,163

Total assets

Liabdlties and Net Assets

Current iiabilitiea

Cunenl porton of tong-term debt
Cuneni portion of right-of-use obCgations
Current portion of liabity for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits

Accounts payable and accrued eq>en$e$

Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements

Total current liai^ties

Notes payable, related party
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Righl-ofHise obligations, excluding asrenl portion
Insurance deposits end related habiities
Liability for pension and otiier postretirement
plan benefits, exduding current portion
Other liabilies

Total KabiSties

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabSities and net assets

1.171.202 i 2,189.948 S 153.022 S 122,005 $ 114,736 $ 76,516 $ (983,576) $ 2,843.853 S 122,822

559

147,626

3.002

4,810

8,514

3,500

100,110

169,194

68.876

865

689

16,607

6,817

22,999

600

852

4,883

4,431

17,488

23

172

4.843

4,507

21,886

473

8,693

4,434

647

(129,967)

6,496

11,259

3,500

152,795

189,383

134,698

98 $

60

6,002

1,177

151,187 355,004

808,602

47,977 28,454 31,431

27,437

14,247

17,570

(129,967)

(853,609)

498,333 7.337

(25,638) 416.255 53,646 54,590 48,974 31,078 560,905 53,352

(2,225) $ 2,964.450

(2,225)

(2,225)

40

6,596

11,319

■ 3,500
156,572

190,560

134,898

503,445

1.044,645 25.084 21,867 23,060 32 (110) - 1,114,778 2,510 - 1,117,288

803 27,359 1,233 14,499 - 4,885 • 48.779 45 .  - 48,824

-
76.678 623 373 401 250

-
78.325 66

-
78,391

220,350 .  7,774 . . 481 . 228,605 1 . 228,606

. 129,092 1,109 300 1,749 - - 132,250 21,846 - 154,096

1,196,835 1,642,169 80,583 66,686 61,050 37,323 (983,576) 2,101,070 31,805 (2,225) 2,130,650

634.297

(25.633) 547,779 72,439 55,319 53,666 39,193 •  ■ 742,783 91,017 . 833,800

S  .1,171,202 S 2,189,948 i 153,022 S 122,005 S 114,736 S 76,516 % (983,576) $ 2,643,853 i 122,822 $ (2,225) S 2,964,450
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D-HH Health

and Other D-H and Cheshire and MAKHCand APD and VNK and System

(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries - Subsidiaries SutMidiaries NLH Subsidiaries Siibsidiarv Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 2.056 S 68,075 $  32,500 $ 28,467 $ 11.631 S 47,894 $ ' 1.306 S - S 191,929

Patient accounts receivable, net . 206,400 18,106 9.175 5,431 . 9,817 2.321 - 251,250

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23.561 161.508 8.296 4.452 1,499 2,678 483 (33,344) 169,133

Total current assets 25,617 435.983 58.902 42.094 18,561 60,389 4,110 (33,344) 612,312

Assets limited as to use 301,000 884,007 13.183 16,005 26,979 14,680 24,088 (98,848) 1,181,094

Notes receivable, related party 842,052 11,557 - ■ - - • (853,609) -

Other investments for restricted activities 490 125,614 37.124 3,925 6,846 1,031 86 - 175,116

Property, plant, and equipment, net - 587,739 66.385 45,973 .  16,947 42,436 5,360 - 764.840

Right-of-use assets, rret 1.362 35,321 1,830 166 5.248 14,892 . 106 • 58.925

Other assets 681 146,699 8,316 6,573 2,526 7,292 76 - 172,163

Total assets $ 1.171.202 S 2,226,920 $  185,740 S 114,736 S 77.107 $ 140.720 $ 33,826 s (985,801) S 2.964.450

Liabilities and Net Assets .

Current liabilities

. Current portion of long-term debt. S - $ 4.810 S  865 $ 23 % 26 s 800 $ 72 $ -
s 6,596

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 559 8,514 689 172 472 852 61 - 11,319 .

Current portion of liability for pension and
3,500other postretirement plan benefits - 3.500 - - • -

• •

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 147,626 100,617 16,726 4,843 8,831 5,481 4.640 (132,192) 156,572

Accrued compensation and related benefits - 169,194" 6,817 ,  4,507 4,490 4,735 817
-

190.560

Estimated third-party settlements 3,002 .  68,876 22.999 21,886 647 17.488 - - 134.898

Total current liabilities 151,187 355,511 48,096 31.431 14,466 29,356 5,590 (132,192) 503,445

Notes payable, related party . 808,602 - 27,437 17,570 - • (853,609) -

Long-term debt, excluding cument portion 1.044.845 25,084 21,867 32 110 23,005 2,345
-

1,117.288

Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 803 27,359 1,233 •  - 4,885 14,499 .45 -
48,824

Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 76.678 623 401 250 373 66 -
78.391

Liability for pension and other postretirement
228,606plan benefits, excluding current portion - 220.350 7,774 482

-
- -

Other liabilities . 129.092 1.109 1.749 22.146 - - 154.096

Total liabilities 1,196,835 1.642.676 80.702 61.050 37.763 89.379 8.046 (985.801) 2,130.650

Commitments and contingencies .

Net assets

Net assets v/ithout donor restrictions , (25,638) 447,013 56,674 48.974 31,231 50,308 25,695 40 . 634.297

Net assets with donor restrictions 5 137,231 48,364 4.712 8,113 1,033 85 (40) 199.503

Total net assets - ' (25.633) 584,244 105,038 53,686 39,344 51,341 25.780 833.800

Total liabilities and net assets $ 1.171,202 s 2,226,920 $  185,740 i 114.736 $ 77.107 i 140,720 S 33.826 s (985.801) $ 2.964,450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2023

fin ftiousends of Mian)

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue

Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee benefits
Medications and medical suppties

Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax

Depreciation and amortization
Interest-

Total operating expenses '

Operating (loss) margin

Non^rperating gains (losses)

Investment gains (losses), net

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benelit Income

Other (losses) income, net

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
postretiremenl benefits

Net assets transferred to (from) affifiales
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets witirout donor
restrictions

Dartmouth'

Hitchcock

Health

Dartmouth-

Hitchcock

Alice Peck

Day

Memorial

New London

Hospital

Association

MLAscutney
Hospital and

Health Center Eliminatiom

DH Obligated
Group

Subtotal

All Other Non-

Obllg Group

Affiliates Eliminations

Health

System

Consolidated

$

3.834

36,756

%  1,888,079

141,562

578,965

12,763

S  98,605
149

4,264

100

$  87,855

51

6,485

316

S  63,606

3,657

2,134

284

$

•  (799)
(43.983)

S  2,138,145
148,454

584,621

13.463

S  259,012
336

31,811 •
1,380

$
(64,444)

(7.557)

S  2,397,157

84,346

608,875

14,843

40,590 2.621,369 103,118 94,707 69,681 (44,782) 2,884,683 . 292,539 (72,001) 3,105,221

20,277

1

33,194

1,183,341

276,506

650,157

366,903

65,805

68,566

28,101

49,062
9,020

13,130

15,821

4,426

3,372

805

46,198
8,321

11,852

11,834

3,366

4,775

1,064

28,947

8,278

4,379

21,278
2,273

2,311

479

486

1,697

(18,642)

(30,386)

1,308,034

303,822

679.518

417,471

75,870

79,025
33,257

162,896
36,910

45,962

56,691

9,845

11,432

1,544

(47,839)

(8.346)

(15,261)

(286)

1,423,091

332,386

725,480

458,901
85,715

. 90,457

34,515

53,472 2,639,379 95,636 87,410 67,945 (46.845) 2,896,997 325,280 (71,732) 3,150,545

(12,882) (18,010) 7,482 7,297 1,736 2,063. (12,314) (32,741) (269) (45,324)

■ 1,373 48,094 881 1,113 915 (252) 52,124 6,067 (72) 58,119

(10,643)

(16,269)

250

-

509 387 (1.811)

(16,269)

(11,308)

(1,422)

2,437 341

(17,691)

(8.530)

(9.270) 32,075 881 1,622 1,302 (2.063) 24,547 7,082 269 31,898

(22,152) 14.065 ^  8,363 8,919 3,038 12,233 (25,659) -
(13,426)

• 2,139 .  56 26 233 -

2,454 775 -
3,229

(13,083)
37,322

4,881

(9)

703

"  (4)
428

114

992 -

37,436
(6,079)

(13)

(2,535)

6,079
•

34,901

(13)

$  (35,235) $  58,398 $  9.118 S  9.373 $  4.377 $ S  46,031 $  (21,340) $ %  24,691
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Dartmouth- Health

Hitchcock D-Hand Cheshire and MAKHC and APD and VNK and System
fin thousands of dollars) Hearth Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH . Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue S $  1,888,079 S  245,887 S 87,855 i  63,606 S  98,605 S  13,125 $ i  2,397,157
Contracted revenue 3.834 141,815 84 51 3,656 149 - (65,243) 84,346
Other operating revenue 36,756 581,102 15,548 6,485 - 3,974 14.641 1,909 (51,540) 608,875

Net assets released from restrictions - 13,358 747 316 293 129 . . 14,843

Total operating revenue and other support 40.590 2,624,354 262,266 94,707 71,529 113,524 15,034 (116,783) 3,105,221

Operating expenses
Salaries - 1,183,341 144,785 46,198 29,820 53,203 13,097 (47,353) 1,423,091
Employee l>enefits - 276,506 33,677 8,321 8,435 10.002- 2,095 (6,650) 332,386
Medications and medical supplies - 650,157 45,073 11,852 4,382 13,149 872 (5) 725,480
Purchased services and other 20,277 369,991 44,961 11,834 22,074 19,196 4,471 (33.903) 458,901
Medicaid enhancement tax . 65,805 9,844 3,366 2,274 4,426 . . 85,715
Depredation and amortization 1 68,566 8,945 4,775 2,425 5,203 542 - 90,457
Interest ' 33,194 28,101 1,031 1,064 480 1,115 201 (30,671) 34,515

Total operating expenses 53,472 2,642,467 288,316 87,410 69,890 106,294 21,278 (118,582) 3,150,545

Operating (loss) margin (12.882) (18,113) (26,050) 7,297 1,639 7,230 (6,244) 1,799 (45,324)

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment gains (losses), net 1,373 50,245 2,389 1,113 997 1,111 1,220 (329) 58,119

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income - (16,269) (1,422) - - • . (17,691)

Other (losses) income, net (10,643) 250 2,361 509 403 . 60 (1.470) (8.530)

Total non-operating'gains (tosses), net (9.270) 34,226 3,328 1,622 1,400 1,111 1,280 (1.799) 31,898

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (22.152) 15,113 (22,722) , 8,919 3,039 8,341 (4,964) - (13,426)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital . 2,223 691 26 233 56 . . 3,229

Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits - 37,322 (2,535) - 114 . . - 34,901

Net assets transferred to (from) affliates (13,083) 4,872 5,199 428 992 703 889 - .

Other changes in net assets - (9) . - - (4) . . (13)

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor
••

restrictions S  (35,235) S  60,521 $  (19,367) $ 9,373 $  4,378 $  9,096 $  (4,075) $ S  24,691
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Dartmouth- Cheshire ABce Peck New London Ml Ascutnsy DKObSgated Al Other Non- Heafth

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group ObBg Group System

(in thoussndsoi dollars) Health Hitchcock Center Memorial Association Health Center EEminations Subtotal AfflGates Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue S J  1,751.093 S  236,645 i  99.403 J  79.754 i  59,040 S S  2,225,935 $  , 17,302 $ $  2.243.237

Corseted revenue 209 133.928 165 21 22 3,521 (60,573) 77,293 458 (85) 77.666

Other operating'revenue 38,568 492.455 23,736 4.146 7,527 2,754 (50,711) 518,475 16,731 •  (1.175) 534,031

Net assets released from restrictions 249 13.299 779 435 190 204 - 15,156 .  738 ■ 15,694

Total operating revenue ar>d other support 39.026 i390,775 261,325 104.005 87.493 65,519 (111,284) 2,836,859 35,229 (1.260) 2.870,828

Operating expenses

Salaries - 1,091.601 135,083 43.266 40,219 28,960 (45,229) 1,293,900 .  20,422 1.085 1,315,407

Employee benefits - 266.795 31.761 10.302 7.537 8.240 (5,842) 318,793. • 3,514 263 322,570

Medications and mecicai supplies • 578.581 43.203 12.266 9,946 4,127 • .648,123 1,149 • 649,272

Purchased services and <^r 25.638 312.373 42.723 15.951 13.068 17,383 (32,862) 394,274 11,398 (1.810) 403,862

Medicaid enhancernent tax - 64,036. 9,468 3.980 2,834 2,407 - 82,725 -  • • 82.725

Depreciation and amortization • 64.643 8,771 3.519 4,819 2,359 - 84,111 2,847
.

86,958

Interest 32.536 25.365 914 876 1.073 493 (29,530) 31.727 386 ■ 32,113

Total operating expenses 58.174 2.403.394 271.923 ■ 90.160 79.496 63.969 (113,463) 2.853.653 39,716 (462) 2.892,907

Operating (bss) mar^ (19.148) (12.619) (10.598) 13.845 7.997 1,550 2,179 (16.794) (4,487) 1798) (22,079)

Non^perating gains (losses)

Investmstt income (losses), net (8.026) (58.973) (2.068) (795) (1.114) (1,555) (210) (72.741) (6,003) -
(78,744)

Other components of net periodk: pension and post

retirement benefit income - 11,902 2,008 - • .  13.910 - • 13.910

Other (losses) income, net. (3.540) (1.641) (542) . 1 169 (1,969) (7,522) 66 798 (6.658)

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net (11.566) (48.712) (602) (795) (1.113) •  (1.386) (Z179) (66.353) (5,937) 798 (71.492)

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (30.714) (61,331) (11.200) 13.050 6.884 '  164 • (83,147) (10,424)
- (93.571)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital • 678 52 . 460 233 ■ 1,423 150 • 1.573

Change in funded status of pension and c#ier
postreliremenl benefits • (27.860) (4.496) - • 48 - (32,308) (1) • (32.309)

Net assets transferred to (from) affiiates 7.600 (19.385) 4.066 2,571 2,096 795 •
(2,257) 2.257 • •

Other changes in net assets - - - - (23) • (23) • • (23)

(Decrease) increase in net assets wtioul donor

restrtctions $  (23.114) $  (107.898) S  (11.578) S  15.621 $  9,417 S  1.240 S $  (116,312) i  (8.018) $ i  (124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Hearth

and Other C^and Cheshire and MAHHC and APD and VNH and System

fin thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiaries Subsidiarv Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and oth«r support
Patient senece revenue 5 $  1,751,093 S  . 236,645 $ 79,754 $  59,041 S  99,403 $  17,301 $ $  2,243,237

Contracted revenue 209 134.388 165 21 3,521 21 ■ (60,659) 77,666

Other operating revenue 38.568 494,363 23,794 7,527 4,370 14,587 2,708 (51,886) 534,031

Net assets released from restrictions 249 13,873 821 190 204 548 9 ■ 15,894

Total operating revenue and other si^)poit 39,026 2,393,717 261,425 87,492 67,136 114,559 20,018 (112,545) 2,870.828

Operating expenses -

Salaries • 1,091,601 135,116 40,219 29,729 47,352 15,534 (44,144) 1,315,407

Employee tienefits - 266.795 31,770 7,537 8,361 11,169 2,517 (5.579) '322,570

Medcations and medical suppfies - 578,581 43,203 . 9,946 4.126 12,297 1,123 (4) 649,272

Purchased services and other 25,638 315,589 42,938 13,067 18,072 18,915 4,313 (34.670) 403.862 •

Medcaid enhancement tax . 64,036 9,469 2,834 2,406 3,980 - . 82,725

DepredaSon and amortization - 64,643 8,895 4,819 2,483 5,595 523 - 86,958

Interest 32,536 25,365 914 1,073 493 1,204 58 (29,530) 32,113

Total operating expertses 58,174 2,406,610 272,305 79,495 65,670 100,512 24,068 (113,927) 2,892,907

Operating (loss) margin (19,148) (12,893) .  (10,880) 7,997 1,466 14,047 (4,050) 1,382 (22,079)

Non^operating gains (losses)
investment income Oosses), net (8,026) (61,039) (2,163) (1,114) (1.663) (1,373) (3,155) (211) (78,744)

Other components of net periodc pension and post

retirement benefit income 11,902 2,008 ■ • - - 13,910

Other (losses) income, net (3,540) (1.641) (542) 1 179 ■  - 56 (1,171) (6,658)

Total non-operating Oosses) gains, net (11,566) (50,778) (697) (1.113) (1.484) (1,373) (3,099) (1,382) (71,492)

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (30,714) (63,671) (11.577) 6,884 (18) 12,674 (7,149) -
(93,571)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital - 834 53 460 226 - - .  ■ 1,573

Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits • (27,860) (4,496) • 47 .

- • (32,309)

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 7,600 (19,391) 4,108 2,096 795 2,571 2,221 - -

Other changes in net assets . . .  • (23) - - • • (23)

(Decrease) increase in net assets vifthout donor
restrictions $  (23,114) S  (110,088) $  (11,912) S 9,417 $  1,050 $  15,245 S  (4.928) $ ■ $ (124,330)

56



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
between D-HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented
is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidating Information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL HOSPTIAL (MHMH)/
DARTMOUTH HITCHCOCK CLINIC PHC) \ Combined as DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFHCERS

Effective: January 1.2024

DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK

M. Elyse Allan, MBA
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer of General
Electric Canada Company, Inc.

Geraldine "Polly" Bednash, PhD, RN,
FAAN Adjunct Professor, Australian Catholic
University.

Laura M. Chiang, MD
Assistant Professor ofAnesthesiology and Critical Care;
Vice Chairfor Education, Dept. of Anesthesiology and Co-
Medical Director, Surgical Intensive Care Unit

Marcus P. Coe, MD, MS

Associate Professor, Residency Director, Department of
Orthopaedic Surgery, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical
Center and Geisel School of Medicine

Duane A. Compton, PhD
Ex-Officio: Dean, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, Dartmouth-
Hitchcock/Dartmouth Health

Garj'V. Dcsir, MD
Yale School ofMedicine: Paul B. Beeson Professor of
Medicine; Chair, Internal Medicine at Yale School of
Medicine and Yale New Haven Hospital; Vice Provost
for Faculty Development and Diversity, Yale University
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Celestina "Tina" M. Dooley-Joncs, PhD
Retired Senior Foreign Sendee Officer

Nancy M. Dunbar, MD
Medical Director, Blood Bank

Department ofPathologx/ and Laboratory Medicine

Roberta L. Hines, MD

IVTHMH/DHC Boards' Chair

Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiology, Yale School of Medicine

Keith J. Loud, MD - beginning in March 2024
Chair, Department of Pediatrics and 'Adolescent
Medicine

Jennifer L. Moyer, MBA
Managing Director & CAO, Wlnte Mountains Insurance
Group, Ltd

Sherri C. Oberg, MBA
CEO and Co-Founder of Particles for Humanity, PBC

David P. Paul, MBA

MHMH/DHC Boards' Secretary & Treasurer
Retired President & COO, }BG SMITH

Mark S. Speers, MBA
Co-founder & Senior Advisor, Health Advances, LLC
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Jonathan B. Thyng, MD
Medical Director, Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics Nashua

DARTMOUTH HEALTH

Mark W. Begor, MBA Chief
Executive O^cer, Equijax

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
Ex-OJfcio: CEO & President, Dartmoiith-
Hitchcock/Dartmouth Health

Thomas P. Glynn, FhD
Adjunct Lecturer, Harvard Kennedy School of Government

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
Dartmouth Health Board Treasurer & Secretary
Retired Investment Banker

Richard J. Powell, MD
Section Chief Vascular Surgery; Professor of Surgery and
Radiology

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI President
& CEO, Northeast Delta Dental

Edward Howe Stansficld, III, MA

Dartmouth Health Board Chair

Retired Senior Financial Advisor, Resident Director, of
Bank of America/Merrill Lynch
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Paul A. Taheri, MD, MBA

Clinical Partner - Welsh Cars

•  •

on Anderson and Stmoe

■

Pamela Austin Thompson,
Chief executive officer emeritu
Organization of Nurse Execu

.

MS, RN, CENP, FAAN
s of the American
ives (ACNE)

—

Exec/Governance Oversieht;

Kimberley A. Gibbs (603/650-8779)
Director, Executive Administration and Exec/Govemance
One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH 03756

kimberlev.a.gibbs®hitchcock.org

Administrative Support:

Claire M. Lillie (603/650-5244)

Exec. Coordinator forjExec/Govemance & Leadership
claire.m.lillie@hitchcock.org

Laura K. Rondeau (603/650-5706)
Exec. Coordinator forjExec/Govemance & Leadership
laura.k.rondcau@hitchcock.org
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Patrick R Hattan, MD

Professional Licenses/Certifications:

New Hampshire State Medical License
American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology-certified physician

Professional Experiences:

New Hampshire Hospital, Concord, NH

• Associate Chief Medical Officer

•  President, Medical Staff Organization
• Attending psychiatrist, inpatient psychiatric unit
• Chair, Medical Records Committee

• Member, Best Practice Committee

• Member, Electronic Health Record Committee

• Member, Seclusion & Restraint Committee

Academic Background:

Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Hanover, NH

Assistant professor of psychiatry

June 2023-25

Sep 2019-2029

July 2017-present
October 2020-present
June 2022-present
July 2017-present
Dec 2019-present
October 2020-present
Dec 2019-present
Jan 2018-present

July 2017-present

Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School July 2012-June 2017
Cambridge, MA
Internship in General Internal Medicine
Residency in Adult Psychiatry

Areas of special focus in addition to standard residency curriculum:

PGY4 focus on junior resident supervision and medical student teaching (see below)
PGY4 focus on Emergency Psychiatry
Ambulatory Community Service, CHA Outpatient Psychiatry Dept
•  Specialty clinic serving the severe and persisteritly mentally ill.
Center for Mindfulness and Compassion, CHA Outpatient Psychiatry Dept
•  Founding member.

Dartmouth Medical School, Hanover, NH

MD

Aug 2008-June 2012

McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada Sep 2003-June 2008
Bachelor of Arts and Science, major concentrations in Biomedical Studies and History
Graduated with Great Distinction {Magna Cum Laude equivalent)

New Hampshire Technical Institute, Concord, NH
Part-time post-secondary studies, undeclared concentration

Sep 2001-Dec 2002

Peer-reviewed Publications:



Barnes N, Hattan P, Black DS, Schuman-Olivier Z. An Examination of Mindfulness-Based
Programs in US Medical Schools. Mindfulness. Published online: 2016, Oct 6. DO!
10.1007/S12671 -016-0623-8. y

Bambico FR, Lacoste B, Hattan PR, Gobbi G. Father absence in the monogamous
California mouse impairs social behavior and modifies dopamine and glutamate synapses
in the medial prefrontal cortex. Cerebral Cortex. 2015 May; 25(5): 1163-75. DOI
10.1093/cercor/bht310.

Bambico FR, Hattan PR, Garant JP, Gobbi G. Effect of delta-Q-tetrahydrocannabinol on
behavioral despair and on pre- and postsynaptic serotonergic transmission. Progress in
neuro-psychopharmacology and biological psychiatry. 2012 Jul 2; 38(1): 88-98. DOI
10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.02.006.'

Poster Presentations:

Barnes N, Black DS, Hattan P, Schuman-Olivier Z. The Emergence of Academic
Mindfulness Centers Associated with Medical Schools (AMCAMS). Poster presentation
at the Mind and Life International Symposium on Contemplative Studies. Oct 2014.

Bambico F, Hattan P. Cannabinoids elicit antidepressant-like behaviour and activate
serotonergic neurons through the medial prefrontal cortex. Poster presentation at
Programs and Abstracts of the 17th Annual Symposium on the Cannabinoids. June
2007.

Supervisory/Teaching Experience:

Course Instructor, The Psychiatric Interview Dec 2023-present
General adult psychiatry PGY1 didactic

Clinical supervision of PGY2 general adult psychiatry Jul 2017-June 2023
house officers and 3rd year medical students
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center/Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Individual psychotherapy supervision Jul 2016-June 2017
Supervised a PGY2 resident for 4 psychotherapy cases and 1 therapy group
Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Medical student teaching Nov 2016-Dec 2016
Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Chiefship of the PGY1 psychiatry intern class Jul 2016-June 2017
Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Individual psychopharmacology supervision
Supervised three PGY3 residents in a Transitions Clinic serving patients needing short-
term treatment while between providers
Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Neuroanatomy Teaching Assistant, 300-level anatomy course , Sep 2007-Dec 2007
Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, McGill University



Lectures/Presentations;

Hattan P, Terminal Illness: A Case of Iritractable Suicidality and a Bad Outcome
New Hampshire Hospital Case Conference May 2023

Hattan P, Nagarajan T, Stanclu C, Praharaj D, The Neurobiological Effects and
Pharmacological Management of Inhalant Use Disorder
New Hampshire Hospital Case Conference March 2021

Hattan P, Engima: Treatment Planning with a High-Risk Patient Who Does Not Want to
be Understood y

New Hampshire Hospital Case Conference . May 2018

Hattan P, Iritroduction to Psychopharmacology, parts 1 and 2 Nov 2016
Post-doctoral Psychology seminar, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Hattan P, De-escalating the Agitated Patient June 2016
PGY1 intern orientation for general internal medicine, psychiatry, and transitional
residents, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard Medical School

Hattan P, Fundamentals of Neuroanatomy Jan 2016
Brain & Behavior: P(3Y3 psychiatry seminar, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard
Medical School

Hattan P, Depression in Animals and Animal Models Mar 2015
Brain & Behavior: PGY3 psychiatry seminar, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard
Medical School

Hattan P, Antipsychotic Medications for the Treatment of Psychosis Oct 2014
Psychopharmacology: PGY3 psychiatry seminar, Cambridge Health Alliance/Harvard
Medical School

Hattan P. Antipsychotic Medications, QTc Prolongation, and Sudden Cardiac Death.
Consult/Liaison Psychiatry: PGY2 psychiatry seminar, Cambridge Health
Alliance/Harvard Medical School June 2014

Hattan P, Metastatic Struma Ovarii June 2011
Dept of Obstetrics & Gynecology Grand Rounds, California Pacific Medical Center, San
Francisco, CA

Employment Experience:

Research Assistant Sep 2007-Aug 2008
Department of Neurobiology and Psychiatry, McGill University
.  Obtained proficiency in single-cell electrophysiology and behavioral modeling in

experimental animals. Researched novel antidepressants and animal bonding.

House staff 2003
Killarney International Youth Hostel, Ireland



Teaching Assistant, grades kindergarten - 5 2000-2002
Salisbury-Elementary School, .Salisbury, NH

Extracurricular/Honors: ^

Patient Care Award, Cambridge Health Alliance May 2014
•  Recognized by the hospital for compassionate patient care based on patient-based

survey

Gold Humanism Honors Society, Dartmouth Medical School June 2012
•  Elected by classmates for representing the values humanism in medicine

Psychiatry Department Award, Dartmouth Medical School June 2012
•  Recipient from the graduating class of 2012

American Medical Student Association, DMS chapter Sep 2008-Aug 2011
•  Chapter president 08/09-08/11

Adult Mentor Sep 2006-June 2007
Big Brothers Big Sisters of Greater Montreal

Personal Information;

DOB July 27, 1982
Native of Salisbury, New Hampshire



Samantha Swetter, M.D.

Samantha Swetter, M.D.

I. Education

May 2012-May 2014
Albert Einstein College of Medicine
Doctor of Medicine Program,
Degree: M.D.

July 2009-May 2012
Albert Einstein College of Medicine
Medical Scientist Training Program
Department of Biochemistry

August 2003 - June 2009
University of Nebraska - Lincoln
B.S. Mechanical Engineering
Pre-medlcine Professional Program
Minor: International Engineering
Honors Thesis: "Resistance Characterization of a HiPIMS Plasma Discharge."

II. Postdoctoral Training

July 2014-June 2018
Psychiatric Residency Training, Chief Resident
The Mount Sinai Hospital; New York, NY

III. Academic Appointments

August 2018 - present
Assistant Professor of Psychiatry
Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

IV. Institutional Leadership Roles

Associate Medical Director; Nov 2020 - present; New Hampshire Hospital
Secretary of Medical Staff Organization's Executive Committee; July 2019 - June 2022;

New Hampshire Hospital
Co-Chair of Utilization Management Committee; Nov 2018 - present; New Hampshire

Hospital

V. Licensure and Certification

New Hampshire, Medical License and DBA

VI. Hospital Appointments and Other Clinical and Review Positions

August 2018 - present
Psychiatrist on General Adult Admissions, Long-Term Care, and Forensic Units



New Hampshire Hospital; Concord, NH
Lead an interdisciplinary team treating patients with serious mental illness on an acute
care unit.

Nov 2017-June 2018

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Consultant
HPR Treatment Centers; New York, NY

Conduct initial TMS evaluations and brain mapping for TMS.

July 2016-June 2018
Insurance Appeals Evaluator
The Mount Sinai Hospital; New York, NY
Evaluate insurance claim denials and make formal written appeals to the insurance
providers.

September 2016 - September 2017
Per Diem Staff Psychiatrist
St. Joseph's Medical Center; Yonkers, NY
Per diem coverage of consult liaison, emergency room, and 29 inpatient beds on nights
and weekends. Responsible for triaging new consults and staffing urgent consults/floor
issues.

VII. Professional Development Activities

Leading at Dartmouth Health, a Leadership Development Course
Dartmouth Health

Jan 2023 - March 2023

Structured Interview for Psychosis-Risk Syndromes (SIPS) and Scale for Prodromal
Symptoms (SOPS) Training and Certification;

PRIME Research Clinic

Feb 3, 2018

TMS Training and Certification;
Brainsway
Nov 9. 2017

Suboxone Training;
The American Osteopathic Academy of Addiction Medicine
Apr 26, 2017

Transforming Clinical Practice Initiative;
APA learning collaborative on collaborative care for New York residents led by University

of Washington
Sep 2016-Dec 2016

VIII. Teaching Activities

A. Undergraduate teaching
Physiology Lab Teaching Assistant, May 2008 - Dec 2008
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B. Undergraduate Medical Education
Psychiatry Shelf Review for Medical Students, Mar 2015
Assistant Professor of Psychiatry at Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth,

August 2018 - present. Medical student education embedded in inpatient clinical
care

Critical Thinking, MS3 psychiatry clerkship course for on-site students, February 2023 -
present

C. Graduate Medical Education (GME) teaching:
Ethics Case Lecture to Psychiatry PGYIs, Mar 2015
Clinical Case Lecture to Psychiatry PGY2s, Oct 2015
Clinical Lectures to Psychiatry PGYIs, Aug 2016 - Mar 2017:

Lectures given include: First break psychosis. Delirium, contraindications to'
common PRNs, Alcohol use disorder-

Co-Leader for Psychiatry PGY1 Didactic Course, May 2016-Jul 2017
Chief Resident, July 2017 - July 2018
Assistant Professor of Psychiatry at Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth,

August 2018 - present. Resident education embedded in inpatient clinical care
Career Series - inpatient Psychiatry, guest lecturer, November 2018 - November

2021

IX. Engagement, Community Service/Education

Post-secondary education counseling at Frederick Douglas Academy ill High School,
May 2012 - June 2018,-8 hours/year

Einstein Community Health Outreach - Student-run No Fee Clinic, Apr 2013 - May 2014
Session Coordinator, -20 hours/year

Homeless Outreach Program at Einstein, May 2012 - May 2013, Educational Session
Facilitator, -10 hours/year

Volunteer at Bryan LGH Medical Center Emergency Room, Nov 2007 - May 2009, Staff
Support, -40 hours/year

Notetaker for Students with Disabilities at University of Nebraska - Lincoln, Jan 2004 -
May 2004, Jan 2009 - Feb 2009, Notetaker, -20 hours/year

X. Research Activities

Readiness for Coordinated Specialty Care in New Hampshire,
April 2021-May 2022
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center, Lebanon, NH

Survey of the organizational readiness to implement Coordinated Specialty Care for First
Episode Psychosis at New HampSjhire Community Mental Health Centers.
Role: Primary Investigator
Sponsor; none

Mental Health Perceptions in Rural Uganda
March 2014-May 2014
Kisoro, Uganda
Develop, implement, and analyze surveys regarding mental health perceptions in the
rural communities of Kisoro, Uganda.
Sponsor: Albert Einstein College of Medicine
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p. falciparum infected erythrocytes as an aptamer target,
August 2009-March 2012
Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx; NV
Artificially evolve ribonucleic small molecules to elucidate parasite biology and provide
novel diagnostic/therapeutic strategies for Plasmodium falciparum-'mfected erythrocytes.
Role: Medical Scientist Training Program Candidate
Sponsor: Albert Einstein College of Medicine

. Clotting Factor Purification and Characterization,
May 2008 - May 2009
University of Nebraska - Lincoln
Purification of rFVIII from transgenic murine milk. Characterization of a portable fibrin
sealant bandage for arterial hemorrhage
Role: Undergraduate Research Assistance
Sponsor: Undergraduate Creative Activities and Research Experience (UCARE)
Program

High Power Impulse Magnetron Sputtering Modeling,
August 2006-May 2008
University of Nebraska - Lincoln
Characterization and equation modeling of plasma field used in kinetic sputtering.
Role: Undergraduate Research Assistance
Sponsor: Undergraduate Creative Activities and Research'Experience (UCARE)
Program

XI. Program Development

Psychosis Early Action, Resource, and Learning Service (PEARLS)
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Jan 2022 - present
Type: Administrative
Mission: Implement PEARLS as a statewide resource for training, consultation, and
technical assistance for Coordinated Specialty Care model
Role: New Hampshire Hospital Lead '
Outcomes: Model Fidelity

Value-Based Pilot for Health and Recovery Plan Members
The Mount Sinai Hospital
Sep 2016 - June.2018
Type: Clinical
Mission: Engage high-risk mental health populations in wrap-around services to improve
health outcomes.

Role: Consolidate referral data to Medicaid Home and Community-Based Services
(HCBS) for high-risk populations and help analyze for quality improvement measures.
Outcomes: Referral rate

Tele-supervision and Training Program for Rural Practitioners in Liberia
The Mount Sinai Hospital
Aug 2017-June 2018
Type: Clinical
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Mission: Increase access to mental health sen/ices in rural Llberian communities.

Role: Tele-supervisor and mentor for practitioners.

XII. Major Committee Assignments, inclusive of Professional Societies

Member; Academic Progress Committee; March 2023 - present; Geisel School of
■ Medicine

Treasurer; New Hampshire Psychiatric Society; May 2021 -present
Chair or co-chair of Utiiization Management Committee; Nov 2018 - present; New

Hampshire Hospital
Secretary of Medical Staff Organization's Executive Committee; Nov 2019 - present;

New Hampshire Hospital
Community Service Committee Member, American Psychiatric Association; March

2017- June 2018

Engineers Without Borders - University of Nebraska (EWB-UN),
Co- President of University Chapter, Aug 2008 - May 2009,
Community Health Assessment Committee Chair of University Chapter,
Nov 2008 - May 2009

International Association for the Exchange of Students for Technical Experience
(lAESTE), President of University Chapter, Sep 2004 - Mar 2007

Xiil. Institutional Center or Program Affiliations

Department of Psychiatry's Awards for Innovation, Research, and Scholarship (AIRS)
selection committee Nov 2021 - present ^

New Hampshire Committee for the Protection of Human Subjects March 2022 - present
New Hampshire Healthcare Workers for Climate Action Sep 2021 - present
American Psychiatric Association Feb 2017 - present
Anxiety and Depression Association of America Oct 2017 - June 2018

XIV. Editorial Boards

Einstein Journal of Biological Medicine, May 2011 - May 2012
Assistant Editor

XV.Awards and Honors

ADAA Alies Muskin Career Development Leadership Program Award, Nov 2017
Global Health Fellow to Uganda, Jan 2013
Grant recipient for undergraduate research (UCARE), May 2006, May 2008
NASA Nebraska Space Grant Scholarship Recipient, Nov 2007
Milton E. Mohr Mechanical Engineering Scholarship Recipient, July 2007
InfoUSA sponsee in "This is India!" Exchange Program, Mar 2007
Department of Education grant recipient for foreign exchange to Brazil (FIPSE), Dec

2006

Society of American Military Engineers Scholarship, Nov 2006
Tau Beta Pi Inductee, Aug 2005
Pi Tau Sigma Inductee, Jan 2005
University Honor's Program, May 2003
Regent's Four Year Tuition Scholarship, May 2003
Engineering & Technology Four Year Scholarship, May 2003
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XVI. ; Invited Presentations

Regional
November 2023

Evidenced-Based Medicine in Mental Illness *

Office of Public Guardian

New Hampshire

October 2023

First Episode Psychosis at New Hampshire Hospital *
PEARLS Virtual Learning Collaborative
Dartmouth Health

June 2023

Evidenced-Based Medicine: A Focus on Schizophrenia
NHH Grand Rounds Committee

New Hampshire Hospital

June 2021

Catching Catatonia
NHH Grand Rounds Committee

New Hampshire Hospital

.  January 2021
New Hampshire Hospital and Severe Mental Illness * •
Adventures in Learning
Colby-Sawyer College,

October 2017

The Borderline Fagade
Mount Sinai Hospital

August 2017-
Wldening Your Differential Diagnosis *
Mount Sinai Hospital

March 2017

Mental Illness Signs and Symptoms
"Me Too"

Albert Einstein College of Medicine

XVII. Bibliography

A. Peer-reviewed publications in print or other media

Swetter, S., Fader, R., Christian, T., Swetter, B. (2018). Compulsive Sexual Behavior.
Evaristo Akerele (Ed.), Substance and Non-Substance Related Addictions. Springer
Nature. 2022.*
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Hanna, J., Swetter, S. (2018). A Case of Delirium and Rhabdomyolsis in Severe
Opiate Withdrawal. Psychosomatics. 59(4): 405-407. *

Meyer, J.P., Swetter, S.K., & Kellner, C.H. (2018). Electroconvulslve therapy (EOT) in
geriatric psychiatry; A selective review. Psychiatric Clinics of North America. 41(1): 79-
93. *

Cumper, S., Ahle, G,, Liebman, L., & Kellner, C. (2014). Electroconvulsive therapy
(EOT) in Parkinson's Disease; ECS and dopamine enhancement. JECT. 30(2), 122-
124.*

B. Other scholarly work in print or other media:

Peer-reviewed article in non-indexed publication:
Swetter, Samantha. (2017). Unexpected trauma. The American Journal of Psychiatry
- Residents' Journal. 12{7),\o.

C. Abstracts (include both oral, exhibit and poster presentations):

Poster Presentation - Recombinant Clotting Proteins for use In Arterial Bandages
University of Nebraska - Lincoln. May 2008

Poster Presentation - High Power Impulse Magnetron Sputtering Modeling
University of Nebraska - Lincoln. May 2008
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Erik Matthew Shessler, MDCM

CURRENT EMPLOYMENT

Dartmouth-Health Manchester General Pediatrician

Chief of Primary Pediatrics at DH Manchester
Associate Medical Director for DH Manchester

Adjunct Assistant Professor at Dartmouth Medical School

07/2008- Present

11/2010- Present

01/2018-Present

09/2008- Present

Chair of Dartmouth Health Children's-Primary Care Committee 01/2012-Pre$ent

PAST EMPLOYMENT

Section Chief of Pediatrics at Catholic Medical Center

Content expert AAMC Project CORE
(Coordinating Optimal Referral Experiences)

01/2011-01/2019

06/2017-2020

UNDERGRADUATE EDUCATION:

. McGilj University, Montreal, QC, Canada
Major: Biology

09/01/1997-06/08/2001

BS with Honors

MEDICAL EDUCATION:

McGill University School of Medicine
Montreal, QC, Canada

09/01/2001-05/31/2005

MDCM 05/31/2005

RESIDENCY TRAINING

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH
Pediatric Residency Program

06/28/2005-06/27/2008

BOARD CERTIFICATION:

American Board of Pediatrics: Certified 10/12/2009 Currently In Good Standing

CERTIFICATIONS:
PALS,NRP-

HONORS AND AWARDS:

NH Magazines Top 40 under 40 award for contributions to wellfare of NH Feb 2019
Parent Information Center Family Engagement Month Recognition Award Get 2018
Richard Waters "Art of the Physician Award" (Voted on by DH factulty and residents and awarded

Yearly to a graduating pediatric resident) June 2008

Friday, February 02, 2024



PROFESSIONAL AND SOCIETY MEMBERSHIPS:

American Academy of Pediatrics
NH Chapter of the AAP
American Medical Association

COMMITTEES/ORGANIZATIONS:

President of the NH Chapter of the AAP, ' 07/2020- 07/2023
Medical Director for NH PIP 06/2019-Present

(Pediatric Improvement Partnership),
Chair of DH Manchester Patient/Family Advisor Council 03/2015-Present
Clinical Lead for DH Pediatric CORE Program 05/2016-Present
Member of the DH Ambassador Program, 07/2019-Present
Member of Planning committee for Leadership Development Institute for

Dartmouth Hitchcock 09/10-2014

PRESENTATIONS;

1. "Growth Hormone, Legal and Illegal Uses" (CHaD Pediatric Grand Rounds 4/6/2008)
2. "Pre-Participation Physical Exam" (NH PA Society 10/2010)
3. "Improving Access and Value Through eConsults and Project CORE" (2019 Quality and

Safety in Children's Health Conference, 3/19/19
4. "The Adolescent Brain: Supporting Emerging Autonomy in the Health Care Setting" (CHaD

Pediatric Grand Rounds 9/8/2021)
5. "Integration and Holistic Care eConsult" (AAMC 2023 CORE Symposium, 3/18/2023)
6. Recurring "Vaccine Hesitancy" Medical student lecture bimonthly 2021-Present

PUBLICATIONS/POSTER PRESENTATIONS:

Author:

Technologic Advancements in Diabetes Care. Adolescent Medicine. 2008
21(l):129-37.

Author/Poster Presentation:

eConsults: Improving Access and Quality and the Interface of Primary Care and Pediatric
Subspecialties. Pediatric Academic Society 05/2017.

Chief Editor:

Shessler, E., Keller, D., Shipman, S., Thompson, M., Miller; C., Laguna, M., Thome, B., &
Rohloff, R. (2022). EConsults in Action - Pediatrics. (C. Miller, M. Thompson, S. Shipman, D.
Keller, & E. Shessler, Eds.). Self-Published.

Friday, February 02, 2024



Alexander J. Horvath

Expertise

• Healthcare economics

• Strategic planning
• Financiaf management
• Teambuilding
• Leadership development
• Communication

Lean Six Sigma Black Belt performance improvement
combined with a coherent translation of the complex to
simple logic. Active listening, transparency, and an acute
ability of "getting to yes" promote teams toward strategies
that work smarter.

Technoloqv

• Customized spreadsheet
builds

•  Integrated application
development

• Telehealth

• Financial software

• Statistical software

• Project management
software

Proficiency with both utilization and application
customizations, supporting team learning, comfort, and
confidence with technology tools that enhance the work at
hand. Advanced skill with' Excel, PowerPoint, Word, Zoom,
Webex, Liquid Planner, JIRA, Confluence, Quickbooks.

Publications

• Healthcare delivery costs
• Process impact on outcomes

• •. Financial impact of change

• - Sustainability models

Wamer, CJ, Horvath AJ, Powell RJ, Columbo JA, Walsh
TR, Goodney PP, Walsh DB, Stone DH. Endovascular
aneurysm repair delivery redesign leads to quality
improvement and cost reduction. J Vase Surg 62:285-289,
2015

Stone DH, Horvath AJ, Goodney PP, Rzucidio EM, Nolan
BW, Walsh DB, Zwolak RM, Powell RJ. The Financial
Implications of Endovascular Aneurysm Repair in the Cost
Containment Era. J Vase Surg 59:283-290, 2014 ^

Warner CJ, Walsh DB, Horvath AJ, Walsh TR, Herrick DP,
Prentiss SJ, Powell RJ. Lean principles optimize on-time
vascular surgery operating room starts and decrease
resident work hours. J Vase Surg 58:1417-1422, 2013

Presentations

■

Lauching a Proactive Consultation-liaison Psychiatry
Service: A How-to Skills Session for Participants, 2019
ACLP Annual Meeting, Academy of Consultation Liaison
Psychiatry, San Diego, CA

Telemedicine Panel: Return on Investment for

Telemedicine, 2015 Northern New England Clinical
Oncology Society Spring Meeting, Portsmouth New
Hampshire



Experience

Interim President/CEO

October 2023-Present

West Central Behavioral Health, Lebanon, NH

• Organizational leadership
• Financial management

• Strategic planning

Community Mental Health Center serving Claremont,
Newport, Lebanon and surrounding towns
-Interim leader to providing stabilization to the
organization during an unanticipated leader transition.
- Leading State accreditation re-approval process.
- Leading re-engagement of the organization in the
CCBHC development and designation process.
- Preparing organization for next leader through
management re-organization, systems development and
improvement, and community partner engagement.

ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTOR

April 2019-Present
Dartmouth-Hitchcock, Lebanon, NH

Department of Psychiatry

• Administrative leadership.
• Financial management

Strategic planning

Academic Health System servicing NH and VT
-Design and implementation of new administrative
structures supporting all areas of the Department
(clinical, education and research).
-In conjunction with the Department Chair, leadership of
strategy execution, operations and improvement projects
for the Psychiatric Service Line within the health system.
- Administrative and project leadership for multi-
disciplinary team to develop coordinated transgender
services within the health system.

- Administrative and co-project leadership for provider
staff planning associated with new patient pavilion
opened in 2023
- Leadership for all administrative functions, including
interface with centralized functions of the health system.
- Course leader for psychiatry residents, Understanding
and Negotiating Provider Employment Contracts,
Dartmouth-Hitchcock, 2019-2023

- Course leader for psychiatry residents, Healthcare
Economics, Dartmouth-Hitchcock, 2021 - 2023
- Course leader for psychology trainees, Business of
Psychology, Dartmouth-Hitchcock, 2023
- Course leader for neuropsychology post-docs, Business
of Neuropsycholoqy, Dartmouth Hitchcock, 2023

CONSULTANT

Dec 2015-present

Tangin, LLC. Enfield, NH

•. Software implementation
• Strategic planning

• Executive coaching
• Meeting facilitation
• Reorganization

Founding Partner of Tangin, LLC, currently providing
consulting services within environments conducive to
innovative growth and development of programs,
products, and people. Past projects include:



Project management -Interim financial and operational leadership for the River
Valley Club
-Mental Health and Substance Use Treatment integration
within primary care practices at an academic medical
center

-Retrospective and predictive analytics platform
development and deployment for perioperative services
within an academic medical center

-Strategic planning for integrated spine care service line
within an academic medical center

-Project leadership for technological platform
customization and migration for Aquifer, an online
medical education company

-Executive coaching and leadership team development
for Aquifer, an online medical education company

ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTOR

Got 2013-Jan2016

Dartmouth-Hitchcock, Lebanon, NH
Center for Telehealth

• Administrative leadership
• Financial management

• Strategic planning

Academic Heaith System servicing NH and VT
-Leadership in strategic industry partnerships for D-H.
-Leadership and oversight of telehealth implementations
and ongoing operations within D-H and with exrternal
customers.

-Development and execution of Center for Telehealth
strategic, operational, and financial plans in accordance
with D-H mission and strategy.

SENIOR PRACTICE MANAGER

Aug 2010-0ct 2013
Dartmouth«Hitchcock, Lebanon, NH

Heart and Vascular Center

Administrative leadership
Financial management
Strategic planning
Research and process
improvement

Academic Health System servicing NH and VT
-Design, development, and implementation of a predictive
business model for effective resource allocation;
facilitated assignment of people to work rather than work
to people.
-Alignment of capacity and capability that'resulted in
more than $1M of recurring annual operational savings.

-Leadership via collaboration, patient-focus, and
relationship building hence Improving physician and staff
satisfaction.

- Application and acceptance of clinical trial amongst three
competing departments within the organization.
-Leadership of several successful multi-disciplinary
process improvement projects inclusive of EVAR care
path resulting in $1.5M annual margin impact, national
publications, and participation in an international
fellowship.
-Outreach and prograrh expansion to the Southern
regions of NH and VT.
-Design and facilitation of a plan for developrpenfof the
"Heart and Vascular Center.



s

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Sept 2003-Julv2010

Clara Martin Center, Randolph, VT

• Administrative leadership
• Financial leadership

"  • Strategic planning
HR oversight

Community Mental Health Center serving Orange
County Vermont

-Recruited back to agency for design and implementation
of financial turn-around.

-Fiscal management inclusive of implementation of new
computer systems and technology to facilitate
compliance and operational optimization.
-Leadership within the state for health policy issues
around mental health services and funding.
-Development of sustainable financial and operating
models for each service line of the organization.

-Improved all financial metrics related to liquidity, debt,
and performance.
-Lead performance management and compensation.
restructure to align with business goals and objectives.
-Focus on community partnerships and integration of
mental health services resulting in successful negotiation
of numerous community partnerships.

DIRECTOR OF BUSINESS

DEVELOPMENT

Sept 2002-Sept 2003

Medical Systems, inc., Peabody, MA

• Planning and operations
•  • Market analysis

'  • Sales and partnerships

Software company providing practice management
solutions to FQHCs

-Evaluation of business partnerships and acquisitions.
-Development of product outreach and sales plan.
-Community health center consults for customer product
design customization.

\

VICE PRESIDENT OF CLINICAL

SERVICES

Sept 2000-Sept 2002

Valley Regional Healthcare, Claremont, NH

• Planning and operations

• Administrative leadership

Critical Access Hospital
-Quality assurance and improvement project leadership
resulting in design and implementation of new
performance management system, facilities
Improvements, and new clinical partherships.
-Demonstration of responsive leadership capability by
accepting VP position in time of organizational crisis,
resulting in successful CMS regulatory review and
operational improvements.

-Built comprehensive financial model for negotiation of
first nursing union contract

PHYSICIAN PRACTICE

MANAGER AND DIRECTOR OF

COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTER

Valley Regional Healthcare, Claremont, NH



Aug 1999-Aug 2000

• Planning and .operations
• Administrative leadership

■ • Practice management.

Critical Access Hospital
-Restructure of physician compensation to align with
business objectives.

- Integration of specialty practices with nearby academic
medical center.

-Development and implementation of new laboratory
business.

DIRECTOR OF OPERATIONS

AND FINANCE

Sept 1996-Aug 1999

Clara Martin Center, Randolph, VT,

• Administrative leadership
• Financial leadership

• Strategic planning
• HR oversight

Community Mental Health Center serving Orange
County Vermont

-Standardized, transparent, and easy to understand
financial reporting and presentations to the board of
directors and external funding sources.
-Leadership of the administrative resources supporting
both clinical and administrative operations.

-Oversight of Accounting, Accounts Receivable, Accounts
Payable, IS, and Human Resources Departments.
-Development and execution of long-term and short-term
strategic plans.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS

CONSULTANT
Aug 1994-Sept 1996

West Central Services and Behavioral Information

Systems, Lebanon, NH

• Grant project design
• HIT consulting
• Service/Product development

Community Mental Health Center serving Claremont,
Newport and Lebanon

-Co-leadership of the development of a NH state
sponsored grant to form the Behavioral Health Systems
Company.
-Design and implement^ion of the company's operating
structure.

-Planning and management of the implementation of
WAN and SCO UNIX server technology for customers.
-Management of the product development projects,
company financial operations, and human resources..

ASSOCIATE CONSULTANT

Aug1990-July 1994
Analysis Group, Inc. & Integral, Inc.,
Boston, MA •"

• IT Group.
• Product Development

'• Research Analyst-Economic
Consulting Group

Global economic and strategy consulting company
-Accountability for statistical support in the preparation of
economic testimony for large corporate litigation resulted
in detailed and thorough trial exhibits.
-Demonstrated collaborative teamwork in developing
economic models and industry papers on trends in
telecommunications and healthcare industries.

-Creation of information technology solutions.



-Developed and managed professional relationships with
factory employees, product managers, and executive
officers of clients.

-Provided support and leadership to the product
development efforts of several manufacturing clients.
-Conducted financial and process audits to determine
optimization of business opportunities.
-Demonstration of analytical and presentation skills
resulted in quick progression within company.

Experience

Lean Six Sigma Black Belt (LSSBB), Villanova University, July 2015

B.A., Union College, 1990 Major: Managerial Economics
Other related,fields of study: accounting, mathematics, physics and engineering. Economics
Thesis: Consumer Reactions Resulting from Cost Changes in Health Insurance.



NH Department of Health and Human Services

KEY PERSONNEL

List those primarily responsible for meeting the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Job descriptions not required for vacant positions.

Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

NAME JOB TITLE

ANNUAL

AMOUNT PAID

FROM THIS

CONTRACT

ANNUAL

SALARY

Patrick Hattan, MD CMC, Hampstead Hospital .  $175,000.00 $350,000.00

Samantha Swetter, MD CMC, Hampstead Hospital $175,000.00 $350,000.00

Erik Shessler, MD General Medical Director, HHRTF $53,998.00 $269,990.00

Alexander J. Horvath Administrative Director $134,044.89 $200,067.00
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Ellen M. Lapointe
Chief Executive OfHcer

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL

36 CLINTON STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-27I-S300 I-800-8S2-334S ExL 5300

Fax:603-271-5395 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964

www.dhhs.nh.gov

November 28, 2022

His Excellency. Govembr Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, New Hampshire Hospital, to
enter Into a Sol© Source amendment to an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital (VC# 177160), Lebanon, NH, to add one (1) additional Advanced Practice Registered
Nurse clinical position to the psychiatric and medical services provided at New Hampshire
Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital, by Increasing the price limitation by
$722,655 from $60,821,398 to $61,544,053 with no change to the contract completion date of
June 30, 2026, effective upon Governor and Council approval. 40% General Funds. 60% Other
Funds (Provider Fees).

#31.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on March 23, 2022, Item

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Year 2023, and are
anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Years 2024 through 2026, upon the availability and
continued appropriation of funds In the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget
line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the
Budget Office, if needed and justified.

05.95-94-940010-87500000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT OF, HHS: NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL; New Hampshire HOSPITAL, ACUTE
PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022 ■ "102-500731
Contracts for

•  Prgm Svc
94058000 $5,881,431 $0 $5,881,431;

2023 102-500731
Contracts for

'Prgm Svc
94058000 $12,963,866 $111,907 $13,075,773

2024 102-500731
Contracts for

Prgm Svc 94058000 $13,352,781 $197,595 $13,550,376

■2025 : 102-500731 'Contracts for
Prgm Svc 94058000 ■ $13,753,364 $203,524 $13,956,888

2026 102-500731
Contracts for

Prgm Svc 94058000 $14,165,965 $209,629 $14,375,594

i Subfofa/ . $60,117,407 $722.'655 $60,840,062

The Deportment of Health and Human Seroicee' Mission is to join communities a/id families
in providing opporlnnities for cUisens to achieve health and independence.
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His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

Page 2 of 3 . ,

05-95-91-910010-57100000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT OF HHS: GLENCLIF HOME^ GLENCLIF HOME, PROFESSIONAL CARE

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022 501-500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $73,193 $0 $73,193

2023 501-500729

Medical

Payments to

Providers

91000000 $150,778 $0 $150,778

2024 501-500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $155,302 $0 $155,302

2025 501-500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $159,960 $0 $159,960

2026 501-500729

Medical

Payments to
Providers

91000000 $164,758 $0 $164,758

Subtotal $703,991 $0 $703,991

<
Total $60,821,398 $722,655 $61,544,053

EXPLANATION

This request is Sole Source because the Department is modifying the scope of services
and adding funding. The Department originally selected the Contractor through a competitive bid
process using a Request for Proposals. The'Contractor is providing services satisfactorily under
this agreement and is uniquely experienced and qualified to attract, recruit, and retain Advanced
Practice Registered Nurses (APRN) with the appropriate experience and clinical skill level to
provide these vital services.

The purpose of this request is to modify the scope of services and add funding for the
Contractor to provide a total of two (2) APRN positions as part of the array of psychiatric and
medical services provided at New Hampshire Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic
Hospital. The Department continues to experience challenges recruiting for these positions.

The Contractor serves approximately 2,500 individuals annually at New Hampshire
Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital.

The Department will continue monitoring services through the quality assurance and
monitoring plans, and monthly, quarterly, and annual reports required by the Contractor.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the Department's ability to
have sufficient APRN staffing to provide non-emergent medical care to'adults admitted to New
Hampshire Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital will be limited, putting
individuals at serious risk.

Area served: Statewide
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His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

Page 3 of 3

In the event that the Other Funds become no longer available, additional General Funds
will not be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

— OocuSigned by:

Sticky-

—<6soeec;rc;9428...

Ellen M. Lapointe
Chief Executive Officer, NHH
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•  State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #1

This Amendment to the Psychiatric and Medical Services contract is by and between the State of New
Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or "Department") and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on March 23, 2022 (Item #31). ttie Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms
and conditions specified in the Contract and in consideration of certain sums specified: and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37. General Provisions, Paragraph 17 and Exhibit A, Revisions to
Standard Agreement Provisions, the Contract may be amended, upon written agreement of the parties
and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to increase the price limitation and modify the scope of services to support
continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$61,544,053

2. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.9, Contracting Officer for State Agency, to read:

Robert W. Moore, Director.

3. Modify Exhibit B. Scope of Services, Section 3, Service Area #2 Non-Emergent Medical Services,
Subsection 3.1, New Hampshire Hospital (NHH) and New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH),
Paragraph 3.1.3, to read:

3.1.3. Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN)

3.1.3.1. The Contractor shall provide two (2) FTE APRNs to complete primary, acute, and
specialty healthcare services. The Contractor shall ensure the APRNs:

V  3.1.3.1.1 Complete a board certification competency-based examination, with
credentials that remain valid for five (5) years, and completes specific
continuing education requirements to renew specialty certifications as
needed.

3.1.3.1.2. Treat patients with diagnosed disorders along with medical comorbidities
that require attention during their admission.

3.1.3.1.3. Consult with specialists statewide to improve medical comorbidities for
patients at NHH and NHFH. ■ '

3.1.3.1.4. Coordinate care with local community hospitals, to ensure patients
receive hospital-level medical care, if needed, outside of NHH and NHFH.

3.1.3.1.5. Assist and participate In various hospital-wide initiatives, such as
vaccination clinics, medical testing events, and other functions that may
result from a pandemic, or other public health related event.

4. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 1, to read:

1. This agreement is funded by;

1.1. 40% General funds.

1.2. 60% Other funds (Provider Fees). —ds

•gjM,
•Mary Hitchcock MemorialHospitai A-S-1.3 Contractor Initials,

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A01 Page lot 4 Date



DocuStgn Envelope ID: 8BC9401B-E201-4532-B818-27706D5DCBDB

5. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms. Section 3, to read;

3. The Contractor shall provide services under this Agreement based on the Budget below, per
applicable Service Area and Slate Fiscal Year. The Contractor shall be compensated to
provide and deliver the services described in Exhibit B. Scope of Services, on the basis of this
Budget.

Budget

Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year

Service

Area #1

1/1/2022-

6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$5,396,232 $11,964,355 $12,323,286 $12,692,985 $13,073,774

Service

Area Ul

1/1/2022-.

6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024 ■

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$558,392 $1,262,195 $1,382,391 $1,423,864 $1,466,579

3.1. The Contractor shall provide the Department, within each Service Area, a detailed
personnel listing for all staff performing services on an annual basis for each State Fiscal
Year, or more frequently as required by the Department, to ensure the accuracy of
information contained therein and proper cost allocation. The Contractor shall ensure
the listings:

3.1.1. Include information for each Service Area which Includes, but is not limited to:

3.1.1.1. Staff names.

3.1.1.2. Stafftitles.

3.1.1.3. Personnel costs inclusive of salary costs, fringe benefit costs, and
administrative cost rates.

3.1.2. Are in a format as determined and approved by the Department.

3.2. The Contractor shall automatically reduce invoices by the appropriate amount
immediately in the event a Contractor Personnel position becomes vacant, and is not
immediately filled. The Contractor can use temporary staffing to fill a position until a
permanent staff member is identified.

3.3. The Contractor shall ensure all providers and/or clinical staff are fully credentialed and
enrolled with insurance carriers prior to beginning work.

3.4. The Contractor shall.invoice the Department for each Service Area separately.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH.01 -A01

.A-S-1.3

Page 2 of 4-

Contractor Initials

Dale

-OS

12/6/2022
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All terms and conditions of the Contract not modified by this Amendment remain in full force and effect.
This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

—OocuSignid by.

12/6/2022

Date f^ap|{Q-'L'6n A. weaver

Title. Deputy Commissioner

12fe/2022

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

—OceuSigned by:

Merrens, md

Title, chief clinical Officer

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH.03-PSYCH-01 - A01

A-S-1.2

Page 3 of 4
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution. ' . ^

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

POocuSigncd by:
TiB'j.tBii'in: Ui:

Date Name;'^°°y" cuanno

Title: Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

/  OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.2

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01-A01 Page 4 of 4
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L«ri A. SUbiatttt
COBBitiioecr

COM l^Polatc

IS(Cf«D CUcf

CiKHttve Ofliccr

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHI^

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

NEW HOSPITAL

W CUNTON STREET. CONCORD, NH 03301
603-171A300 14004SM349EitS300

Fu: 603<271.S3M TDD Acem; l-«P0>73S>2964
www^hEsjih.|ev

February 10.2022

His Excellc^y. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the HorK)rable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTIOM

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, New Hampshire Hoa^al, to
enter Into a contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC#177160). Lebanon. NH, in the
amount of $60,821,390 for ttw provision of psychiatric and medical services at New Hampshire
Hospital (NHH), the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH), and Glencliff Home, with
the option to renew for up to six (6) additional years, effective upon Governor and Council approval
through June 30. 2026.42% General Funds. 58% Other Funds (Provider Fees).

This request represents one (1) of three (3) corresponding requests with Mary Hitchcock
■Memorial Hospital for the following services: 1) Psychiatric and Medical Services; 2)
Neuropsy^ology Services; and 3) Clinical and Adrninistrative Services. This request is contin^t
upon Goverrw arid Coundl approval of all three (3) requests.

Funds are available iri the following accounts for State Fiscal YeaTs 2022 arid 2023, and
are anticipated to be availat^e iri State Fiscal Years 2024 through 2026, upon the availability and
continued appropriation of funds in the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget
line Items within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the
Bi^get Ofnce, if needed and justified;
0$-95-94-940010-875dOOOO HEALTH AHD SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
PERT OF, HHS: NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, ACUTE
PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES

State
Fiscal Year

Class /
Account Class Title .Job Nufriber: Totiil Amount

2022 102-5()0731 Contracts for Prgm Svc / 94058000 $5i881.431 :

2023 102-500731 Contracts for Prgm Svc 94058000 412.963.866
2024 102-500731 Contracts for Prgm Svc 94056000 $13,352,781 ■
'2025 102-500731 •Contracts for Prgm Svc 94058000 $13.753,3M

2026 102-500731 Contracts for Prgm Svc 94056000 _$14,165;966^

,  1
Subtotal' $60,117,407

Vie Dtparlment ofHtohh'ohd Human Servkti'Miuion it to join cdmmunitUe and fomilm
in providing OKiorlunilitt '/or ciliithB ta^gchieve health and indepe/idtnee.
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HiS Excdtency. Governor Chrletopher T. Sununu
er^ the Honorable Cbundl

Page 2 of 3

PS.95-91-9ia0104f7100000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT OF HH8: GLENCLIFF, PROFESSIONAL CARE

State

Fiscal Year
Class /

Account
Class THIe Job Number Total Amount .

2022
101-500729 Medical Payments to

Providers
61000000 $73,193

1

2023
101-500729 Medical Payments to

Providers
91000000 $150,778

2024
101-500729 .Medical Payments to

Providers
91000000 $155,302

2025
101-500729 Medical Payments to

Prowdera
91000000 $159,960

2026
101-500729 Medical Payments to.

Providers
91000000 $164,758

Subtotal $703,991

Total $60,621,398

EXPUNATION

The D^3ftment currently has an agreement with the Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital,
which was competitively bid in 2016, to provide physician, dinical. and administrative services irt
seven (7) service areas: New Hampshire Hospital; Glenctiff Home; Medicald; Children, Youth,
and Families; Behavioral Health; Elderly and Adult Services; arid Developmental Services, the
existing agreement includes an option to renew services through June 30,2025. However, House
Bill 2, of the 2021 Regular Legislative Session, appropriated $30 million to the Department for the
purpose of constructing a 24-bed forensic psychiatric hospital.

Consequently, the Department needed to reassess the existing contracted services to
incorporate the new clinical needs arising from the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital
and released competitive bids for 1} Psychiatric and Medical Services ̂ nd 2} Neuropsychoiogy
Services. The Sole Source request listed below is to cohtlriue the otherfiye (5) service ar^ that
would have been continued under the existing agreement. The Contractor is uniquely experienced
arid qualified to provide the complex array of clinical, arid administrative services to the
Department In these five (5) service areas, which enable the Department to meet a wide range of
specialized health and clinical needs of New Hampshire residents.

The following table outlines the Department's reprocuremerit strategy, which includes
three (3) distinct actions. The Department will terminate the current agreement upon approval of
the contracts specified in the table. As noted below, the neuropsychoiogy, psychiatric, and
medical services cornponents of the existing contract have been bid out to incorporate the new
forensic psychiatric hospital needs rather than incorporating thern Into an existing agreement.
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Hid ExcdBdncy. Governor ChflitopherT. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

Pa^ 3 o( 3

Reprociirement Strategy

Deacrlption of
Service Area

Procurement DHHS Areas Servecl

Psychiatric and
Medical Services

RFP issued July 2021 NHH

Glencliff

Forensic Hospitar

Neuropsychofogy RFP issued November 2021 NHH

Forensic Hospital*

Clinical and

Administrative

Services

New Sole Source Medicaid

Children. Youth, and Families

Behavioral Health

Elderiy and Adult Services

Developmental Services ,

* The Department antcipates the Forensic Hospital will operr in State Fiscal Year 2024.

Approximately 2500 ir>dlviduals will be aerved annually.

The purpose of this feque^ Is for the Contractor to deliver psychiatric and medical services
to NHH, the planned NHFH, and Glencliff Homo by providing highly qualified personnel to meet
staffing needs and working with the Department to continue deveioping and refining an Integrated
mental health care system by applying prindples.of managed care for clinical treatment.

The bep^ment will monitor services by reviewing quality assurance and monitoring
plans, and monthly, quarterly and annual reports provided by the Contractor,

The Department selected the Contractor through a competitive bid process using a
Request for Proposals (RFP) that was posted on the Department's website from July 30, 2021
through September 29. 2021.'The Department received four (4) responses for Service Area 1 ■
Psychiatric Services and three (3) responses for Service Area 2 - Non-emergdnt Medical Care
that were reviewed and scored by'd team of qualified Individuals. The Scoring Sheets iare
arched

As referenced iri Exhibit A. Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions of the attached
agreement, the parties Have the qptloh to extend the egreemeril for up to six (6) additional years,
contingertt upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and
Governor and Coiindl approval.

Should the Gowrnor and Council not authorize this request, the State's ability to providB
essential psychiatric arid medical services to adults at NHH, the planned NHFH, and Glencliff
Home will be severely limited,^putting those individuals at serious risk.

-Area served: Statewide.

■Respectfully submitted,

Lori A. Shiblnette
Commissioner
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FORM NUMBER P-3r(version 12/11/2019)

Subiect:_Psychiatric and Medical Services (RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-0I)

Notice: This agreement and all of Iw attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Execulive Council for approval. Any information that is private, conlldentia! or proprietary must
be clearly idcntiHed to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The Slate of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

IDENTIFICATION.

LI State Agency Name

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

1.2 Slate Agency Address

129 Pleawni Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

1.3 Contractor Name

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

1.4 Contractor Address

One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NH 03756

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

(603)650.7549

1.6 Account Number

05-95-94-940010-

87500000; 05-95-91-

910010-57100000

1.7 Completion Date

June 30, 2026

1.8 Price Limitation

$60,821,398

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency

Nathan D. While, Director

1.10 State Agency Tclq)honc Number

(603)271-9631

1.11 Contractor Signature
r^DocuSigMd by;

■ehitiri j. AumM,s, MP "^=3/2/2022

1.12 Name mid Title of Contractor Signatory

Edward J. Merrens. md ^hlef clinical Offit

1.13 State Agency Signature
>——OoeuSigMd by:

1  1 O'ili """3/2/2022
1.14 Name and Title of State Agency Signatory •

Doseph T. caristi chief Financial lOff

1.15 Approvalby the N-fl. Department ofAdmmistratjon, Division ofPersonncf (i/appficabfej

By; Director, On:

1.16 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (If applicable)
by:

By;! TiUUw 0"' 3/2/2022

1.17 Approvafty l^c Governor and Executive Council (7/oppliciihic)
G&Cltcm number: G&C Meeting Dale:

cer, N

Page ! of 4
^ M

VI ■ .i~ MContractor InitialsDatel7?7TOn-
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2. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED. The Siatc of New
Hampshire, aciing through the agency identified in block 1.1
("State"), engages contractor identified in block 1.3
("Contractor") to perform, and the Contractor shall perform, the
work or sale of goods, or both, identified and more particularly
described in the attached EXHIBIT B which is incorporated
herein by reference ("'Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OK SERVICES.

3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the opprovnl of the Governor and
Executive Council of the Stale of New Hampshire, if applicable,
this Agreement, and all obiigBtions of the parties hereunder. shall
become effective on the date the Governor and Executive

Council approve this Agreement a.s indicated in block 1.17,
unless fK) such approval is required, in which case the Agreement
shall become effective on the date the Agreement is signed by
the State Agency as shown in block 1.13 ("Effective Date").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by. the Contractor prior to
the Effective Dale shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not become
effective, the State shall have no liability to the Contractor,
including without limitation, any obligation to pay the
Contractor for any costs incurred or Services pcrfoimed.
Contractor mu.<U complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, arc
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation of
funds affected by any state or federal li^islative or executive
action that reduces, eliminates or otherwise modifies the
appropriation or avoilability of funding for this Agreement and
the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT B, in whole or in
part. In no event shall the State be liable for any payments
hereunder in cxces.s of such available appropriated funds. In the
event of a reduction or fermi'nah'on of appropriated funds, (he
State shall have the right to withhold payment until such funds
become available, if ever, and shall have the right to reduce or
terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such reduction or termination.
The Stale shall not be required to transfer Funds from any other
account or source to the Account identified in block 1.6 In the
event funds in'that Account arc reduced or unavailable. '

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/
iPAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price., method ofpaymcnl. and terms ofpaymcnt
are identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C
which is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete fcimburscmcnt to the Contractor for ail
expenses, of whatever nature incutted by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete

compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State shall
have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract price.
5.3 Tlie Stale reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement those
liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA 80:7
through RSA 80;7-c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding nny provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding une.xpectcd circumstances, in no
event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually made
hereunder, exceed lite Price Limitation set forth In block 1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CON! RACTOR WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all applicable statutes, laws,
rcgulaiioas, and orders of federal, state, county or municipal
authorities which impose any obligation or duty upon the
Cohtractor, including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal
employment opportunity laws. In addition, if this Agreement is
funded in any part by monies of the United Slates, the Contractor
shall comply with all federal executive orders, rules, regulations,
and statutes, and wiih any rules, regulations and guidelines as the
Slate or the United Stales i.xsuc to implement these regulations.
The Contractor shall also corhply with all applicable intellectual
property laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor .shall not
discriminate against employees or applicants for employment
because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex, handicap, sexual
orientation, or national origin ,nnd will lake affirmative oction to
prevent such discrimination.
6.3. The Contractor agrees to permit the State or United States
access to any of (he Contractor's books, records and accounts for
the purpose of ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulBtion.s
and orders, and the covenants, terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at Its own expense provide all personnel
ncces.sary to perform the Services. The Confracfor waminfsr'f/fac
nil personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to
perfonn the Services, and shall> be properly licensed and
otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable laws.
7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Dale in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire.<and
shall hot permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged In a combined effort.to
perform the Services to hire, any person .who is n State employee
or official, who Ls materially involved in the procurement,
administration or performance of this Agreement. This
provision shall survive termination of this Agreement.
7.3 The Ccmtracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or her
successor, shall be the State's representative. In the event of any
dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement, the
Contracting Officer's decision shall be final for the State.

Page 2 of 4
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8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder ("Event
of Default");
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;
8il .2 failure to submit any report required hercunder; and/or .
.8. i .3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition of
this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may
take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a.written notice ttpccifying the Event of
Default and requiring it to be remcdi^ within, in the absence of
a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30) day.s from the
date of the notice; and ifthe Event of Default is not timely cured,
terminate this Agreement, effective two (2) days afler giving the
Contractor notice of icrmination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreemeol and ordering that the portion, of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Excnt of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and set o(Tagainst any other obligation.^ the State may
owe to the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of
any Evenl of Default; and/or
8.2.4 give tlic Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default, treat the Agreement as breached, terminate the
Agreement and pursue any of it.s remedies at law or in equity, ur
both.

8.3. No failure by the Slate to enforce any provisions hereof after
any Event of Default shall he deemed a u-alver ofits rights with
regard to that Event of Default, or any subsequent Event of
l>cf8ult. No express failure to enforce any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and
all of the provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of
Default on the part of the Contractor.

P. TERMINATION.

9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8. the State may, at its sole
di.scrction, terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or
in part, by thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor that
the State is exercising it.s option to terminate the Agreement.
9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for
any r^on other than the completion of the Services, the
Contractor shall, at the State's discretion, deliver to the

" Contracting Officer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the dale
of termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in
detail airScrvices performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject matter,
content, and number of cc^lcs of the Termination Report shall
be identical to (hose of any Final Report described in the attached
' EXHIBIT B. In addition, at the Stale's discretion, the Contractor

shall, within 15 days of notice of early termination, develop and

Page

•submit to the State a Transition Plan for ser\*ices under the
Agreement.

10. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY/

PRESERVAIION.

10.1 As used in tJUs Agreement, the word "data" shall mean ail
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
/^recmeni. including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surs-cys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analy^, graphic
r^rescmation.s, computer programs, computer printouts, notes,
letters, memoranda, papers, and documents, all whether
fini-shed or unfinished.

10.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the Stale or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, .shall he the property of (he State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon termination
of this Agreement for any reason.
10.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data requires
prior written approval of the State.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION 10 THE STATE. Inlhc

performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all respects
an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor an
employee of the Stale. Neiilicr the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the Stale or receive any benefits, workers' compensation or
other cniolumcnt.s provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS,

12.1 The Contractor .shall not fwigii, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice, which
shall be provided to the Slate at lea.si fifteen (15) days prior to
the a.ssignmcnt, and a written consent of the Stale. For puiposcs
of this paragraph, a Change of Control shall constitute
assignment. "Change of Control" means (a) merger,
consolidation, or a transaction or series of related transactions in
which a third, party, together with its affiliates, becomes the
direct or indirect oumcr of fifty percent (50%) or more of the
voting shares or similar equity interests, or combined voting
power of the Contractor, or (b) the sale of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Contracior.-

12J2 None of (he Services shall be subcontracted by the
Contractor without prior wTittcii notice and consent of the Slate.
!i1te Stale is eniillcd to copies of dII subcontracts and assignment
agreements and .shall not be bound by any provisions contained
in a subcontract of an ossignmcnt agreement to which it is not a
party.

13. INDEMNIFICA I ION. Unless otherwise exempted by law,
the Contractor shall.indcmnify and hold harmless (he State, its
officera and employees, from and again.st any and all clainui.
Iiabilitic.s and CQSt.s for any personal injury or property damages,
patent or copyiight infringement, or other claims asserted against
the Stale, it.s officers or employees, which arise out of (or whicit
-may be claimed to arise out of) the acts or omissieBOof the
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Contractor, or subcontr^lors, including but not limited to the
negligence, reckless or intentional conduct. The State shall not
be liable for any costs incurred by the Contractor arising under

-this paragraph 13. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the sovereign
immunity of the Slate, which immunity is hereby reserved to the
State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contraclor shall, at its sole expcn.se, obtain and
continuously maintain in force, and shall require any
subcontractor or a-ssignec to obtain and maintain in force, the
following insurance:
14. LI commercial general liability insurance against all claim.s
of bodily injury, death or prc^rty damage, in amount.s of not
less than Sl,0(}0,0(X) per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate
or excess; and

14.1.2 special cause of los.s coverage form covering all property -
subject to subparagraph 10.2 herein, in an amount not lcs.s than
80% oflhe whole replacement valuc of the property.
14.2 The policies dcsciibed in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be
on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the State
of New Hampshire by the N.H. Depanmeni of Insurance, and
issued by insurers licensed in the Slate of New Hampshire.
14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
idcntifjed in block 1.9, or his or her .successor, a ccTtificatc(s) of
insurance for all in.surahcc required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer identified
in block 1.9, or his or her successor, ecrtificalcfs) of insurance
for all rene\^(s) of insurance required under this Agreement no
later than ten (10) days prior to the expiration dale of each
ln.sumncc policy. The certiFicalc(s) of insurance and any
renewals thereof shall be attached and are Incorporated herein by
reference.

15. WORKERS'COMPENSATION.

15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees, certifies
and warranUs that the Contraclor is in compliance with or exempt
from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 2817A ("H'orkcrs'
Compensation").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the requirements
of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contraclor shall maintain, and
require any subcontractor or assignee to secure and maintain,
payment of- Workers' Compensation In connection with
eciiviiies which the person proposes to undertake pursuant to this
Agreement.' The Contractor shall furnish the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or Ms or her successor, proofo f Workers'
Compensation in the manner described in N.H. RSA chapter
281-A and any applicable rencwal(s) thereof, wliich shall be
attached and are Incoiporated heroin by reference. The Stale
sJwlJ 'JJOI be responsible for paytncnt of any Workers'
Compensation premiums or for any other claim or benefit for
Contraclor, or any subcontractor or employee of Contractor,
which might arise under applicable State of New Hampshire
Workers' Compensation laws in connection with the
performance of the Services under this Agreement.

16. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
.shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the lime
of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United States
Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses given in
blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

17. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived
or discharged only by an instrument In writing signed by the
parties hereto and only afier approval of such amendment,
waiver or di.tcharge by the Governor and Executive Council of
the Slate of New Hampshire unless no such approval is required
under the circumstances pursuant to State taw. rule or policy.

18. CHOICE OF I^W AND FORUM. Thi.s Agreement shall
be governed, interpreted and con.strued in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors
and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement is the wording
chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule
of construction shall be applied against or in favor of any party.
Any actions arising out of this Agreement shall be brought and
maintained in New Hampshire Superior Court which shall have
exclu^ve jurisdiction thereof.

19. CONFLICTING TERMS. In the event of a conflict

between the terms of this P-37 foim (as modified in EXHIBIT
A) and/or attachments and amendment thereof, the terms of the
P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT A) .shall control.

20. THIRD PARTIF.S. The pailics hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
conslaied to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement are
for reference purposes only,-and the words contained therein
shaff in no way be hcfd to explain, modify, ampfiTy or ai'd in ffic
interpretation, construction or meaning of the provisions of this
:^reemenl.

;22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying
provisions set forth in the attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated
herein by reference.

23. SEVERABI I.ITY. In the event any of the provisions of this
Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction lb be
contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisioits of
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

24. ENTIIU^ AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be
executed in a number of counterparts, each of which ishaU be
deemed an orlgmal, constitutes the entire agreement ̂ ond
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings with respect to the subject matter
hereof.
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Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT A

Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions

1.1. Paragraph 3, Effective Date/Complelion of Services, is amended by adding
subparagrapli 3.3 as follows:

3.3. The parties may extend the Agreement for up to six (6) additional years
.from the Completion Dale, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of
services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and approval of the
Governor and Executive Council.

1.2. Paragraph 7, Personnel, is amended by modifying subparagraphs 7.1 and 7.2
to read:

7.1. The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
necessary to perforn) (he Services. The Contractor certifies that all

personnel engaged in the Services shall be qLialified to perform the
Services, and shall bo properly licensed and otherwise authorized to
do so under all applicable laws.

7.2. Unless otherwise authorized in wriling. during the lernt of this
Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the Completion
Date in block 1.7. the Contractors personnel involved in this project,
shall not hire, andshall no! permit any subcontractor or other person,
firm or corporation with v/hom it is engaged ifi a combined efloil to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a Stale employoeor
ofllcial, who is materially involved in the procurement, administration
or performance of this Agreement. This provision shall survive
termination of this Agreement.

1.3. Paragraph 9, Termination, is amended by modifying subparagraph 9.2 to read:

9.2 If) the event ni an early termination of tills Agreement for any reason
other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the
State's discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer, not later than thirty
(30) days after the daleof termination, a report ("Termination Report ")
describing in .detail all Services performed, and tiio coidracl price
earned, to and including the date of termination. The form, subject
maUer.coiUenl, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall
be Idenlicai to those of cniy Final Report dttscribecl in the attached
Exiilbit B. In addition, at the State's discrolion, the Contractor shall,
within thirty (30) days of notice of early termination, develop arid
submit to the Slate a Transition Plan for sei"vlces under the
Agreement.

1.4. Paragraph 12. AssignniGnt/Dolegation/Subcontracls, is nmenrled by adding
subparagraph 12,3 as follows:

03-nSYCt l 05 t lof.iiil-il Ir.lliuls "
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EXHIBIT A

12.3. Subconlraclofs are subject to the same contractual conditions as the
Contractor and the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor
compliance with those conditions. The Contractor shall have written
agreements with all subcontractors, specifying the work to be performed
and hov; corrective action shall be managed if' the subcontractor's,
performance is inadequate. The Contractor shall manage the
subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis and take corrective
action as necessary. The Contractor shall annually provide the State with
a list of all subcontractors provided for under this Agreement and notify
the State of any inadequate subcontractor performance.

1.5. Paragraph 14, Insurance, is amended by modifying subsection 14.1.2. to delete
the text in its entirety and replace It to read:

14.1.2. Professional liability insurance in the amount of SI.000,000 per
occurrence and 53,000.000 per annual aggregate.

1.6. Paragraph 14, Insurance, is amended by modifying subparagraph 14.2 to read:

14.2. The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall beon policy
forms and endorsements approved for use in the State of New
Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and issued by
insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire or registered to
conduct business in tlie State of New Hampsliire.

1.7. Paragraph 17, Amendment. Is amended by adding siiliparagraph 17.1. to read:

17.1 In the event the Slate wishes to change the locatlon{s) in which the .
services are performed by the Contractor hereunder, in whole or in
part, the State shall provide Contractor with reasonable advance
written'notice of the same. Tiiereafter, tlie parlies shall meet in good
faiti! in order to mutually agree upon possible adjustments to the
terms and conditions, if rerjuired, which shall be documented in the
form of an amendment to this Agreement In accordance with
paragraph 17.

(•:rr'-:'f>??-r.'i n i-rr.-rr.vci i-iii
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EXHIBIT B

Scope of Services

1. Statement of Work

1.1. The Contractor shall provide psychiatric and medical services at New
Hampshire Hospital (NHH), the planned New Hampsfiire Forensic Hospital
(NHFH), and Glencliff Home. The Contractor shall provide services in the
following service areas:

1.1.1. Service Area #1 - Psychiatric care for adults admitted to New
Hampshire Hospital (NHH), New Hampshire Forensic Hospital •
(NHFH), and Glencliff Home.

1.1.2. Service Area #2 - Non-emergent medical care for adults admitted to
New Hampshire Hospital and New Hampshire Forensic Hospital.

1.2. For the purposes of this agreement, all references to days shall mean Ccdendar
days, unless olherv/ise specified.

1.3. For the purposes of this agreement, all references to business hours shall
mean Monday through Friday from 8 AM to 4 PM. excluding state and federal
holidays.

1.4. Ail Services Areas - General Requirements

1.4.1. The Contractor shall deliver psychiotrlc and medic<4 services to NHH,
the planned NHFI-I. and/or Glencliff Homo by:

1.4.1.1. Providing highly qualified personnel as described in the
following sections;

1.4.1.2. Working with the New Hampshire Department of Health and
Human Seivices ('Department") to continue developing and,
refining an integrated mental health care system by applying
principles of managed care for clinical treatment; and

1.4.1.3. Assisting with educational and training programs, at the
direction of the Chief Executive Officer of the Inpatienl Mental
Health System ((he "Cf'O").

1.4.2. The Contractor shall recruit and retain qualified individuals for (h6)
staffing needs specified herein ("Gontractor Poisonner"). and as
otheiwiSG necessary to fulfill the loquiremenls described herein. The
Contractor shall ensure:

1.4.2.1. All Contractor Poisonnei provided are employees or
consultants of the Contractor.

1.4.2.2. No Contractor Personnel are employees of tl.ie Slate of New
Hampshire.

1.4.3. The Contractor agrees that one (1) full-lime equivalent (FTE) is-q,gual
to one (1) full-time employee wlio works foily (40) hours per

l.e-y l f.Wct.jiv.il l •; :

i/ypir?-?
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1.4.4. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor.Personnel meet and adhere
to:

1.4.4.1. The codes of ethical conduct applicable to their license
category;

1.4.4.2. Behavioral policies of the Department;

V4.4.3. Department ivil0Tmat\ori secuvAy arid privacy and use
agreements which have been provided to Contractor; and,

1.4.4.4. All other human resource-related expectations of the
Department, NHH, NHFH, and/or Glencliff Home, as well as
New Hampshire Department of Infomiation Technology
(DolT) security policies.

2. Service Area #1 - Psvchlatric Care

2.1. General

2.1.1. The Contractor shall provide staff as indicated in Table 1 below as the
Contractor Personnel, which outlines the FTE allocation limits for.the
minimum required staffing positions.

Table 1.

Position Title
Minimum FTE/Staffing Ratio

Limits

NHH

a. Chief Medical Officer

b. Associate Medical Director

0. Staff Psychiatrists

d. Psychiatric Advanced Practice
Registered Nurses (APRN)

e. Chief Psychologist

f. Psychologist

g. Forensic Psychologist

1.000 FTE

1.000 FTE

Ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrists and Psychiatric
APRNs shall be 8:1. Deviations
from this ratio shall require the
approval of the CEO.

Psychiatric APRN -1.0 FTE; ratio
of Psychiatric APRNs to
Psychiatrists cannot exceed 4:1

1.000 FTE

1.000 FTE

1.000 FTE

Ratio of patients to Forensic
Psychologist not to exce

RFP-2022.NHH-03-PSYCH.01

B.1.0

Mary Hitcticock Momortat HospltsI
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h. Administrative Staff
0.500 FTE

NHFH

a. Forensic Psychiatrists
2.000 FTE

b. Forensic Psychologist
2.000 FTE

Ratio of patients to Forensic
no\ to exceed M A

c. Forensic Behavioral Analyst
1.000 FTE

Glencliff Home

-  a. Medical Director
0.400 FTE

2.2. New Hampshire Hospital

2.2.1. Chief Medical Officer

2.2.1.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE psychiatrist to serve
as the Chief Medical Officer.

2.2.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is

physicaliy present at NHH and NHFH for a minimum of forty
(40) hours per week and oversees all providers at NHH and
NHFH referenced herein.

2.2.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer is
responsible for the same duties and requirements outlined In
this Section 2.2.1. for NHFH upon commencement of patient
services at NHFH, Including overseeing clinical staff at NHFH
provided by the Contractor. The Contractor shall ensure the
Chief Medical Officer:

2.2.1.3.1. Is a board certified psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in the State of New Hampshire

■  and has clinical privileges at NHH and NHFH.

2.2.1.3.2. Is a senior adrriinlstratlve psychiatrist with a
minimum of five (5) years of experience In a
position of clinical leadership for a major public
sector program; psychiatric. hospital;
governmental authority: or state or national
medical/psychiatric society or organizatidri
involved in the delivery of public sector psychiatric
services.

-M

RFP-2022-NHK-03-PSYCH-01

B-1.0

Mdfy Hilchcock Memorial Hospital
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2.2.1.3.3. Has complelecJ an Accreditation Council for
Graduate Medical Educalion (AGGME) approved
residency program with board certification in
psychiatry by the American Board of Psychiatry
and . Neurology. (Additional subspeciaity
certification in forensic, geriatric or
child/adolescent psychiatry may be substituted for
two (2) years of administrative leadership.
Completion of a graduate curriculum in medical
administration is preferred).

2.2.1.4. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Ofticer

.  ' padicipates, as needed, with Staff Psychiatrists in on-call and
after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to ensure on-
call psychiatrist services are available 24 hours per day. 7
days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor Personriel

providing call coverage services to NHH and NHFH.

2.2.1.5. in the event the Chief Medical Officer resigns, or is olheavise
removed from providing services to the Department, the
Contractor shaii:

2.2.1.5.1. Furnish a psychiatrist within ten (10) business
days, not including holidays, to serve full-time as
interim Chief Medical Officer, until such time as

the existing Chief Medical Officer either resumes
(ull-tinie duly or is replaced by a new Chief
Medical Oflicei'.

2.2.1.5.2. Unless the CEO agrees to waive any requirement
in writing, ensure the ifitcrirn Chief Medical Officer
meets all reciuironients for llio Chief Medical

Officer. i\s set forth herein.

2.2.1.5.3. Provirie Iraiisilion services lo NHFl and NHFH, at

no odclilional cost lo the Department, to avoid any
interruption of services and administralivo
responsibiiilies.

2.2.1.6. Subject to ('1) Itie statutory authority of the Departmenl s
Commissioner or designee, and (2) the authority of the CEO
witfi respect lo administrative/clinical matters, the Contractor

•  shall ensure the Cliief Medical Officer;

2.2.1.('.1. Dovolops and submits NHH and NHFH provider
staffing needs, including a schedule of psychiatric
and ifjiatod clinical personnel, for DepcirTrhent

1 tihk.
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approval prior to the commencement of each

conlfact year, or as otherwise requested by the
Department;

2.2.1.6.2. Coordinates with the CEO on all clinical activities

in order to accoinplish the day-to-day clinical
.  operations of NHH in n)anner consistent with
RSA Chapter 1;^5-C and the rules adopted ,
pursuant tlierelo, all Department policies, and all

standards of The Joint Conimission (TJC) and
Centers for Medicare and Mcdicald Services

(CMS);

2.2.1.6.3. r'articipates in the foniiulation, implementation,
ancl supervision of all clinical programs for the
diagnosis, assessment, treatment, care, and
management of NHH and NHFH patients;

2.2.1.6.4. Supervises all documentation rec^uirenients for all
Staff Psychiatrists and other clinical personnel
employed by the Contractor and providing
services at NHH and NHFH under this

Agreemonl:

2.2.1.6.6. Ensures adoquale coveraye on weekends and
holidays to maintain compliance with"
docunienlation requirements to justify medical
necessity of slay, includiny, but not limited to. the
need for daily proyross notes on patients covered
by fvlodicaid. Meclicare or commercial Insurance.
(Sihould clinical care responsibilities Impede a
provider's abilily to (•.oinf)lolt.'daily progress notes
on woekencls or holidays, the next progress note
vvill be written wilhin 72 hours);

.2.2.1.6.6. Performs annucii pOiTorrnance evc»luations and

discipline, as necessary, for all Staff Psychiatrists
and other Contractor Personilei providiny
services at NHH atKl NHFH, inclndiny consulting
with and sockiny input from the CEO as to the
Department's satisfaction witii the services
provided by the individual under review;

2.2.1.6.7. Pedorms an annual administrative levirjw of all

Contractor Personnerproviding sorvices rrl NHH
and Nllf-I-I lu ciisurcM-.oniplianco with Doparlmonl
policy, including but not limited to: training;.rOi:ord

I
fc; i'-,'>0?2-NHil-(O-I"'5YCII-6l I-.'. Ml-.- Ii.-o-;:'. (••-'.•iii.-ii.-l ll.-sv.i-.jl Cc'ir.t
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keeping; matters of medical records; CPR and
CMP training and/or retraining; TJG
requirements; customer service responsibilities;
HIPAA compliance; and attendance at mandated
in-service training.

2.2.1.6.8. Ensures compliance with the requirements in
part 2.2.1.6.7, and takes whatever disciplinary
action necessary in instances of non-compliance
with Department policy or Medical Staff
Organization bylaws;

2.2.1.6.9. Complies with all applicable performance
standards in this Agreement pertaining to Staff
Psychiatrists;

.2.2.1,6.10. {Provides consultation to the Department relative
to the development of the State of New
Hampshire's mental health service system;

.2.2.1.6.11. Supports Department's customer sen/ice culture
by adhering to and ensuring that Staff

. Psychiatrists under their direction, adhere to-the
established Customer Service Guidelines for

Physicians;

2.2.1.6.12. Reports any issues known to them to theOEO
regarding all admissions, patient care or any other
situations that may pose a significarit risk to
patients or the community or that may result in
adverse publicity or in any way undermine public
confidence in the clinical care provided by NHH
and NHFH;

2.2.1.6.13. Participates, as a member of NHH's Executive
Team;

2.2.1.6.14. Pa^cipates in the recruitment of other clinical
Department personnel, upon the request of the
CEO;

2.2.1:6.15. Establishes, subject to approval froni th'eCEp, ari
employment schedule for all clinical .personnel
employed by the Contractor to provide services at
■NHH and NHFH;

2.2.1^6.16. Assists the NHH Executive Team with enhancing
clinical practices arid care across the
organization; arid

I €JAUU.
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2.2.1.6.17. Provides clinical coverage for other clinical staff.
as necessary, due to .absences or vacated
positions.

2.2.1.7. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer
oversees clinical staff in Service Area U 1 and Service Area #

'  . 2.

2.2.2. Associate Medical Director

2.2.2.1. The Conlraclpr shall provide 1.0 FTE Associate Medical
Director, whicii may consist of multiple individuals who fulfill

• the 1.0 FTE reciuireinent. as approved the CEO.

2.2.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure an Associate Medical Director is
physically present at NHH and NHFFI for no less than forty
(40) hours per week.

2.2.2.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director
performs the duties and requireinonls oullinod in this Section .
2.22.3 for NHFH upon commencement of patient services at
NHFII. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical
Director;

2.2.2.3.1. Is a Board Certified Psychiatrist licensed to
practice medicine in New Hampshire.

2.2.2.3.2. At all limes, maintains l)oth a license to practice
medicine in the State of New Hampshire and
clinical privileges at NHH and NFIFH.

2.2.2.3.3. Is a senior administrative psychialrisl having a
minimum of five (5) years of experience in a
position of clinical loadorsliip for a major public
sector program. psyciiintric hospital,
cjovernmental authority, or stale or national
meciical/i)sychiatri(: society or organization
involved in the delivery of public sector psychiatric
services. (Adclilional subspocially certification in
lorensic, acicliotion, geriatric or child/adolescent
psychiatry may be substiluleci for two (2) years of
administrative leadership. Cornplelioti of a
graduate curriculum in medical administration is
preferr(jd.

2.2.2.3.4. CoMiplelos an ACGME-approved residency
program with board, coililicalinn in Psychiatry by

. the American i-loard of Psychiatry and Neurology.
—i:s
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2.2.2.4. The Contractor shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

possesses or "develops the skills necessary to serve in the
capacity of the Chief Medical Officer, on a temporary or

I  permanont basis, in the event that the Chief Medical Officer
position is vacated.

2.2.2.5. The Contrnctnr shall ensure the Associate Medical Director

participates as needed vath Staff Psychiatrists in on-call and
after-hours coverage al')0ve the 40-hour week to ensure
Psychiatrist-Oh-Cfill services are provided 24 hours per day,
7 days per week. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree that there will be one on-cal! pool of Contractor ,
Personnel providing call coverage services to NHH and
NHFH.

2.2.2.C. In the event the Associate Medical Director resigns, or is
otherv/ise rernov'eci from providing services to the
Dofiartinont. the Contractor shall:

2.2.2.6.1. Furnish, a |)sychialrisi or other qualified provider,
as determined by the CEO, v/ithin. ten (10)
business days, not including holidays, to serve full-
time as interim Associate Medical Director, until

the existing Associate Medical" Director either
resumes duly full-time or is re|.)lacecl by a new
Associ^Ue Medical Director'.

2.2.2.6.2. Ensure the interim Associate Medical Director
n'leets all of the requirements for the Associate
Medical Director as set forth herein.

2.2.2.6.3. Provide transition services to Department, at no
additional ' cost, to avoid any interruption of
services and administrative responsibilities.

2.2.2.7.'Subject to'(1) the statutory authority of the Department s "
Cotiunissiorifjr or desiynee, and (2) the authority of the CEO
with rospcd lo iidniinistialive nnd/or diiiioal tuatlers, the
Contractor shall onsurn the Associate Medical Director:

2.2.2.7.1. C^oordinates all clinical activities with the Chief
[^Icclicnl Officer and the CEO in order to
accomplish the day-to-day clinical operation of
NHI I iti a numner consislcnl witli NH Revised

Statutes Annotated (RSA) 13f5-C and the rules
adoplccl pursuant therelo, all NHH policies, and
nil standards of The Joint Coiiiniission (TJC) and

fey'Vn



OocuSign Envelope ID: 8BC9401B-E201-4532-B818-277O6O5DCBDB

DcaiSiyn KnvftlOpe ID E'JAB1D76-4DCLM|J8-A2F2-C92ED59C6yEg

New Hampshire Department of Health cind Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBITS

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

(CMS);

2.2.2.7.2. Establishes staffing needs, including but not
limited, to psychiatric and related clinical
personnel, on a (>eriodic; basis, with the Chief
MGdical Officer and CEO:

2.2.2.7.3. Serves in tiie capacity of tliG Chief Medical Officer
in the event of the Chief Medical Officer's

absence:

2.2.2.7.4. Participates with the Chief Medical Officer in the
formulation, implementation, and supervision of
all cliniccil programs for the diagnosis,
assessment, treatment, care, and management of
patients:

2.2.2.7.5. . Superx'ises all documentation requirements of all
Staff Psychiatrists and other Contractor
Personnel providing services at NHH and NHFH;

2.2.2.7.6. Participates v/ilh the Chief Medical Officer to
conduct annual performance evaluations and
disciplinary actions, as necessary, for air Staff
Psychlatrisls and other Contractor Personnel
providing services at NHH and NHFH. including
assisling the Chief Medical Officer;

2.2.2.7.7. Works with the Chief Mr^dical Officer to perform
an annual administrative review of all Contractor

• Peroonnct to ensure compliance with Department
policies, including but not limited to: training; -
record keeping; matters of medical records; CPR
and CMI^ training and/or retraining; . TJC
requirements: customer service responsibilities;
infornuition security, privacy, and HiPAA
compliance; and attendance at mandalod in-
service training;

2.2.2.7.8. Complies willi all appiicnhle performance
standards pertaining to Staff Psyehinlrisls;

2.2.2.7.0. Piovides consulUiliuii to the Departmenl relative
to Iho development of Iho State of New
HMmj)sliiie's iiuMilal lioalth service system;

2.2.2.7.10. Prumoler. a customer service culture by adhering
to and ensuring that Stuff Psychiatrists aririere to

[
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the eslabiished customer service guidelines for ■
physicians;

2.2.2.7.11. Reports any known Issues to the Chief Medical
Officer and CEO regarding admissions, patient

care or any other situation that may pose a
■ significant risk to patients or the community or that

,  may result in adverse ixjbticity or in any way
undermine public confidence in tlie clinical care
provided by the Department;

2.2.2.7.12. Participates with the Cliief Medical Officer and the
CEO in the devoloprnent of clinical budgets;

2.2.2.7.13. Participates in the recruitment of other clinical
personnel, upon ti ie requesl of the CEO;

2.2.2.7.14. Assists in establishing, subject to approval by the
Chief Medical Officer and CEO. an employment
schedule for all Contractor Personnel provided
under this Agreement:

2.2.2.7.15. Assists the Chief Medical Officer and the CEO

willi the clinical supervision and education of all
other clinical slafi; and

2.2.2.7.1C. Provides clinical coverage for olher clinical staff
as necessary due to absences or vacated
positions.

2.2.3. Staff Psychiatrists and Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered
Nurses (APRN)

2.2.3.1. The Coniraclor shall ensure the ratio of patients to Staff
Psychiatrist.? and Psychiatric APKNs is not loss than B;1,
unless olheavlse approved by Iho CEO for a specific period
of time.

2.2.3.2. The Contractor shall ensure tlie ratio of Psychiatric APRNs to
Staff I Psychiatrists does not exceed <1:1.

2.2.4. Staff Psychiatrists

2.2.4.1. Tlie Coniraclor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists are physically
present at NHH and NHI-l l a niininiuni of forty (40) hours per
v/eek. 'i iie Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists;

2.2,4.1.1. Have appropriate experience in the specially In
which Ihey are board certified oi eligible for
cerlHIcation.

, C.iAi.Ai
rii* l-iV) l'SVC! I 01 ; l' I.K:'" l {.".(..rilMrl;';

,, . 3/?/70;'7



DocuSign Envelope ID; 8BC9401B-E201-4532-B818-27706D5DCBDB

DocuSign Envelope ID: 63ABl076?4DC2-4l4a-A2F2-C92l-:i)ft9rH7!;<j

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Psychiatric and Medical Services

EXHIBIT B

2.2.4.1.2. Have completed an ACGME-approved residency
.  program in psychiatry.

2.2.4.1.3. Formulate and implement treatment plans and
clinical services, in cooperation with treatment
teams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care and management of patients;

2.2.4.1.4. Maintain and direct a clinically appropriate
treatment plan for assigned cases in concert v;ith
the multidisciplinary staff consistent with the

• Department norms;

2.2.4.1.5. Determine the appropriateness of admissions.
.  . transfers and discharges consistent v/ith RSA

135-C;

2.2.4.I.G. Provide, in coordination with the Chief Medical

Officer, the Associate Medical Director, and other

staff physicians, on-call after-hours coverage and
serve as on-sile, after-hours cxrvcrage, on a 24-
hour a day. 7.-day a week, year round basis when
necessary as determined by the CEO, Chief
Medical Officer, and/or Associate Medical

Director. .For the avoidance of doubt, the parties
agree thai there will he one on-call pool of
Conlraclor Personnel providing call coverage
services to NHH and NHFH;

2.2,4.1.7. Participate in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees, assigned
cominitlees and lask forces;

'2.2.4.1.8. Complete medical and/or psychiatric consultation
on patients from facilities other than NHH,
consistent witir current Department policy;

2.2.4.1.9. Complete, in a timely rnarurer, all necessary'
documcntalion, as required by TJC and CMS
standards;

2.2.4.1.10. CompkHo Occurronco f^eporls in coniplinncc v/illi
Dcparimont policy:

2.2.4.1.11. Coiiiplele all niodical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documenlalion of
clinical care regardiiig medical necessity,
incUrcling daily progress noles to document and
.support medical iiocessity, within limefraim^ as

(MO I '.i;;.: rii.iH'.' iMO
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.  specified by the NHH's Record Documentation
policy and procedure and other relevant policies
and procedures.

2.2.4.1.12. Adhere to all Department policies, including, but
not limited to policies on Medical Records
Documentation and Progress Notes;

2.2.4.1.13. Ensure that documentation is consistent with

normative data collected by the Compliance
Officer and Utilization Review Manager;

2.2.4.1.14. Provide other services as required, which are
consistent with the mission of the Department;

2.2.4.1.15. Appear and testify in all court and administrative
hearings, as required by the Department;

2.2.4.1.16. Develop and maintain positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital to the functioning the Department's system of
care, including for the purpose of transition
planning by adhering to Department standards;
and

2.2.4.1.17. Participate In the utilization review processes,
including appeals and other processes, as
required by the Chief Medical Officer. Associate
Medical Director, and/or the CEO.

,2.2.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure a minimum of one (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is dedicated to provide services to the NHH
inpatient stabilization unit (ISU).

2.2.4.3. The Coniractor shall ensure a mhimi/m of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist certified in forensics is dedicated to provide
services to the NHH forensic unit, which does not exceed a
24:1 patient-to-provider ratio.

2.2.4.4. The Contractor shall ensure a-minimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is certified In addiction; be a physician who is
certified iri general psychiatry; and has significant clinical
experience in addiction medicine. (A fellowship training and/or
board certification In addiction medicine or - addiction
.psychiatry is highly preferred.)

■ 2.^.4.5. The Contractor shall ensure a iminimum of (1) PTE Staff
Psychiatrist is a Geropsychiatrlst who has: ■ ^

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 ' Moiy Hilchcock Momortal Hosptial Contrador If^lials ^
^  3/2/2022
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2.2.4.5.1. Completed an AGGME-approved residency
program In psychiatry, and Is board certified by
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology
In Psychiatry; and

2.2.4.5.2. Completed a one-year geropsychlatry fellowship
and is specialty certified by the American Board
of Psychiatry and Neurology in geriatric
psychiatry. (Two (2) years of additional clinical
experience in geriatric psychiatry may be
substituted the one-year fellowship.)

2.2.4.6. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists provide
services on a full-tlrhe basis as defined in Paragraph 1.4.3
above and limit their practice to treating NHH patients only,
except for night and weekend staff, who may be working part-
time or per diem.

2.2.4.7. Notwithstanding the above, the Department and Contractor
agree that (i) Staff Psychiatrists may perform occasional
outside practice duties, with the advance written approval of
the CEO and Chief Medical Officer, but only if said duties do
not, in the sole judgment of the CEO, interfere with the
psychiatrists' duties at the Department; and (ii) Contractor
Personnel may be permitted, subject to prior notice and the
approval of both the Chief Medical Officer and CEO, to'
perform educational or research activities so long as those
activities further the mission and goals of the Department.
Staff Psychiatrists and Contractor Personnel approved for
such activities shall provide monthly documentation and
summary progress reports to the Chief Medical Officer and
■the CEO that specifies time spent devoted to educational or
research activities.

2.2.4.8. The Contractor shall ensure Staff Psychiatrists participate In
on-call, after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to
ensure on-call psychiatrist services are provided 24 hours per
day, 7 days per week. For this reason, the Contractor provides
reports summarizing full-time equivalent staffing for each
Invoicing period. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree
that there will be one on-call pool of Contractor Personnel
providing call coverage services to NHH and NHFH.

2.2.4.9. The Contractor agrees Staff Psychiatrists may also be
required to participate in on-call, after-hours coverage ,as
needed foriNHFH upon commencement of patient services at

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Wary Hllchcock Momortal I lospilal Conttaclof Wlials
^. ^/2/2022
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2.2.5. Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurses (APRN)

2.2.5.1. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs possess an
APRN degree and have board certification as Psychiatric-
Mental Health Nurse Practitioner-Board.

2.2.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs provide
clinical services in extended care and admissions areas with

patients with severe mental illness and medical co-morbidities
In accordance with the scope of practice described in RSA
326-8:11. The Contractor shall ensure Psychiatric APRNs;

2.2.5.2.1. Perform advanced assessments.

2.2.5.2.2. Diagnose, prescrit>e. administer and develop
treatnienl regimens.

2.2.5.2.3. Provide consultation as appropriate.

2.2.5.2.4. Independently prescribe, dispense, and distribute
psychopharmacologic drugs within the formulary

, and act as treatment team leaders in accordance
with State New Hampshire law and medical staff
by-laws. ,.

2.2.5.2.5. Provide documentation in accordance with

Department policy and the allowable scope of
practice for APRNs.

2.2.6. Chief Psychologist

2.2.6.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE Chief Psychologist
at NHH who is a clinical psychologist (PhD or Psy.D.). The
Contractor shall ensure the Chief Psychologist:

2.2.6.1.1. Administers and analyzes psychological test
batteries and clinical assessment interviews with
acute psychiatric in-patients in a timely fashion,
including: cognitive assessment: personality and
psychiatric diagnoses; and treatment and
discharge planning.

2.2.6.1.2. Provides expert clinical consultation to
psychiatrists, neurologists, treatment team,
guardians, and aftercare agencies, as well as at
judicial hearings,

2.2.6.1.3.' Worlds closely with psychiatric providers and other
team members, as needed, to promote high
quality patient care. -

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 ' Mafy Hiichcock Momoriol Hoapllal Conln»clor Iniliols
^ , 3/2/2022
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2.2.6.1.4. Determines and provides psychological treatment
Including but not limited to: aisis intervention;
individual, behavioral and group therapy;
cognitive training to acute psychiatric in-patients
with severe impairment; and family counseling
when indicated.

2.2.6.1.5. Consults with nursing and other staff about
management of difficult patients.

2.2.6.1.6. Participates in and suggests Psychology quality
assurance audits and clinical program evaluation
efforts.

2.2.6.1.7. Collaborates with state-employed Psychologists,
and their respective leadership, to develop
consistent, evidence-based clinical practices
throughout the organization.

2.2.7. Psychologist

2.2.7.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) FIE Psychologist at
NHH. The Contractor shall ensure the Psychologist who is a
clinical psychologist (PhD or Psy.D.). The Contractor shall
ensure the Psychologist: ^
2.2.7.1.1. Administers and analyzes psychological test

batteries and clinical assessment interviews,
including, but not limited to: cognitive
assessments, personality and psychiatric
diagnoses, and' treatment and discharge
p\anr^ng,

2.2.7.1.2. Determines and provides psychological
treatment.

2.2.7.1.3. Completes progress notes and other
documentation.

2.2.8. Forensic Psychologist

2.2.8.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of lone (1) FTE
•Forensic Psychologist at NHH to assist with serving patients
deemed not guilty by reasons of Insanity, incompetent to
stand trial, or other civilly committed patients whom require
inpatient psychiatric treatment. The Contractor shall ensure
the Forensic Psychologist:

2.2.8.1.1. Is.a clinical psychologist (PhD, Psy.D., of EdD
with forensic experience):

[
RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mary Hitchcock Momoft.*il Hospital • Contractor Initials , , .
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2.2.8.1.2. Has significant clinical experience in forensic
psychology: and

2.2.6.1.3. Has a certification in forensic psychology
)  (preferred).

2.2.8.2. The Coritractor shall ensure the patient-to-provider ratio for
the Forensic Psychologist does not exceed 24:1 at NHH.

2.2.9. . Administrative Staff

2.2.9.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one half (.50) FTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support at NHH
to clinical staff! The Contractor shall erisure the

Administrative Staff:

2.2.9:1.1. Screen and assess relative priorities of
correspondence, inquiries, and projects.

2.2.9.1.2. Organize systems of distribution and review of
these items to ensure efficient communication.

2.2.9.1.3. Answer administrative questions on behalf of the
Department In a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiatry
Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

2.2.9.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

,2.2.9.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

2.2.9.1.6. Develop and. maintain a filing system for all files
related to the contract between the Department
and the Contractor.

2.2.9.1.7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature.

2.2.9.1.6. Serve as resource person who Is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and
recognize and assess developing situations of
significance to the overall functioning of the
Contractor within NHH and NHFH.

2;2.9.1.9. Monitor budget accounts, attendance and
schedules of providers related to the contract with
NHH.

-08
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2.2.9.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage at NHH and NHFH in coordination with
the Associate Medical Directors

2.2.9.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure proper
contract billing.

2.2.9.1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

2.2.9.1.13. Support medical provider teams with
communication, data extraction and other
administrative tasks.

2.2.9.1.14. Support QI/QA/Key Performance Indicator
monitoring and reporting in conjunction with the
Associate Medical Director.

2.2.9.1.15. Support all ̂ contracted providers with
administrative tasks required by the Contractor,
including but not limited to expense tracking, time
attestations, and compliance monitoring.

2.2.9.1.16. Perform other duties as required or assigned.

New Hampshire Forensic Hospital

2.3.1. Forensic Psychiatrists

2.3.1.1,. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of two (2) PTE
Forensic Psychiatrists to provide services at NHFH upbn
completion of the NHFH. The Contractor shall ensure all
Forensic Psychiatrists:

2.3.1.1.1. Have appropriate experience in the specialty in
which they are boarded or board eligible; and

2.3.1.1.2. Have completed an ACGME-approved residency
program In psychiatry.

2.3.1.1.3. Formulate and implement treatment plans and
clinical ''services, in cooperation with treatment
iteams, for the diagnosis, assessment, treatment,
care .and management of patients;

2.3.1.1.4. Maintain and direct a ciinicaily appropriate
treatment pian for assigned cases in concert with
the multidisciplinary staff consistent with
Department norms;

2.3.
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2.3.1.1.5. Detennine the appropriateness of admissions,
transfers and dlscharaes, consistent with RSA
135-C:

2.3.1.1.6. Partidpale in the Medical Staff Organization and
other administrative committees at NHH and/or

NHFH, assigned committees and task forces;

2.3.1.1.7. Complete medical and/or psychiatric consultation
on patients from facilities other than NHFH,
consistent with Department policy;

2.3.1.1.8. Complete all necessary documentation, as
required, by TJC and CMS standards;

2.3.1.1.9. Complete Occurrence Reports in compliance with
Department policy;

2.3.1.1.10. Complete all medical record documentation,
including ongoing and timely documentation of
clinical care regarding medical nece^ity,
including daily progress notes to document and
support medical necessity, within timeframes as
specified by the Department's Medical Record
Documentation policy and procedure and other
relevant policies and procedures.

2.3.1.1.11. Ensure documentation Is consistent with

normative data collected by the Compliance
Officer and Utilization Review Manager;

2.3.1.1.12. Provide other services as required, which are
consistent with the mission of NHH and NHFH,
and the intent of this Agreement;

2.3.1.1.13. Appear and testify in ail court and administrative
hearings as required by the Department;

2.3.1.1.14. Develop and maintain positive relationships vvlth
Department staff, patients, families, advocates,
community providers and other interest groups
vital to the functioning of the Department's system
of care, including for the purpose of transition
planning. In accomplishing this requirement, the
Contractor shall ensure psychiatrists adhere to
Department standards;

2.3.1.1.15. Participate in utilization review -processes,
including appeals and other processes^^j. as

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor InUlals.
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required by the Chief Medical Officer, Associate
Medical Director,'and/or CEO; and

2.3.1.1.16. Participate in on-call afterhours coverage and
serve as on-slte, after-hours coverage, on a 24-
hour a day, 7-day a week, year round basis when
necessary as determined by the CEO, Chief
Medical Officer, and/or Associate Medical
Director. For the avoidance of doubt, the parlies
agree that there will be one on-call pool of
Contractor Personnel providing call coverage
services to NHH and NHFH.

2.3.1.2. The Contractor agrees Forensic Psychiatrists may also be
required to participate in on-call, after-hours coverage for
NHH, as needed.

2.3.1.3. The Contractor shall ensure all Forensic Psychiatrists provide
services on-a full-tirhe basis as defined in Paragraph 1.4.3
above and limit their practice to treating Department patients
only.

2.3.1.4. Notv\rithstanding the above, the Contractor agrees Forensic
Psychiatrists may perform occasional outside practice duties,
with the advance written approval of the CEO and Chief
Medical Officer, but only if said duties do not. in the sole
judgment of the CEO, Interfere with the psychiatrists' duties at
the Department.

2.3.1.5. The Contractor shall ensure Forensic Psychiatrists participate
in on-call, after-hours coverage above the 40-hour week to
ensure on-call psychiatrist services are provided 24 hours per
day, 7 days per week. For this reason, the Contractor shall
provide reports summarizing full-time equivalent staffing for
each invoicing period.

2.3.2. Forensic Psychologists

2.3.2.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of two (2) FTE
Forensic Psychologists at NHH to assist with serving patients
deemed not guilty by reasons of insanity, incompetent to
stand trial, or other civilly committed patients who require
inpatienl psychiatric treatment. The Contractor shall ensure
Forensic Psychologists;

2.3.2.1.1. Are clinical psychologists (PhD or Psy.b.);

2.3.2.1.2. Have significant clinical experience In forensic
psychology; and f®*
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2.3.2.1.3. Have certification in forensic psychology
(preferred).

2.3.2.2. The Contractor shall ensure one (1) Forensic Psychologist
provides services beginning In State Fiscal Ye^r 2022 that
include, but are not limited to:

2.3.2.2.1. Assisting with the design and operational
planning for NHFH;

2.3.2.2.2. Developing workflows and policies for NHFH;

2.3.2.2.3. Assisting in ensuring regulatory readiness for
NHFH;

2.3.2.2.4. Supporting TJC accreditation process for NHFH;
and

2.3.2.2.5. Serving patients deemed not guilty by reasons of
insanity, incompetent to stand trial, or other civilly
committed patients whom require Inpatient
psychiatric treatment, upon commencement of
servicesat NHFH.

2.3.2.3. The Contractor shall ensure the (2) Forensic Psychologists
provide full-time clinical services to patients of NHFH upon the
opening of the facility.

2.3.2.4. The Contractor shall ensure the patient-to-provider ratio for
the Forensic Psychologists does not exceed 12:1 at NHFH.

2.3.3. Behavioral Analyst

2.3.3.1. The Contractor shall provide a rhinimum of one (1) FTE Board
Certified Behavioral Analyst who provides services to the
Department upon completion Of NHFH. The Contractor shall
ensure the Behavioral Analyst:

2.3.3.1.1. Coordinates and provides services In applied
behavioral analysis, function analyses and
assessment, behavior acquisition and reduction
procedures, and adaptive life skills;

2.3.3.1.2. Provides ongoing support to clinical staff as it
relates to the implementation and documentation
associated with behavior plans;

^ 2.3.3.1.3. Assists In the development and implementation of
assessment , tools, conducts functional
assessments and analyses when appropriate,
and develops appropriate behavior strategies to

I ttMA.
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teach appropriate behavior and reduce
maladaptive behaviors;

2.3.3.1.4. Provides ongoing support and training to direct
care professionals, clinical staff and other
individuals, including, but not limited to, patients'
guardians, as needed;

2.4. Glencliff Home

2.4.1. Medical Director

2.4.1,1. The Contractor, shall provide one (1) part-time
Geropsychiatrist to serve as the Medical Director for tvro (2)
days per week (sixteen (16) hours per week) at Glenclrfif
Home. The Contractor shall ensure the Medical Director;

2.4.1.1.1. Coordinates all medical care and direct

psychiatric services, treatment and associated
foilow-up to all residents of Glencliff Home;

2.4.1.1.2. Completes and appropriately documents care for
all individuals requiring care, as identified by
Glencliff Home clinical and nursing staff;

2.4.1.1.3. Provides administrative functions, including but
not limited to policy revi^ and establishment.that
reflect current standards of practice; oversight of
physicians; attendance at mandatory committee
meetings, including but not limited to quality
assurance and performance improvement
(QAPI), infection control, and admissions;
regularly review the use of psychotropic
medications for compliance with the Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) regulations;
and the provision of other assistance in meeting
standards for annual State inspections and:
Federal regulations;

2.4.1.1.4. Prepares for, travels as necessary, and delivers
expert testimony in probate court, as needed, on
matters that may Include, but are not limited to,
guardianship cases, electroconvulsive therapy,
and do not resuscitate orders;

2.4.1.1.5. Provides written patient evaluations on each
patient as frequently as required by the
Department but in no case less than once per
calendar year;'and r "

[
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2,4.1.1.6. Serves as liaison with other organizations.
including, but not limited to NHH, when a Glencliff
Home resident is receiving services at another
healthcare institution.

2.4.1.2. The Contractor shall ensure routine or emergency telephone
consultation is provided by the Medical Director or an equally
qualified physician at no additional cost, twenty-four (24)
hours per day, seven (7) days per week, fifty-two (52) weeks
per year, to Glencliff Home.

2.5. Additional Requirements for NHH and NHFH only • Service Area #1 -

2.5.1. The Contractor shall ensure inter-disciplinary case reviews are
completed on 100% of patients who are clinically stable for greater
than fifteen (15) days and still admitted to NHH and NHFH.

2.5.2. The Contractor shall ensure that staffing is maintained at a level that
ensures no impact on the number of NHH and NHFH beds available
and that NHH and NHFH units do not stop admissions due to the lack
of coverage for staff provided by the Contractor.

2.5.3. The Contractor shall ensure that on-call after-hours coverage is
provided by no less than one (1) full-time Psychiatrist. Additional
personnel who provide coverage may be either a Psychiatrist or a
Psychiatric APRN.

2.5.4. The Contractor shall ensure on-call after-hours coverage is assigned
in one-week increments In rotation among the full-time NHH and
NHFH psychiatric staff.

2.5.5. The Contractor shall ensure the on-site after-hours coverage on
weekdays, weekends and holidays is provided by a Psychiatrist or
Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN). The
Contractor shall ensure staff are certified or eligible for certification by
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology, or, is in training in
an accredited psychiatry residency program with at least three years
of training experience, or is credentialed as a Psychiatric APRN
through the American. Nurse Credentialing Center or equivalent
credentialing body.

2.5.6. The Contractor shall maintain a pool of Psychiatrists or Psychiatric
APBNs. or a combination thereof, who are credentialed with NHH and
NHFH for the after-hours work, and the after-hours staff are assigned
to in-house after-hours coverage by the Chief Medical Officer or
Associate Medical Officer with a six (6) month rolling calendar. The
Contractor shall ensure the pool is of sufficient size and appropriate
qualifications to ensure the ability -to meet the staffin^igyel
requirements and performance standards specified herein.
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2.5.7. At the request of the CEO, staff provided by the Contractor shall
provide tele-psychiatry or offsite consultation. The Contractor shall
ensure staff v/ho conduct tele-psychiatry have professional
malpractice insurance in effect, in an amount satisfactory to the
Department, and meet all credentialing and provider enrollment
guidelines pertinent to providing tele-health services.

2.6. Performance Standards and Outcomes for NHH and NHFH only-Service
Area #1

2.6.1. The Contractor's performance standards and outcomes shall be
monitored to ensure:

2.6.1.1. Within forty-five (45) days of the assignment of the Chief
Medical Officer, and annually thereafter, the Contractor and
CEO, in consultation with the Chief Medical Officer, shall
develop a list of perfonnance metrics, which shall be updatkl
on an annual basis at a minimum, biased upon the
deliverables, functions and responsibilities of the Chief
Medical Officer, subject to approval by the CEO, which shall
be reviewed for approval on a quarterly basis.

2.6.1.2. Services provided by the Chief Medical Officer are
satisfactory to the Department. The Contractor shall, no less
than annually and more frequently if required by the
Department, provide an evaluation tool to solicit input from the
CEO regarding the Chief Medical Officer's provision of
services.

2.6.1.3. A corrective action plan is developed to address any material
concerns, as defined by the CEO, in the evaluation tool, and
provide a copy of the plan to the CEO for review and approval.

2.6.1.4. The Contractor shall maintain staffing levels at all times :to
'mitigate any fmpact on (he number of beds avaltabte and
-intemipled admissions due to the lack of staffing coverage.

2.7. Key Performance Indicators for NHH and'NHFH only - Service Area#1
2.7.1. The Contractor shall ensure providers at NHH and NHFH comply with

the following Key Performance Indicators:

2.7.1.1. Psychiatric Progress Notes

2.7.1.1.1. Completed daily on patients who are certified as
acute'inpatlent level of care.

2;7.1.1.2. Completedwithin 24'hoursof seeing a patient.

2.7.1.1.3. Completedinot less than five (5) times ;per week
or un/ess othenvise specifted by tbe
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designee or the Department, on patients who are
no longer acute level of care. ̂

2.7.1.1.4. Content as it pertains to:

2.7.1.1.4.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH and NHFH; and

2.7.1.1.4.2. NHH and NHFH facility's policies
and procedures.

2.7.1.2. Patient Length of Stay

2.7,1.2.1. Evaluation through data collection and case
review of active treatment during patient stay.

2.7.1.3. CMS Certification Guidelines

2.7.1.3.1. Certifications and/or.re-certification conducted in

accordance to required CMS and NHH and NHFH
timeframes.

2.7.1.3.2. Assigned certification status is clearly supported
in psychiatric progress notes.

2.7.1.4. Standardized Process

2.7.1.4.1. Compliance with all existing and future
staridardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

2.7.1.4.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
target outcomes of the standardized work.

2.7.1.5. Treatment Plans

2.7.1.5.1. Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed within 24 hours of admission.

2.7.1.5.2. Performance measured by periodic audits which
are provided to the Chief Medical Officer and
CEO.

2.7.1.5.3. Content as it pertains to:

2.7.1.5.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH anO Iheir associates'

policies: and

2.7.1.5.3.2. NHH and NHFH policies an'd
procedures.

2.7.1.6. Annual Reviews
-M
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2.7.1.6.1. The Chief Medical Officer or designee must
conduct and document annual reviews on all

Contractor Personnel providing services under
this Agreement. The Contractor shajl ensure
perfoRDance evaluations are in compliance with
professional standards for evaluations per CMS
and TJC guidelines.

2.8. Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan for NHH and NHFH only - Service
Area #1

2.8.1. The Contractor shall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to approval, and subsequent modification as required by the
Department. The Contractor shall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a minimum:

2.8.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to operate NHH and NHFH l>eds
at full utilization;

2.8.1.2. Ensuring Contractor's staff receive necessary supervision and
training to perform the assigned tasks;

2.8.1.3. Ensuring patients receive care consistent with evidence-
based care; and

2.8.1.4. Creating and implementing the highest standard practices to
protect the safety of patients, staff, and visitors.

2.8.2. The Contractor shall erisure the Chief Medical Officer -monitors
progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and Contractor on a
quarterly basis.

2.8.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Chief Medical Officer meets with the
CEO and Contractor at minimum on a quarterly basis to review
progress toward Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan goals, as well
as Key Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 2.7. above. .

2.8.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the Chief Medical.
Officer toward these Quality Assurance and Monitoring goals.

2.8.5. The Contractor shall review and revise the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan, in consultation with the CEO on an annual basis, or
as otheiwise requested by the Department.

3. Service Area #2 Non-Emergent Medical Services

3.1. New Hampshire Hospital and New Hampshire Hospital Forensic Hospital

3.1.1. General Medical Director

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Maiy Hllchcock Momorial Kospllal Conlraclof Initials
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3.1.1.1. The Contraclor shall provide one (1) FIE physician to serve
as the General Medical Director at NHH and at NHFH upon
coniniencfiment of patient services at NHFH.

3.1.1.2. The Contraclor shall ensure the General Medical Director is

physically present at NHH and/or NHFH a minimum of forty

(40) hours per vvoek and oversees all clinical staff in Service
Area #2 referenced herein. The Contractor shall ensure the

General Medical Director;

3.1.1.2.1. Is a primary care or internal medicine physician
who has completed residency with at least three
(3) years of experience ir^ supervising primary
care clinicians. (A board certincalion in a primary
care field is preferred.)

3.1.1.2.2. Provides consultation for infection prevention and
infection control practices and protocols;

3.1.1.2.3. Assumes a icadorshlp role in maintaining and
^ improving medical standards of care for patients;

3.1.1.2.4. [Partners with stale-employed medical providers
to provide evidence-based medical care to
patients of NHH and NHFH; and

3.1.1.2.5. Educates staff in the appropriate application of
evidence based practices and protocols for
medical care.

3.1.2. General Internist/Hospitalist

3.1.2.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) FTE General
Internist/Hospitalist. The Contractor siiall ensure the General
Internist/Hospitalist:

3.1.2.1.1. Is a primary carc or internal medicine physician
who has com|)leted residency with at least three

(3) yeans of oxporienco. (A board certification in a
primary caro field i.s preferreci.)

3.1.2.1.2. Provides general medical care to patients at NHH
(iiul NhlFt-l.

3.1.2.1.3. Consults with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbidillcs for patients at NHH and
NHFH.

3.1.2.1.4. Coordinates care with local comniunily hospitals
to ensure-jK-itieiils receive iiospital-leveI medical
caro, if needed, outside ot NHH and NHFH. ^
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3.1.2.1.5. Assists and particlpales in various hospital-v/ide
inillalives. including, but not limited to, vaccination
clinics,, medical testing events, and other
functions thai may result from a pandemic, or
other public health related event.

.  3.1.3. Nurse Practitioner

3.1.3.1. The Contractor shall provide one (1) PTE Nurse Practitioner
to complete primary, acute, and specialty healthcare services.
The Contractor shall ensure the Nurse Practitioner;

3.1.3.1.1. Completes a board certification competency-
based exaniination, with credentials that remain

valid for five (5) years, and completes specific
continuing education reciuirenients to renew
specialty certifications as needed.

3.1.3.1.2. Assesses, diagnoses, and provides patients with
psychotherapy.

3.1.3.1.3. Treats palienls with diagnosed disorders along
with medical comorbiclities that require attention
during their admission,

3.1.3.1.4. Consults with specialists statewide to improve
medical comorbidities for palienls at NHH and
NHFH.

3.1.3.1.'5. Coordinates care with local comtnunity hospitals,
to ensure patients receive hospital-level medical
care, if needed, outside of NHH and NHFH.

3.1.3.1.3. Ar.sists nncl participates in various hospital-wide
Initiatives, such as vaccination clinics, medical
testing events, and other junctions that may result
froiii a pandoinic, or oilier public health related
event.

3.1.4. Administrative Staff

3.1.4.1. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one half (.50) FTE
Administrative Staff to provide administrative support at NHH
to clinical staff. Tlie Contructor shall ensure the

Adminislralivo Staff:

3.1.4.1.1. St-reei'i and assess rciativo priorities of
correspondence, inctuiries. and projects.

3.1.4.1.2. Orgnni^.e systems of distribution and revko.y .of
these items to ensure oflicieiit communic^ltinn. ,
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3.1.4.1.3. Answer administrative questions on behalf of the
Department in a professional manner in
coordination with the Director of Psychiatry
Administration and Chief Medical Officer.

3.1.4.1.4. Respond to routine correspondence in a timely
manner.

3'1.4.1.5. Compose drafts of selected correspondence,
special studies, and/or finishes documents.

3.1.4.1.6. Develop and maintain a filing system for all files
related lb the contract between the Stale and the
Contractor.

3.1.4.1.7. Conduct special studies of an administrative
nature..

3.1.4.1.0. Serve as resource person who is able to direct
persons and inquiries, provide information, and
iRcognliie and assess developing situations of

• significance to the overall functioning of
Contractor within NHH and NHFH.

3.1.4.1.9. Monitor ljudyel accounts, attendance and
scficduies of providers related to the contract with
the Department.

3.1.4.1.10. Schedule weekend and holiday provider
coverage at NHH and/or NHFH in coordination
with the Associate Medical Directors

3.1.4.1.11. Provide reports and other data to ensure proper
contract billing.

3.1.4.1.12. Manage and complete multiple priorities by
established deadlines.

3.1.4.1.13. Support medical provider teams v/ith
comntiinieation. data extraction and other

ndininistrativo tasks.

3.1.4.1.14. Support Ol/OA.4<ey Pedonviance Indicator
moniloriny and re|X)rling in conjunction wilfi llie
Associate Medical Diinctor.

3.1.4.1.15. Support all contracted providers with
administrative tasks required by the Conlraclor,
including hut not limited to expense tracking, time
Mlleslatlons. and compliance monitoring.

'C.'/tfAl.
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3.1.4.1.16. Perform other duties as required or assigned.

3.2. Additional Requirements - Service Area #2

3.2.1. For all non-urgent medical consult requests. Contractor Personnel
shall review and issue either an iipproval or an alternative treatment
recommendation within the next business day (non-hotibay or
weekend) of a non-urgent consult request being made.

3:2.2. The Conlriictor shall act upon all urgent and/or emergent medical
consult requests within one (1) hour of a consult request being made.

3.2.3. The Contractor shall complete a history and physical (H&P) for all
patients within 24 hOLirs of admission, and every 30 days thereafter,
for patients with a length of stay (LOS) greater than 30 days at NHH
and NHFH.

3.2.4. The Contractor shall ensure provider staff provide on-call, after-hours
coverage above the 40-l)our week to ensure on-call physician services
are available 24 hours per day. 7 days per week. For the avoidance of
doubt, the parties agree that there v;ill be one on-call pool of Contractor
Personnel providing call coverage services to NHH and NHFH.

3.3. Porformanco Standards and Outcomes - Service Area U2

3.3.1. The Contractor shall maintain staffing levels at all limes to mitigate any
impact on the number of beds available, and interrupted admissiotis
clue to the lack of sl^iffing coverage.

3.4. Key Performance Indicators - Service Area #2

3.4.1. The Contractor shall ensure ptwiders comply vvilh the following Key
Performance Indicators:

3.4.1.1. Progress Notes

3.4.1.1.1. Completed within 24 hours of sooitig a patient.

3.4.1.1.2. Content.as it pertains to:

3,4,T.1.2.1. CMS local cove-Mage determinations
for NHH af»d their associates'

policies; and

3.4.1.1.2.2. NHH and NHFH policies and
procedures.

3.4.1.2. Stanclardizod Process

3.4.1.2.1. Cotnplianc;o with all existing and future
standardi:-'ed work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

ni-r-;'oio-NHH-y;M'SYun-oi M-wt.-n CMYM-i.-.riMt.ns.
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3.4.1.2.2. Individual metrics are developed based on the
target outcomes of the standardized work.

3.4.1.3. Treatment Plans

3.4.1.3.1. Provider specific portions of treatment plans are
completed v/ithin 24 hours of admission.

3.4.1.3.2. Performance n^easured by random monthly
audits which are provided to the Utilization
Management Committee,

3.4.1.3.3. Content as it pertains to:

3.4.1.3.3.1. CMS local coverage determinations
for NHH ajid their associates"

policies: and

3.4.1.3.3.2. Department policies and
procedures.

3.4.1.4. Annual Reviews

3,4.1.4.1. Annual reviev^s are documented on ail Contractor

Personnel performing services . under this
Agreeivient. The Contractor shall ensure .
pedormance evaluations are in compliance v/ilh
professional standards lor evaluations per CMS
and TJC guidelines,

3.4.2. Upon request by the Department, the Contractor shall identify
additional performance metrics, develop performance goals, establish
monitoring processes and engage iti collaborative performance
evaluation processes for Service Area 112.

3.5. Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan - Service Area U2

3.5.1. The Cotitractor sitall submit a Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan,
subject to jipprovni, and siibsociuont modification as required l^y the
Department. The Contractor siiall ensure the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan addresses at a mininnun:

3.5.1.1. Ensuring adequate staffing to operate NHH and NHFH hods
at full uliiixation;

3.5.1.2. Ensuring the Contractor's staff receive necessar>' supervision
atjd'training to pcjfonu the assigned tasks;

3.5.1.3. Ensuring that patio.nls iecc-.-ive care consistent witii evidence-
based care; and

3.5.1.4. Crqaling and im|ik;mc;nling Ihr; liiylioisl standard prac^ic^?JS to
protect the safely of palioiits, staff, and visitors. |

(Mfi i-.-.-i--: .'I'Wif a.iic. .
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3.5.2. The Conlraclor shall ensure the General Medical Director monitors

progress toward the stated goals in the Quality Assurance and
Monitoring Plan and provides reports to the CEO and a representative
of the Contractor on a quarterly basis.

3.5.3. The Contractor shall ensure the Genera! Medical Director meets with

the CEO and Contractor on a quarterly basis to review progress toward
Quality Assurctncu and Monitoring Plan goals, as well as Key
Performance Indicators specified in Subsection 3.4. above.

3.5.4. The Contractor shall oversee the performance of the General Medical
Director toward those Quality Assurance and Monitoring goals.

3.5.5. In consultant with the CEO, the Conlraclor shall review and revise the

Quality Assurance and Monitoring Plan on ati annual basis, or as
otherwise requested by the Department.

4: Additional Requirements - All Service Areas

4.1. Subject to Section 4.3. the Contractor slial! ensure all assignments for all
staffing positions are covered on a daily basis, und. if providing staff to NHH
and NHFH, are responsible for reporting out on staffing assignments during
daily safety huddles at NHH and NHFH.

4.2. Tlie Contractor shall ensure all staffing positions provided are conlinuously
filled or in active recruitment. The Contractor shall provide the appropriate
Department designce with nionliily updates on the recruitment process for all
unfilled positions.

4.3. The Contractor shall he solely responsible for providing, at no additional cost
to the Department, qualified, sufficient slafi coverage to fill any gap in coverage
during any anticipated leave time, including sick leave, vacation, or continuing
medical education leave lasting more than five (5) consecutive days uiiless
otherwise agreed upon on a case-by-case basis by the CEO, and.for providing
approprialo Irnnsilion between staff covering for those on leave. Qualified
sufficient staff coverage . means [lersonnel who iiieol or exceed the
qiialifications of the vacating staff memher.

4.4. The Conlraclor shall track and report staffing levels by FTP. units on a monthly
l)asis to the Department. The Coritraclor shall not be required to provide hourly
timecards for clinical staff. The Conlraclor shall provide hourly timecards for
non-clinical staff that summari.vc hours worked for each invoicing period.

4.5. The Contractor shall ensure the caie needs of patients are fully addressed by
modifying the number of iiours per week worked by FTf- and/or Part-Time FTE
staff, as requested by the Department. The Cpnti-oclor shall ensure Part -Time
FTE staff work IIk; ap[)roprinlo nunitx'i ol hours in accordance with FTE
allocation.

{• 1 (i I'-i,!-- .
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4.6. In the event of a healthcare system emergency, as delemiined by the
Department., including but not limited to a local epidemic, pandemic, facility
closures, or mass-quarantine In which additional staffing or resources are
required due to a surge of Individuals requiring services, the Contractor may
also be required to adjust the total number of staff, both full-time and part-time,
to fully address the care needs of patients.

4.7. All personnel provided by the Contractor shall be subject to approval by the
Department prior to notifying candidates of assignment or hire. The Department
will inform the Contractor of any applicable Department designee for this
purpose per Service Area or position.

4.8. The Department, at Its sole discretion, may rescind, either permanently or
temporarily, its approval of any Contractor Personnel providing any services for
any of the following reasons:

4.8.1. Suspension, revocation orother loss ofa required license, certification
or other contractual requirement to perform such services under the
contract;

4.8.2. Provision of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
misfeasance, Insubordination or failure to satisfactorily provide
required services;

4.8;3. . Arrest or conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or alcohol
related offense:

4.8.4. Abofition of the rofe due to a change in organizatfonaf structure, tack
of sufficient funds or like reasons; or

4.8.5. Any other reason that includes, but is not limited to: misconduct;
violation of Department policy; violation of state or federal laws and
fegu}ations pena}rt}ng to the appiicabie Department service area; or a
determination made by the Department that the individual presents a
risk to the health and safety of any staff member or any individual
"served by the Department.

4.9. in the event of such rescission, .the Department shall, to the extent possible,
provide the .Contractor with reasonable advanced notice and the appft'cab/e
reason. The Contractor shall ensure the applicable staff member(s) are
prohibited from providing services for the period of time that the Department
exercises this right. No additionaf payments will be paid by the State of New
Hampshire for any staff removed from duty by the Department for atiy reason.
The Contractor:

4.9.1. Shall, unless the Contractor Personnel was. removed from providing
services under Section 4.8.4, provide replacement personnel who
meet all of the applicable requirements under the contract, includingC-08

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 ' Mary Hilchcock Momortal Hospllal Contractor I niliaJs.
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but not limited to being subject to Department approval specified in
4.7.;

4.9.2. Shall be responsible for providing transition services to the applicable
Service Area to avoid the Interruption of services and administrative
responsibilities at no additional cost to the Department;

4.9.3. Shall furnish replacement staff, within ten (10) business days, who
meet all of the requirements for the applicable position under the
resulting contract(s) If the duration of a temporarily rescinded approval
Is greater than seven (7) calendar days. The Contractor shall be
informed by the Department the anticipated duration for which
approval wilt remain rescinded. The Contractor shall be responsible
for providing, at no additional cost to the Department, transition
services to the Department to avoid service interruption;

4.9.4. vMay initiate, at the sole discretion of the Contractor, any internal
personnel actions against its own employees. Nothing herein prohibits
the Contractor from seeking information from the Department
regarding the Department's decision, unless information is otherwise
restricted from disclosure by the Department based on internal
Department policies or rules, State of New Hampshire personnel
policies, rules, collective bargaining agreements, or other state or
federal laws.

4.9.6. The Contractor shall ensure that, prior to providing the applicable
services for the appiicabte Department service area or feciJJly, aJJ
required licenses, certifications, privileges, or other specified minimum
qualifications are met for all staff, and where applicable, are
mairitained throughout the provision of services for the full term of the
Contract. The Contractor shall provide the applicable Department
designee with a copy of all documents. The Contractor shall not'hold

. the Department financially liable for any fees or costs for ariy ticenses,
certifications or renewal of same, nor for any fees or costs incurred for
providing copies of said licenses or certifications.

4.9.6. In addition to any approvals required by the Contractor for employees,
the Contractor shall ensure staff provide timely, prior notification to the
applicable Department designee for any anticipated teave time, unfess
othenvise stated herein for a specific position or service area. The
Contractor shall ensure that all staff provided have a standard amount

■  of vacation and sick time, subject to the normal and customary
employee benefits and policies of the Contractor. Howevfer, the
Contractor shall ensure staff abide by the State holiday schedule.

4.10. The Contractor shall ensure annual performance reviews are completed for all
Contractor Personnel. The Contractor shall incorporate feedback fr^sthe

I
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applicable Department designee for such reviews. The Contractor shall ensure
that goal development is responsive to the evolving needs of the Department
over the course of the contract period.

4.11. The Contractor shall be responsible for managing all employee relations and
perforrnahce management issues for the staff provided, in accordance \with the
Contractor's policies and procedures, Medical Service Organization (MSG) by
laws, and. applicable NHH, NHFH, Glencliff Home, and/or State of New
Hampshire policies.

4.12. Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall ensure all personnel provided
undergo the following criminal background, registry, screening and medical
examinations;

4.12.1. Criminal Background (including New Hampshire criminal
background);

4.12.2. Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services Stale Registry;

4.12.3. Division for Children, Youth and Families Central Registry; and

4.12.4. Physical capacity examination.

4.13. The Contractor shall ensure Contractor Personnel assigned to perform
services under the Agreement comply with all Department requirements,
policies, and procedures relative to infection prevention, mitigation, and control
to mitigate the risks of disease transmission prior to the commencement of
services.

4.14. The Contractor shall ensure^that the criminal background, registry, screening
and medical examinations above are kept current as required and In
accordance with the Department's confidentiality policy: the Department
receives copies of all required documentation prior to the commencement of
services and is-not responsible for any costs Incurred in obtaining the
documentation.

4.15. The Contractor shall not utilize any personnel, including subcontractors, to fulfill
the obligations of the contract, who have been convicted of any crime of
'dishonesty, ineluding but not limited to criminal fraud, or otherwise convicted of
arry felony or misdemeanor offense for which Incarceration for up to one (1)
year is an authorized penalty. The Contractor shall initiate a criminal
background check re-Investigation of all personnel provided every five (5)
years. The Contractor shall ensure the five (5) year period is based on the date
of the last criminal background check conducted by the Contractor or their
agents.

5. State-Owned'Oevlces, Systems and Network Usage

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH.01 Mary Hitchcock Momorial Hospllal' ConUoctor IrJUols
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5.1. Contractor personnel must use a state-issued device, Including, not limited to
computers, tablets, or mobile telephones, in the fulfilling the requirements of

. the contract. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel;

5.1.1. Use the information that they have permission to access solely for the
provision of services hereunder or conducting official state business.
All other use or access is strictly forbidden including, but not limited, to
personal or other private and non-State use, and that at no time shall,
except as necessary to provide services hereunder, Contractor
workforce or agents access or attempt to access information without
having the express authority of the Department to do so;

5.1.2. Not access or attempt to access information In a manner inconsistent
with the approved policies, procedures, and/or agreement relating to
system entiV/access;

5.1.3. Not copy, share, distribute, sub-license, modify, reverse engineer,
rent, or sell software licensed, developed, or being evaluated by the
stale. At alt times the Contractor must use utmost care to protect and
keep such software strictly confidential in accordance with the license
or any other agreement executed by the State. Only equipment or
software owned, licensed, or being evaluated by the State of New
Hampshire can be used by the Contractor. Non-standard software
shall not be installed on any equipment unless authorized by the
Department's Information Security Office;

5.1.4. Agree (hat emaif and other efecfronic communication messages
created, sent, and received on a state-issued email system are the
property of the State of New Hampshire and to be used for business '
purposes only. Email is defined as "internal email systems" or "state-
funded email systems;" The Contractor understands and agrees that
use of email shail follow Department and Stale of New Hampshire
standard policies; and

5.1.5. Use the Intemet and/or Intranet for access to and distribution of
Information in direct support 6i the business of the State of New
Hampsbke according to poiicy of the DepartmeoL At no time should
the internet be used for personal use.

6. Exhibits Incorporated

6.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health information in
compJ'iance vwfh the Standards for Privacy of tndividuaiiy JdentifiabJe -Health
Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and in
accordance with the attached Exhibit I. Business Associate Agreement, which
has been executed by the parties.

• D8

6.2. The Contractor shaft manage aff confidenfiaf data related to this Agrearnem^
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accordance -with the terms of Exhibit K. DHHS Information Security
Requirements.

6.3. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached
hereto and Incorporated by reference herein.

7. Reporting Requirements

7.1. Service Area #1

7.1.1. On a quarterly basis, or as otherwise more frequently required by the
Uriited States Department of Health and Human Services regulations
and/or the Department, the Contractor shall submit a written report, In
a form specified by the Department, to the Department documenting
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of fvtedicare, Medicaid, and other
third-party providers. ^

7.1.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a written report on an annual
basis to the Department that describes the services rendered by the
clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's performance pursuant to the
requirements of the contract during the preceding contract year.

7.2. Service Area #2

7.2.1. On a quarterly basis, or as otherwise more frequently required by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services regulations
and/or the Department,.the Contractor shall submit a written report, iln
a form specified by the Department, to the Department documentinp '
the services provided by the Contractor's staff with sufficient detail to
satisfy the reporting requirements of Medicare, Medicaid, and other
third-party providers.

7.2.2. In addition to other reports as agreed to by the Department and the
Contractor, the Contractor shall submit a written report onan'annual
basis fo the Department that describes the services provided by the
General Medical Director and clinical staff, as well as the Contractor's
performance pursuant to this Agreement during the preceding contract
year.

7.3. , All Service Areas

7.3.1. The'Contractor shail provide,monthiy staff reports to the Department
(0 sufficiently document actual stafffng tevete and services renderBd.
Monthly staff reports shall Include thefdiiowing;

7.3.1.1. Monthly staffing schedule;

7.3.1.2. PTE by position in accordance with the resulting contract's);

'  i eikh
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7.3.1.3. Actual PTE worked within the monthly reporting period by
-clinical position: and

7.3.1.4. Actual PTE allocated to sick time, leave time, or any other
non-clinical time within the monthly reporting"period by clinical
position.

8. Additional Terms

8.1. Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes

8.1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal
legislation or court orders may have an Impact on the Services
described herein, the Stale of New Hampshire has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement

.  so as to achieve compliance therewith. In the event that any future
slate or federal legislation or court order impacts the Services

'  described herein, the Department shall provide the Contractor with
reasonable advanced notice of any necessary modification to Service
priorities and expenditure requirements, the parties agree to
cooperate In the implementation and planning of any such
modificalioh and the Department shall consider Contractor's
reasonable requests with respect . to such modifications.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Department shall retain the final
right to modify Service priorities and expenditure requirements under
this Agreement so as to achieve compliance with any future state or
federal legislation or court orders that have an impact on the Services
described herein.

6.2. Credits and Copyright Ownership

8.2.1. All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other
materials related to and resulting from the performance of the
services of the Agreernent shall include the following statement,''The
prepamtfon of this (repod, docum^t etc.) was ftnanoed under an
Contract with the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and
Human Services, with funds provided in part by the State of New
Hampshire and/or such other furxling sources as were available or
required, e.g.. the United States Department of Health and Human
Services."

8.2.2. All materials produced or purchased under the Agreement shall have
prior approval from the Department before printing, production,
distribution or use.

.  6.2.3. The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all
original materials produced, Including, but not limited to:

8.2.3.1. Brochures. r-°^
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8.2.3.2. Resource directories.

8.2.3.3. Protocols or guidelines.

8.2.3.4. Posters.

8.2.3.5. Reports.

8.2.4. The Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the
Agreement without prior written approval from the Department.

8.3. Eligibility Determinations

8.3.1. If the Contractor is permitted and required by the Department to
determine the eligibility of individuals such eligibility determination
shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and state laws,
regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

8.3.2. Eligibility .determinations shall be made on forms provided by the
Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such
times as are prescribed by the Department.

8.3.3. In addition to the detemnination forms required by the Department, the
Contractor shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services
hereunder, which file shall include ail information necessary to
support an eligibility determination and such other information as the
Department requests In writing. The Contractor shall furnish the
Department with all forms and documentation regarding eligibility
determinations that the Department may request or require.

8.3.4. The Contractor understands that all applicants for services
hereunder, as well as individuals declared ineligible have a right to a
fair hearing regarding that, determination. The 'Contractor hereby
covenants and agrees that aff appfi'cants for servfces shaft be
permitted to fill out an application form and that each applicant or re-
applicant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair hearing in
accordance with Department regulations.

9. Records

9.1. The Contractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to:

9.1.1. Books, records, documents and other electronic or physical data
evidencing and reflecting ail costs and. other expenses incurred by the
Contractor tn the performance of the Agreement, and aJJ jncome
received or collected by the Contractor.

9.1.2. Ail records must be maintained in accordance with accounting
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all such'
costs and expenses, and which are.acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, andyoriginal
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. evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers,
requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of in-kind contributions,
labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by
the Department.

lO.LIquidated Damages

10.1. Liquidated damages are specified in, and may be assessed in accordance with.
Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 14.
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Payment Terms

This Agreement is funded by:

.1.1. 42% General funds.

1.2. 58% Other funds (Provider Fees).

For the purposes of this Agreement:

2.1. the Department has identified the Contractor as a Contractor, In
accordance With 2 CFR 200.331.

2.2. The Department has identified this Agreement as NON-R&D, in
accordance with 2 CFR §200.332.

The Contractor shall provide services under this Agreement based on the
Budget below per applicable Service Area and State Fiscal Year. The
Contractor shall be compensated to provide and deliver the services described
In Exhibit B, Scope of Services, on the basis of this Budget.

Budget
Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year

Service
Area f^1

1/1/2022-
6/30/2022

7/1/2022-
6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024

7/1/2024-

6/30/2025

7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$5,396,232 $  11.964,355 $  12.323.286 $ 12,692,985 $  13.073,774

Service

Area #2
1/1/2022-

.6/30/2022

7/1/2022-

6/30/2023

7/1/2023-

6/30/2024
7/1/2024-

6/30/2025
7/1/2025-

6/30/2026

$ 558,392 • $ 1,150,288 $ 1,184,796 ■$■ 1,220,340 $  1.256,950 •

3.1. The Contractor shall provide the Department within each Service Area
a detailed personnel listing fdnall staff performing services on an annual
basis for each State Fiscal Year,'or more frequently as required by the
Department, to ensure the accuracy of information contained ^therein ■
and proper cost allocation. The Contractor shall ensure the listings:
3.1.1. include information for each Service Area v/hlch includes, but is

not lirhited to:

3.1.1.1. Staff names.

3.1.1.2. Staff titles.

3.1.1.3. Personnel costs inclusive of salary costs, fringe
benefit costs, and Indirect rates.

3. ̂  .2. Are In a format as determined and approved by the Depaitinenl.

(
3/2/2022

Mary Hltchcodi Memorial Hospllal .AContraclor InltlalsRFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH01
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3.2. The Contractor shall automatically reduce invoices by the appropriate
amount immediately in the event a Contractor Personnel position
becomes'vacant, and is not Immediately filled. The Contractor can use
temporary staffing to fill a position until a permanent staff member is
Identified.

3.3. The Contractor shall ensure all providers and/or clinical staff are fully
credentiated and enrolled with insurance carriers prior to beginning
work.

3.4. The Contractor shall bill for each Service Area separately.

4. The Contractor shall submit an Invoice in a form satisfactory to the Department
by the twentieth (20th) working day of the following month, which Identifies and
requests reimbursement for authorized expenses Incurred m the prior month,
with the exception of June Invoices, which shall be submitted by the tenth {^0'^)
of the following month The Contractor shall ensure the Invoice is completed,
dated and relumed to the Department in order to Initiate payment.

5. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and
■ emailed to NHHFInancialServlcestq)dhhs.nh.qov. or invoices may be mailed to:

V  Financial Manager
Department of Health and Human Services
New Hampshire Hospital

'121 South Fruit Street

Concord. NH 03301

6. The Department shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days
of receipt of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the submitted Invoice and
if sufficient funds are available, subject to Paragraph 4 of the General
Provisions Form Nurriber P-37 of this Agreement.

7. The Contractor shall designate a contact person to resolve any questions or
discrepancies regarding invoices. The Contractor shall:

7.1. Provide the Department with the name, title, telephone number, fax
number and email address of the contact person.

7.2. Notify the Department in the event the designated contact person
changes.

8. The^final invoice shall be due to the Department no Hater than forty (40) days
after the contract completion date specified in Form P-37, General Provisions
Block 1.7 Completion Date.

9. The Contractor must provide the services In Exhibit 8, Scope of Services, In
compliance with any funding requirements provided by the Department to
Contractor Iri writing.

r*FP-2022-NHU-03-PSYCH-01 Mfity Hllchcock Momotlol UosplUil Contraclof Initials
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10. The Contractor agrees that funding urider this Agreement may be withheld, in
whole or In part In the event of non-compliance with the terms and conditions
of Exhibit B, Scope of Services.

11. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that
funding under this agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part, In the event
of non-compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable
to the services provided, or if the said services or products have not been
satisfactorily completed in accordance with the terms and conditions.of this
agreement.

12. Notwithstanding Paragraph 17.of the General Provisions Form P-37, changes
limited to adjusting amounts within, the price limitation and adjusting
encumbrances between Stale Fiscal Years and budget class lines through the
Budget Office may be made by written agreement of both parties, without
obtaining approval of the Govempr and Executive Council, if needed and
justified.

13. Audits

13.1. The Contractor must . email an annual audit to
melissa.s.morinf5)dhhs.nh.qov if any of the following conditions exist:

13.1.1. Condition A - The Contractor expended $750,000 or more in
federal funds received as a subredpient pursuant to 2 CFR Part
200, during the most recently completed fiscal year.

13.1.2. Condition 8 - the Contractor Is subject to audit pursuant to the
requirements of NH RSA 7:28. Ill-b, pertaining to charitable
organizations receiving support of $1.000,000 or more.

13.1.3. Condition C - The Contractor is a public company and required
by Security and Exchange Commission fSEC) regulations to
submit an annual financial audit.

13.2-. If Condition A exists, the Contractor shall submit an annual single audit
performed by an independent Certified Public Accountant (CPA) to the
Department within 30 days after the completion of the single audit or
upon submission of the Contractor's single audit to the Federal Audit
Clearinghouse conducted in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR
Part:200, Subpart F of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles/and Audit Requirements for Federal awards.

13.3. If Condition 8 or Condition C emts, the Contractor shatt submit an
annual financial audit performed by an independent CPA within 120
days after the close of the Contractor's fiscal year.

-13.4. In addition to, and not in any way in limitation of obligations of the
Corltract, It is understood and agreed by the Contractor that the

-  'Contractor shall be held liable for any. state or federal audit exceffflons
I

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mory Hilchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initiols
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and shall relum to the Department all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken, or which have been
disallowed because of such an exception.

14. Liquidated Damages;

14.1. Continuity of Services:

14.1.1. The Contractor and Department agree that the Contractor's
failure to provide requir^ staffing, required services, or meet
the performance standards and reporting requirements as
described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, shall result in
liquidated damages.

14.1.2. The Contractor and the Department agree that:

14.1.2.1. It will be extremely impracticable and difficult to
determine actual damages that the Department will
sustain in the event that the Contractor breaches this

Agreement by failing to maintain the required staffing
levels or by failing to deliver the required-services, as
described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services;

14.1.2.2. Any such breach by the Contractor will delay and
disrupt the Department's operations and impact its
ability to meet its obligations and lead to significant
damages of an uncertain amount as well as a
reduction of services; and

14.1.2.3. The liquidated damages as specified in this Exhibit C,
•  Paymenf Tenrrs, are reasonable and fair and not

intended as a penalty.

14.2. Notification;

14.2.1. The Department shall make all assessments of liquidated
damages. Prior to the imposition of liquidated damages, as
described herein, the Department shall issue a written notice of
remedies that will lnclude, as applicable, the following:

14.2.1.1. A citation of the contract provision violated;

14.2.1.2. The remedies to be applied, and the date the
remedies shall be imposed (cure period) for the
Contractor to remedy such failure. A reasonable cure
'period M'iJ) he determined by Jbe Department based
on service type, and to the extent possible, the notice
will not be less than 30 days;

14.2.1.3. The basis for the Department's determination that the
remedies shall be imposed;

[
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14.2.1.4. A request for a written Corrective Action Plan from
the Contractor below; and

14.2.1.5. The tlmefranie and procedure for the Contractor to
dispute the Department's determination.

14.2.2. The Contractor shall submit the written Corrective Action Plan

referenced in Subparagraph 14.2.1.4 above to the Department
for review .within five (5) business days of receiving notification
as specified in Subsection 14.2. Notification.

14.2.3. The Contractor agrees that the Corrective Action Plan is subject
to the Department's approval prior to its implementation.

14.2.4. No liquidated damages will be assessed against Contractor if
the parties have agreed to a Corrective Action Plan and the
Contractor is in compliance with the terms of the Corrective
Action Plan.

14.2.5. If the failure to perform by the Contractor is not resolved within
.the cure period as specified in the Corrective Action Plan, as
approved by the Department, liquidated damages may be
imposed retroactively to the date of failure to perform and will
continue until the failure is cured or any resulting dispute is
resolved in the Contractor's favor.

14.2.6. The Contractor's dispute of liquidated damages or remedies
shall not stay the effective date of the proposed liquidated
damages or remedies.

14,3. Liquidated Darhages:

14.3.1. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of
$1,000 per day for each day the Contractor faffs to meet the
general and specific service requirements for each Service
Area as identified in Exhibit B, Scope of Services.

14.3.2. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of
$T.000 per day for each day the Contractor fails to meet and
maintain the staffing levels identified In Exhibit B, Scope of
Services.

14.3.3. -Liquidated damages, 'If assessed, shall ibe In the amount of
$1,000 per day for each day the Contractor falls to meet the
performance standards identified In Exhibit B, Scope, of
Services.

14.3.4. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in -the amount of
$1,000 per day for each day the Contractor fails to meet the
reporting requirements identified in Exhibit B, ScQpg of
Services.

RFP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mory HUchcock Momotlal UospiWl ConUaclor Initials
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14.3.5. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall apply until the
Contractor cures the failure cited in the not'fication described in

Subsection 14.2, or until the resulting dispute is resolved In the
Contractor's favor.

14.3.6. The amount of liquidated damages assessed by the
Department shall not exceed the price limitation in Form P-37,
General Provisions, Block 1.8 - Price Limitation.

14.3.7. During the term of this Agreement and the period for retention
hereunder, the Department, the United States Department of
Health and Human Services, and any of their designated
representatives shall have access to ail reports and records
maintained pursuant to the Agreement for purposes of audit,
examination, excerpts and transcripts. Upon the purchase by
the Department of the maximum number of units provided for in
the Agreement and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Agreement and all the obligations of the parties
hereunder (except such obligations as, by the tenns of the
Agreement are to be perforined after the end of the term of this
Agreement and/or survive the termination of the Agreement)
shall terminate; provided however, that if. upon review of the
Final Expenditure Report the-Department shall disallow any
expenses claimed by the Contractor as costs hereunder the
Department shall retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the
amount of such expenses as are disallowed or to recover such
sums frorn the Contractor.

14.4. Assessment;

14.4.1. The Department shall be .entitled to assess and irecover
liquidated damages cumulatively under each section applicable
to any given incident.

14.4.2. Assessment and recovery of liquidated damages by the
Department shall be in addition to, and not exclusive of, any
other remedies, including actual damages, as may be available
to the Department fpr breach'Of contract, both at law and in
equity, and shall not preclude the Department from recovering
damages related to other acts or omissions by the Contractor
under this Agreement. Imposition of liquidated damages shall
not lirnit the right of the Department to terminate the Contract
for default as provided in Paragraph 8 of the General Provisions
(P-37).

14.5, Damages Related to,Failure to Document Medical Necessity:

RPP-2022-NHH-03-PSYCH-01 Mary Hitcticock Muftiorial Hospllal Conlraclor Inilials
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v..

14.5.1. The Contractor shall be liable to the Department for any losses
incurred by the Department which arise out of the failure of
Contractor staff to provide the required documentation to
support medical necessity as identified in Exhibit B. Scope of
Services.
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CERTIFICATiON REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690. Title V, Subtitle D: 41
U.S.C. 701 et seq.). and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the followirig Certification;

ALTERNATIVE I - FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L 100-690. Title V. Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.). The January 31.
1989 regulations were amended and.published as Part II of the May 25.1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certrfrcatlon by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that Is a State
may elect to make one certification to the Department in each federal fiscal year in lieu of certifrcdtes for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should
send it to:

Commissioner-

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,
Concord. NH 03301-6505

1. The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace and spectfying the actions fhaf will be (aken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
.1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse In the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurring In the workplace;
1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be

givsn B copy of the statement required by paragraph |e.1;
1.4. Notifying the employee In the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee will
■1.4.1. Abide by the terms of the statement; and
1.4.2. Notify the employer in vyriting of his or her convictipn for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
■  conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
^Employers of convicted employees must provide notice. Including position title, to every grant
ofTicer on whose grant activity tfie convicted" emptoyee was wonkmg. crntess fhe Feiiera^egency

Exhibit D--Ccrtlftca«onfOoaKling naiQ Ffco Vendor Irttiol*
. Workplace Reqirtretnente 3/2/2022
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has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include the
Identification numberfs) of each affected grant;

1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 celendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2, with respect to any. employee who is'so convicted
1.6:1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. as
amended; or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily In a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate egerKy;

1.7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1,1.2, 1.3,1.4,1.6. arid 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done In
connection with the specific grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state, zip code) (list each location)

Check □ if there are workplaces on file that are not Identified here.

3/2/2022

Vendor Name:

OMuSiQMd by:

tliijeri J. /Wp
Dale lsiamef'^'Sv^W'3. Merrens, mo

Title, chief Clinical Officer

CUiOXHS'llO'/U
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CERTIRCATiON REGARDING LOBBYING

The Vendor identtfted in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identiHed in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION • CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
•Temporary Assistance to Ne^y Families under Title IV-A
•Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-D
•Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
•Medicald Program under Title XIX
'Community Services Block Grant under Title VI
•Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to Influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modificaljon of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by speciftc mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
Qn offtcer or empk>y$B of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbying, In accordance with its instructions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-l.)

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
document for sub-awards at alMiers (Including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperafive agreements) and ffiaf aff scrb-recfprenfs shaft osrttfy and drsctose eccord'tngly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
.was made or .entered Into. Submission of this certification is a prer^ulsite for making or entering Into this
transaction Imposed by Section 1352, Title 31. U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penally of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

Vendor Name:

'DocuSlgrMObr:

3/2/2022 1 J. AlP
5^te ' ^ . Merrens, m

chief clinical officer

i
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CERTiFiCATION REGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
• Executive Office of the President. Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment. -
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as identified In Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the followina
Certification: ^

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTinCATION
1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the

certification set out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result In denial
of participation in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why It cannot provide tfie certification. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Seivices' (DHHS) (
determination whether to enter Into this transacbon. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation In
this transaction.

3. The certification in this clause is a material repf-esenlation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective
prirnary participant knovringly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Government. DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) Is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns
that Its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms "covered transaction." "debarred." "suspended," "ineligible.' "lower tier covered
transaction," "participant," "person." "primary covered transaction," "principal." "proposal," and
"vdluritaflly excluded," as used In this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549:45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered Into. It shall not kno^ngly enter Into any lower tier covered
transacbon with a person who Is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that It will include the
clause tilled "Certification Regarding Debarment. Suspension. Ineliglbllity and Voluntary Exclusion -
Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by DHHS, without modification. In all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

8. A participaril in a covered transacbon may rely upon a certification 'of a prospective participant In a
lower tie; covered transaction that it is riot debarred, suspended, ineligible, or Involuntarily excluded
from the covered transacbon, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which It determines the eligibility of Its principals. Each
participant may. but Is not required to. check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained In the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
In order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge andi'"^'"

,  Exhibit F-Certificallon RaganJing Debarmenl, Suspension _ CoMredorlntfiaJs
And Other Responsibilrty Matters 3/2/2022
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information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent
person in the ordinary coui^ of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant In a
covered transaction Knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a pereon who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, of voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, OHMS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default -

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

11. The prospective primary partidpanl certifies to the best of Its knowledge and belief, that it and its
principals:
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a putilic (Federal, State or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or crvilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding-this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
oertificatlon, su(^ prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS

13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
defined in 43 CFR Part 76. certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal departrhent or agency.
13.2. where the prospective tower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such

prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
Include this clause entitled "Certification Regardirig Debarment, Suspension, Incligibility. and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions." without modification in all lower tier covered
transactions and In all solicitations for tower tier covered transactions.

Contractor Name:

OeeuSipncfl br:

3/2/2022 I ■elwerl J. AumM-i, All?
Date 3. Merrens, MD

Chief Clinical officer

fejAiAL
4Exhibit F • CoriifiMUon Regarding Dobarment, Suspension ConUactor Ihhials
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CERTIFiCATION OF COMPUANCE WITH REQUiREMENTS PERTAINiNG TO
FEDERAL NONDiSCRIMiNATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAiTH»BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHiSTLEBLQWER PROTECTIONS

The Contractor identilled in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified In Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certiflcatjon:

Contractor vnll comply, and wlil require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscriminalion requirements, which may include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 37B9d) which prohibits
recipients of federal hjnding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benents, oh the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

- the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal furiding under this
statute are prohibited.from discriminating, either In employment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements:

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2G00d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or act'rvity);

- the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or t>enefits, In any program or acUvity;

- the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34), which prohibits .
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities In employment, State and local
govemment services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

• the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1661,1683,1685-66), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

• the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in programs or activities recelvtrig Federal financial assistance. It does not include
employment discrimination;

-28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U;S. Department of Justice Regulatiohs - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations-Nondiscrimlnation; Equal .Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community

■ organizations); Executive Order No. 13559. which provide fundamental pririciples and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

-28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal T/ealmenl for Faith-Based
Organizations); and Whistleblov/er protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The Notional Defense Authorization
Acl(NDAA)for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239, enacted January 2.2013) the Pilot Program,for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees against

fof certain whistle blowinp aclivities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

The certificate set out below Is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for.
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarmenL r-os

ExNbit G
Conlraclor InWate _

'C«ti(<c«Ocin o( CwnplUKK* Mith nqujrtmcnU HondiMrirriMlioiV Equal TiaaVnan iX ^ariiaitiar*
•MVAMW>lMwpn)lflCliOni /-,/nmo
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In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearirig on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's.
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the follovwng
certification:

I. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

3/2/2022

Date

Contractor Name:

-OMXiSlgntd Vy:

J. AumtA,S;
f7ame?'^ifwSr"(i'3. Merrcns, mo
Title:

Chief Clinical Officer

Exhibit G
Contractor Initials
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103-227, Part C - Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted In any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 16, if the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or (oca! governments, by Federal grant, contr^, loan, or loan guarantee. The
tew does not appAy to Ohftdien's sennces provided in private residences, fadlities landed soieiy by
Medicare or Medicaid fiinds. and portions of facilities used for Inpatient drug or alcohol treatrhent. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000.per day and/or the Imposition of an administrative compliance order on (he responsible entity. . .

The CJontractor identifred in Seclion.1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
represerrtatrve as identified Vn Section 1 .t t and 1 .^2 o1 the Generaii Piovteions. to execute the loficrwing
certification;

1. By signing and submitting (his contract, the Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply
with all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C. known as (he Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Contractor Name:

>-">I>ocuSlon*d by:

3/2/2022 I £jiWarl J, MD
Dale 3. Merrens, MD

Title: Chief clinical officer

Exhibft H - Certificalion Regarding Conuaclor Initials
EnvlronmenialTobacto Smoke 3/2/2022
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- BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement (Form P-37)
CAgreemenV) agrees, as a Business Associate, to comply with the Health Insurance PortahlTity
and Accountability Act. Public Law 104-191. the Standards for Privacy and Security of
Individually Identifiable Health Information. 45 CFR Parts 160.162. and 164 (HIPAA).
provisions of the HITECH Act. Title Xill. Subtitle D. Parts 1&2 of the American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act of 2009, 42 USC 17934. et sec., applicable to business associates, and as
applicable, to be bound by the provisions of the Confidentiality of Substance Uise Disorder
Patient Records, 42 USC s. 290 dd-2. 42 CFR Part 2. (Part 2), as any may be amended from
time to time.

a. "Business Associate" shall mean the Contractor and its agents who receive, use, or have
access to protected health information (PHI) as defined in this Business Associate

("BAA") aT\d the Agreement, "Covered shaU reeao the State o( Mew
Hampshire; Department of Health and Human Services.

b. The following terms have the same meaning as defined in HIPAA, the HITECH Act, and
Part 2, as they may be amended from time to time: '

"Breach," "Covered Entity," "Designated Record Set," "Data Aggregation,"
Designated Record Set." Health Care Operations." HITECH Act," "Individual,"
"Privacy Rule," "Required by law." "Security Rule," and "Secretary."

0. "Protected Health Information" ("PHI") as used in this Agreement means protected health
Information defined in HIPAA 45 CFR 160.103, limited to the Information created, received,
or used by Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity, and includes any Part
■2 records relating to substance use disorder, if applicable, as defined below.

d. 'Part 2 record" means any patient "Record;" relating to a "Patient," and "Patient Identifying
Information." as defined in 42 CFR Part 2.11.

e. "Unsecured Protected Health Information' means protected health information that is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health Informalion unusable,
unreadable, or Indecipherable to unauthorized Individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards developing organization that Is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

(2) Business Associale Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information.

a. Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain, store, or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outllne^fi!ler
Exhibit B, Scope of Services, of the Agreement. Further. Business Associate, ir

Cvhibltl Contfactorlnltlib v .

Health Imurance Ponablllty Act 3/2/2022
Butln«i5 Associate Agreement ,
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but not limited to all Its directors, officers, employees, and agents, shall poDtect any PHI as
required tiy HIPPA and 42 CFR Part 2, and not use, disclose, maintain, store, or transmit PHI in
any manner that wouW constitute a vidla^ d HtPAA or 42 CFR Part 2.

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI, as applicable:

t. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;

II. As required by law, pursuant to the terms set forth In paragraph c. and d.
below:

III. According lo'lhe HIPAA minimum necessary standard; and

IV. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of the Covered
Entity.

0. To the extent Business Associate Is permitted under the BAA or the Agreement to
disdose PHI to any third party or subcontractor, prior to making any disclosure, the
Busmess Assctda\e musV otAain, a business assodaVe aQTeamarA \ba VWrb party ot

'  subcontractor, that compiles with HIPAA and ensures that-all requirements and
,  restrictions placed on the Business Assodate as part of this BAA with the Covered Entity,

are Included In those business assodate agreements with the third party or suljcontractor.

1

d. The Business Associate shall not, disdose any PHI in response to a request or demand
for disclosure, such as by a subpoena or court order, on the basis that it is required by
law, without first notifying Covered Entity so that Covered Entity can determine how to tjest
protect the PHI. If Coyere^djEjitlly pbjects to the disclosure, theSusiness Associate agrees
to refrain from dlsclbsing the PHI and shall cooperate with the Covered Entity In any effort
the Covered Entity undertakes to contest the request for disclosure, subpoena, or other
legal process. If applicable relating to Part 2 records, the Business Associate shall resist
any efforts to access part 2 records in any judicial proceeding.

(3) Obiiaations and Acllvltie.s of Business Associate.

a. Business Associate shall implement appropriate safeguards to prevent unauthorized
use or disclosure of all PHI In accordance with HIPAA Privacy Rule and Security Rule
with regard to electronic PHI, and Part 2. as applicable.

b. The Business Associate shall Immediately notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer at
.  the following email address. DHHSPrivacvOfFicer@dhhs.nh.Qov after the Business ■

Associate has determined that any use or disclosure not provided for by rts contract,
including any known or suspected privacy or security incident or breach has occurred ■
potentially exposing\>r compromising the PHI. This includes inadvertent or accidental
uses or disclosures or breaches of unsecured protected health information.

c. In the event of a breach, the Business Associate shall comply with the terms of this
Business Associate Agreement, all applicable istate and federal laws and regulations
and any additional requirements of the Agreement.

t'xhibiti ContnctorlnitUls.

Hcolih Insurance Portability Act 3/2/202 2
Business Associate Agreement Oatc ______
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tl. ■ TVie Business Assoc^a\esW perlorm a nSkassessmerrt, based on the intormaVion
available at the time It t^ecomes aware of any known or suspected privacy or security
breach as described alx)ve and communicate the risk assessment to the Covered

. Entity. The risk assessment shall Include, but not be limited to:

I. The nature and extent of the protected health information Involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification;

II. The unauthorized person who accessed, used, disclosed, or received the
. protected health Information;

III. Whether the protected health Information was actually acquired or viewed; and

IV. How the risk of loss of confidentiality to the protected health
information has been mitigated.

e. The Business Associate shall complete a risk assessment report at the conclusion of Its
Incident or breach investigation and provide the findings In a written report to the
Covered Entity as soon as practicable after the conclusion of the Business Associate's
investlgallon.-

f. Business Associate shall make availal:)le all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and discbsure of PHI received from, or created or

• received by the Business A^ociate on behalf of Covered Entity to the US Secretary of
Health and Human Services for purposes of determining the Business Associate's and
the Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, and
Part 2, If applicable.

g. Business Associate shall require all of Its business associates that receive, use or have
access to PHI under the BAA or the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the
same restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein,
including the duty to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section (3)n, and an
agreement that the Covered Entity shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of

-  the Business Associate's business associate agreements with Business Associate's
' Intended business associates, \Nho will be receiving PHl pursuant to this BAA, vvith
rights of enforcement and indemnification from such business associates who shall be •
governed by standard provision #13 of this Agreement for the purpose of use and
disclosure of protected health Information.

h. Within ten (10) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity.
Business Associate shall make available during normal business hours at Its ofHces all
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use anddisclosure
of PHI tp the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the BAA and the Agreement.

i. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a wrilten request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall provide access-to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524. i ^

I
Exhibit I Contfactorlnitlals '

HfahhtnsurAnc* Portability Act 3/2/2022
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). Wrthin ten (10) business (Days ot receiving a written request trom Covered Entity tor an
amendment of PHI or a record about an Individual contained In a Designated Record
Set, the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

k. Business Associate shall document any disclosures of PHI and Information related to
any disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.528.

I. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disctosures of PHI. Business Associate shall make available
to Coveced Enttty such icvtocmatiorx as Covered Ervtrty ceey cequUe to (utttll its oWigetioos

■ to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.

m. In the event any individual requests access to, arnendment of. or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within five (5)
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if fonvarding the
individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the BusinessAssociate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

n. Within thirty (30) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specifiod by Covered Entity, ail PHI
received from or created or received by the Business Associate in connection with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-ups of such PHI in any form or
platform.

I. If return or destruction Is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has
been otherwise agreed to in the Agreement, Business Associate shall
continue to extend the protections of the Agreement, to such PHI and limit
further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those purposes that make the
return or destruction infeasible for as long as the Business Associate
maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that
the Business Associate destroy any or aii PHI, the Business Associate
shall certify tp Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

(4) Qblioations of Covered Entity
V

a. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or limitatlon(s) in its
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business AssoclateJe
use or disclosure of PHI. A current version of Covered Entity's Notice of Privacyj

Exhiliil I Conlraclorlnltlalt ^ ' "

HeiHh Insurance PofiabllliY Act 3/2/2022
Business Aisoctaie Agreement
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Practices and any changes thereto will be posted on the Covered Entity's website:
httos'^/www .dhhs .ah-Qov/oos/tuoaayDijibUcatloas J\tm .

b. Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes In, or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this BAA. pursuant to 45 CFRSection 164.506
OT A6 CFR Section 164.506.

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to In accordance with 45 CFR 164!522,
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
m.

(5) Termination of Agreement for Cause

tn to Para9Tapt\ 0 ot Geoerat Provisions (P-67) of the Agceemeat, the
Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered Entity's
knowledge of a material breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement. The Covered Entity rnay either immediately terminate the Agreement or
provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the alleged breach within a
timeframe specified by Covered Entity.

(6) Miscellaneous

a. Definitions. Laws, and Recuiatorv References. Ail laws and regulations used, herein,
shall refer to those laws and regulations as amended from time to time. A reference in
the /^reemeht, as amended to Include this Exhibit I, to a Section in HIPAA or 42 Part 2.
means the Section as In effect or as amended.

b. Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as is
necessary to amend the BAA, from time to time as Is necessary for Covered Entity
and/or'Business Associate to comply with the changes in the requirements of
HIPAA. 42 CFR Part 2 other applicable federal "and state law.

c. Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Inlerpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the BAA and the Agreement
shall be resolved to permit Covered Entity and the Business Associate to comply with
HIPAA and 42 CFR Part 2.

•0*

Exhibit I ConlractoMnlOals,
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-Segregation. If any term or condition of this BAA or the application thereof to any
person(s) or circumstance is heid.invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms or
conditions which can l>e given effect without the Invalid term or condltiorl; to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable.

Survival. Pvwteioris tn Vhte BAA Tegardmg the use and drac^osure ol PH\, Tetum or
destruction of PHI, extensions of the protections of the BAA In section (3) I, the
defense and Indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
General Provisions (P-37) of the Agreement, shall survive the termination of the BtA

WtTHtSS WHtRtOf, the parties hereto have duty executed this txhibit t.

Department of Health and Human Services

The'Statc
/*■— toy:

SlgnSfuV^'bTAEithorized Representative
Joseph T. caristi

Name of Authorized Representative

Chief Financial officer, nh Hospital
Title of Authorized Representative

3/2/2022

Date

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

■M^ftt.t!M}:Contractor

J. ktmMS, hp
Signature of Authorized Representative

Edward J. Merrens, MD

Name of Authorized Representative

Chief Clinical officer

Title of Authorized Representative
3/2/2022

Date

Exhibit I

Health imurancc PortabUtty Act
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Contractorlnltlals

fOate
3/2/2022
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CERTinCATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT IFFATAI COMPUANCE ■

The Federal Funding Accounlabllity and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of Individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1, 2010, to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
Initial award Is'below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000, the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Intonnatlon), the
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA leportng requirements:
1. Name of entity
2. Amount of award

3. Funding agency
A. NAICS code for contracts / CFDA program nurnber for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. Location of the entity
'8. Principle place of perfonmance
9. Unique Identirter of the entity (DUNS #)
10. Total compensation and names of the top five executives If:

10.1. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

10.2. Compensation information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant.reciplerlts must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or award amendrnent is made.

The Contractor identifted In Section 1.3 of the Genera) Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252,
and 2 CFR Part <170 (Reporting Subaward an'd Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as Identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the following CertiflGation:
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Aocountability and Transparency Act.

Contractor Name:

3/2/2022 •g/jttVAr/ J. /kp
oSte NaSe-^IWki^j. Memens. md

chief clinical officer

Extilbit J - Certincalion Regarding the Federal Furtding Contractor Inltlab
Accountabltity And Treneparency Act (FFATA)Compllance 3/2/2022

cu(t»^nDri3 PagelofZ Dale
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FORMA

As the Contractor idehtifled in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions. I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

QYLXERHDAQL4
1. The DUNS number for vour entity is:

receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual gross/evenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements: and (2) $25,000,000 or more In annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or
cooperative agreements?

NO YES

If the answer to #2 above Is NO, stop here

if the answer to #2 above is YES, please answer the following:

3. Does the public have access to Information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports Tiled under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above is YES, stop here

If the answer to #3 above is NO. please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name;

Amount:

Amount:

Amount;

Amount:

Amount:

CUJOHHS/110713
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A. Definitions

The following tenns may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. "Breach" means the loss of controU compromise^ unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term refemng to
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than authorized
purpose have access or potential access to personally identifiable information,
whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Information,
"Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of
Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations,

2. "Computer Security Incident" shall have the same meaning "Computer Security
Incident" in section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standard.s and Technology, U.S. Dq)artmcni
of Commerce.

3. "Confidential Infonnation," "Confidenliai Data " or "Data" (as defined in Exhibit K),
means all confidential information disclosed by one party to the other such as all
medical, health, financial, public assistance benefits and personal information
including without limitation, Substance Abuse Treatment Records, Case Records,
Protected Health Infonnation and Personally identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and all information owned or managed by
the State of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted services
- of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is hot limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI), Personal Information (PI), Personal Financial Information
(PFl), Federal Tax Information (FTl), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card
Industr>' (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential infonnation.

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g., contractor's employee, business
associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives DHHS data or
deriyative.data in accordance with the lenns of this Contract.

5. "HIPAA" means the Health Insiuance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 ahd
the regulations promulgated thereunder. . .

6. "Incident" means an act that potentially violates a security policy, which includes
successful attempts) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted

Aprt. 2020

disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a system for the proceswiigH>r
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Storage of data; and changes to system hardware, firmware, or software
characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or conscnL Incidents
include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss or misplacement of
hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic documents or mai l.

7. "O^n Wireless Network" means any network or segrnent of a network that is
not designated by the State of New Hampshire's Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open network and not
adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFI, PHI or
confidential DHHS data.

8. "Personal Information" (or "PI") means information which can be used to distinguish
or trace an individuars identity, such a.«; their name, social security number, personal
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:19i^biometric records, etc.,
alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is
linked or linkable to n specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's
maiden name, etc.

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable
Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the
United States Departmeni of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or "PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of "Protected Health infoimation" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R.
§ 160.103.

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments
thereto.

. 12. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" moans Protected Health Information that is

not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed
oi- endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American
National Standards Institute.

h ^SPdNSlBILlTIES OF DHHS AND i lWi CONTUACI OR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

1. The Contractor must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential InforoMrtien
I

Apfa.2020 Exhibit K nnntraetoflfriliala ^
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except as required or permitted under this Contract or required by law. Further,
Contractor, includ.ing but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and
agents, must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI in any manner that would
constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis thai U Is required by law, In response to a subpoena,
etc., without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or
object to the disclosure.

3. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

II. methods OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Application Encryption. If Contractor is transmitting DHHS Data containing
Confidchtial Data between applications, the Contractor attests the applications have
been evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and that said
application's encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet.

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. Conirncior may not use computer disks or
portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of iransmittirig DHHS Data.

3. Encrypted Email. Conuactor may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email is encrypted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of persons
authorized to receive such information.

4. Encrypted Web Site. If Contractor is employing the Web to transmit Confidentiai
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) must.be used and the web site must be secure.
SSL encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

5. File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. Contractor may not use tilc
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Confidential
Data.

6. Ground Mail Service. Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via certified
ground mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If Contractor is employing portable devices to transmit
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. Contractor may not transmit Confidential Data via an open
wireless aictwork. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) when
remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

9. Remote User Communication. If Contractor is ciiiploying remote communicalioiUo
I ej/wt,
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acce^ or transmit Confidential Data, a secure method of transmission or remote
access, which complies with the terms and conditions of Exhibit K, must be used.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP), also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If
Contractor is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data, End User will

structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of
information. SFTP folders and sub-folders us^ for transmitting Confidential Data will
be coded for 24-hour auto-delclion cycle (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24
hours).

11. Wireless Devices. IfConiractor is transmitting Confidential Data via wifeless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.

III. RETENTION AND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RFXORDS

The Contractor will only retain DHHS Data and any derivative of the data for the duration of
this Contract. After such time, the Contractor will hove thirty (30) days'to destroy the data
and any derivative in whatever form it may exist, unless, otherwise required by law or, if it is
infcasiblc to return or destroy DHHS Data, protections arc extended to such information, in
accordance with the termination provisions in this Section. To this end, the parties must:

V  . • -

A. Retention

1. The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the services rendered under tliis Contract outside of the United

States. This physical location requirement shall also apply in the implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. The Contractor agrees to cnsurc'propcr security monitoring capabilities are in place
to detect potential security events that can impact Stale ofNH systems and/or
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems accessed or
utilized for purposes of carrying out this conU-act.

3. The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for its End Users
in support of protecting DHHS Confidential information.

4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data
in a secure location and identified in seclion IV. A.2

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FcdRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All .scrvcre and devices must.have
currenlly-supported and hardened operating systems, current, updated, and >—a*

[
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maintained anti-malwarc (e.g. anti-viral, anti-hacker, anti-spam, anti-spywarc)
utilities. The environment, as a whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and
firewall protection.

6. The Contractor agree.s to and ensures Its complete cooperation with the iState's
Chief Information Ofllcer in the detection of any security vulnerability of the
hosting infrastructure.

B. Disposition

If the Contractor maintains any Confidential Information on its systems (or its sub
contractor systems) and it has not done so previously, the Contractor will implement
polici^ and procedures to ensure that any storage media on which such data maybe
recorded will be rendo'cd unreadable and that the data wilt be un-rccoverable when

the storage media is disposed of. Upon request, the Contractor will provide the
Department with copies of these policies and with written documentation
demonstrating compliance with the policies. The written documentation will include
all details necessary to demonstrate data contained In the storage media has been
rendered unreadable and un-rccoverable. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention,requirements may be jointly evaluated by the
State and Contractor prior to destruction.

1. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a
secure method such as shredding.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Conlractof agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data
by moans of data erasure, also.known as secure data wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any
. derivative data or files, as follows:

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department
confidcrilial information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery

. of contracted services.

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department
confidential information throughout the information lifecycle, where applicable, (from
creation, transformation, use, storage and .secure destruction) regardless of the media

— -
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used to store the data (i.e., lope, disk, paper, etc.).

3. The Comraclor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential information
where applicable.

4. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will ensure End-
User will maintain an internal process or processes that dcfmcs specific security
expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum
match those for the Contractor, including breach notification requirements.

5. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies and
procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be completed
and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to system access
being authorized.

6. If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103, the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
(BAA) with the Department arid is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

7. The Contractor will not store any State of New Hampshire or Department data
offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless prior express written
consent is obtained from the Infomiation Security Office leadership member within
the Department.

8. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any computer security incident,
incident, or breach Coniractor shall make efforts to investigate the causes of the
breach,' promptly take measures to prevent future breach and minimize any damage or
loss resulting from the breach. The Slate shall recover from the Contractor all costs of
response and recovery from the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring
services, mailing costs and costs associated with website and telephone call center
services necessary due to the breach.

9. Contractor must, comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the
privacy and security ofConfidcntiai Information, and must in all other respects
maintain the privacy and security of Pi and PH I at a level and scope that is not loss
than the level and scope of, HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45 C.F.R. Parts 160
and 164) and 42 C.F.R. Port 2 that govern protections for individually identifiiab(e«

&
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health information and as applicable under State law.

10. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of lltc Confitleiilial Data and to
prevent unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and
scope of security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the State of New Hampshire, Department of Information Technology.
Refer to Vendor Resourccs/PrtKuremehi at hltps://www.nh.gov/doil/vendor/indcx.htm
for the Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

11. Contractor agrees to maintain o documented breach notification and incident response
process. The Contractor must notify the DHHS Security Office and the Program
Contact via the email addresses provided in Section VI of this Exhibit, immediately
upon the Contractor determining that a breach or security incident has occurred and
that DHHS confidential Information/data may have been exposed or compromised.
This includes a confidential information breach, computer security incident, or .
suspected breach which affects or includes any Stale of New Hampshire systems that
cohnect to the Stale of New Hampshire network.

12. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this
Contract to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to perform
their ofTicial duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

13. The Contractor is responsible for End User oversight and compliajice with the
terms and conditions of the contract and Exhibit K.

DHHS reserves the right to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this
Contract, incliiding the privacy-and security requirements provided in herein, HIPAA,
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such lime the Confidential Data
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSSREPORTING
\

The Contractor must immediately notify the State's Privacy Officer. Infonnaiion
Security Office and Program Manager of any Security Incidents and Breaches as
specified in Section IV, paragraph 11 above.

The Connector must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with DHHS's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in accordance with- the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules. In ad^ijyi

{
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to, and notwithstanding, Contractor's compliance with all applicable obligations and
procedures, Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify Incidents;

2. Determine if personally identifiable infonnaiion is involved in Incidents;

3: Report suspected or confinncd Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. Identify and convene a core response group to detennine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and, if so, identify appropriate
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from among different
options, and be^r costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI must be addressed and reported, as
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS contact for Data Management or Data Exchange issues:
DHHSlnformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

B. DHHS contacts for Privacy issues:
DHHSPrivacyOfficei@dhhs.nh.gov

C. DHH S contact for Information Security issues:
DHHSInformationSccuriiyOfficc@dhhs.nh.gov

D. DHHS coniact for Breach notifications:

DHHSInformationSecuriiyOrficc@dhlis.nh.gov

DHHSPrivacvQfTiccr@dhhs.hh.gov
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